STARWOOD REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
SUPPLEMENT NO. 2 DATED APRIL 2, 2018
TO THE PROSPECTUS DATED DECEMBER 27, 2017
This document supplements, and should be read in conjunction with, our prospectus dated December 27,
2017 as well as Supplement No. 1 dated January 19, 2018. Terms used and not otherwise defined in this
Supplement No. 2 shall have the same meanings as set forth in our prospectus, as supplemented. The purpose of
this Supplement No. 2 is to disclose:
•

an update to the “Experts” section of our prospectus; and

•

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017.
Experts

The disclosure appearing in the “Experts” section of our prospectus is supplemented with the following:
The consolidated financial statements included in this Prospectus have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP,
an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing herein. Such consolidated
financial statements are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in
accounting and auditing.
Annual Report on Form 10-K
The prospectus is hereby supplemented with the Annual Report on Form 10-K, excluding exhibits, for the year
ended December 31, 2017, that was filed with the SEC on March 30, 2018, a copy of which is attached to this
Supplement No. 2 as Appendix A.
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Yes ‘
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PART I.
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include statements about our business, including, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategies and objectives. Forward-looking statements can generally be
identified by our use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “believe,” “continue” or other similar words. These statements include our plans and objectives for
future operations, including plans and objectives relating to future growth and availability of funds, and are based
on current expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to these statements
involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and
future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to accurately predict and many of which are
beyond our control.
Although we believe the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements, and the forward-looking
statements themselves, are reasonable, any of the assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no
assurance that these forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate and our actual results, performance and
achievements may be materially different from that expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. In
light of the significant uncertainties inherent in these forward looking statements, the inclusion of this
information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans,
which we consider to be reasonable, will be achieved.
You should carefully review Item 1A —“Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
discussion of the risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to our business, operating results, prospects
and financial condition. Except as otherwise required by federal securities laws, we do not undertake to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
References herein to “Starwood Real Estate Income Trust,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to Starwood
Real Estate Income Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and its subsidiaries unless the context specifically
requires otherwise.
General Description of Business and Operations
Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. was formed on June 22, 2017 as a Maryland corporation. We are an
externally advised, perpetual-life REIT and intend to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. We were formed to invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented commercial real
estate and debt secured by commercial real estate. Our portfolio principally will be comprised of properties, and
debt secured by properties, located in the United States, but may also be diversified on a global basis through
investments in properties and debt secured by properties outside of the United States, with a focus on Europe.
The Company is the sole general partner of Starwood REIT Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). Starwood REIT Special Limited Partner, L.L.C. (the “Special Limited
Partner”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Starwood Capital Group Holdings, L.P. (the “Sponsor” or “Starwood
Capital”), owns a special limited partner interest in the Operating Partnership. We plan to own all or substantially
all of our assets through the Operating Partnership, which as of December 31, 2017, had not commenced its
principal operations. The Company and the Operating Partnership are externally managed by our advisor,
Starwood REIT Advisors, L.L.C. (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of the Sponsor.
Our board of directors will at all times have oversight and policy-making authority over us, including
responsibility for governance, financial controls, compliance and disclosure with respect to the Operating
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Partnership. Pursuant to an advisory agreement among the Advisor, the Operating Partnership and us (the
“Advisory Agreement”), however, we have delegated to the Advisor the authority to source, evaluate and
monitor our investment opportunities and make decisions related to the acquisition, management, financing and
disposition of our assets, in accordance with our investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations,
subject to oversight by our board of directors.
As of December 31, 2017, we had neither engaged in any principal operations nor generated any revenues. Our
entire activity since inception through December 31, 2017 was to prepare for our proposed fundraising through
our initial public offering of our common stock. The Company has registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) an offering of up to $5.0 billion in shares of common stock (in any combination of
purchases of Class T, Class S, Class D and Class I shares of our common stock), consisting of up to $4.0 billion
in shares in our primary offering and up to $1.0 billion in shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan
(the “Offering”). The share classes have different upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and ongoing
stockholder servicing fees.
After we have received purchase orders for at least $150 million (including purchases by Starwood Capital, its
affiliates and our directors and officers), in any combination of purchases of Class T, Class S, Class D and Class I
shares, and our board of directors has authorized the release of such funds to us from escrow, we intend to
contribute the net proceeds from the Offering which are not used or retained to pay the fees and expenses
attributable to our operations to the Operating Partnership in respect of a corresponding number of Class T,
Class S, Class D and Class I units of limited partnership interest in our Operating Partnership. The Operating
Partnership will use the net proceeds received from us to make investments in accordance with our investment
strategy and policies.
As of December 31, 2017, we had not entered into any arrangements to acquire any properties, real estate-related
debt or real estate related securities. The number and type of properties, real estate-related debt or real estaterelated securities that we acquire will depend upon real estate market conditions, the amount of proceeds we raise
in the Offering, any applicable investment priorities of Other Starwood Accounts and other circumstances
existing at the time we are acquiring such assets. (“Other Starwood Accounts” refers to investment funds, REITs,
vehicles, accounts, products and other similar arrangements sponsored, advised or managed by Starwood Capital,
whether currently in existence or subsequently established (in each case, including any related successor funds,
alternative vehicles, supplemental capital vehicles, surge funds, over-flow funds, co-investment vehicles and
other entities formed in connection with Starwood Capital or its affiliates side-by-side or additional general
partner investments with respect thereto).)
Investment Objectives
Our investment objectives are to invest in assets that will enable us to:
•

provide current income in the form of regular, stable cash distributions to achieve an attractive
distribution yield;

•

preserve and protect invested capital;

•

realize appreciation in net asset value (“NAV”) from proactive investment management and asset
management; and

•

provide an investment alternative for stockholders seeking to allocate a portion of their long-term
investment portfolios to commercial real estate with lower volatility than public real estate companies.

Review of our Policies
Our independent directors have reviewed our policies and determined that they are in the best interests of our
stockholders. Set forth below is a discussion of the basis for such determination.
4

Investment Strategy
Our investment strategy seeks to capitalize on Starwood Capital’s scale and the real-time information provided
by its real estate holdings to identify and acquire our target investments at attractive pricing. We also seek to
benefit from Starwood Capital’s reputation and ability to transact in scale with speed and certainty, and its longstanding and extensive relationships in the real estate industry. Founded in 1991, Starwood Capital is generally
regarded as one of the world’s leading private real estate investment firms, with $56 billion in assets under
management as of September 30, 2017. It has sponsored 15 private opportunistic real estate funds, 16
co-investment entities and eight public companies since its inception. Our objective is to bring Starwood
Capital’s leading real estate investment platform with an institutional fee structure to the non-listed REIT
industry.
Our investment strategy is primarily to acquire stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate and debt
secured by commercial real estate. Our portfolio principally will be comprised of properties, and debt secured by
properties, located in the United States but may also be diversified on a global basis through investments in
properties and debt secured by properties, outside of the United States, with a focus on Europe. To a lesser
extent, and subject to the investment limitations described herein, we also may invest in real estate-related
securities to provide a source of liquidity for our share repurchase plan, cash management and other purposes.
Our investment strategy seeks to capitalize on Starwood Capital’s scale and the real-time information provided
by its real estate holdings to identify and acquire our target investments at attractive pricing. We also seek to
benefit from Starwood Capital’s reputation and ability to transact in scale with speed and certainty, and its longstanding and extensive relationships in the real estate industry.
We believe that our structure as a perpetual-life REIT will allow us to acquire and manage our investment
portfolio in a more active and flexible manner. We do not have a pre-determined operational period or the need
to provide a “liquidity” event, potentially in an unfavorable market, at the end of that period.
Investments in Properties and Debt Secured by Properties
To execute our investment strategy, we intend to invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented commercial real
estate and debt secured by commercial real estate. Our portfolio principally will be comprised of properties, and
debt secured by properties, located in the United States but may also be diversified on a global basis through
investments in properties and debt secured by properties, outside of the United States, with a focus on Europe.
These may include multifamily, office, hotel, industrial and retail assets, as well as other property types,
including, without limitation, medical office, student housing, senior living, data centers, manufactured housing
and storage properties. We may also acquire assets that require some amount of capital investment in order to be
renovated or repositioned. We generally will limit investment in new developments on a standalone basis, but we
may consider development that is ancillary to an overall investment.
We do not intend to designate specific sector allocations for the portfolio; rather we intend to invest in markets or
asset classes where we see the best opportunities that support our investment objectives.
Investments in Real Estate-Related Securities
Our real estate-related securities investments will focus on the common and preferred stock of publicly traded
REITs and other real estate companies and may include CMBS. Although not anticipated to be a meaningful
component of our investment strategy, we have the ability to invest in securities that are publicly traded and are,
therefore, subject to the risks inherent in investing in public securities.
Our real estate-related securities strategy will help maintain liquidity to satisfy any stock repurchases we choose
to make in any particular month and manage cash before investing subscription proceeds into properties and real
estate-related debt while also seeking attractive investment return.
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Borrowing Policies
We intend to use financial leverage to provide additional funds to support our investment activities. This allows
us to make more investments than would otherwise be possible, resulting in a broader portfolio. Subject to the
limitation on indebtedness for money borrowed in our charter described below, our target leverage ratio after our
ramp-up period is in the range of 50% to 65% of our gross real estate assets (measured using the greater of fair
market value and cost of gross real estate assets, including equity in our real estate-related debt and real estaterelated securities portfolios), inclusive of property-level and entity-level debt net of cash, but excluding debt on
our real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities portfolios. Indebtedness incurred (i) in connection
with funding a deposit in advance of the closing of an investment or (ii) as other working capital advances, will
not be included as part of the calculation above. Furthermore, the refinancing of any amount of existing
indebtedness will not be deemed to constitute incurrence of new indebtedness so long as no additional amount of
net indebtedness is incurred in connection therewith (excluding the amount of transaction expenses associated
with such refinancing).
Our real estate-related securities portfolio may have embedded leverage, including through the use of reverse
repurchase agreements and derivatives, including, but not limited to, total return swaps, securities lending
arrangements and credit default swaps. During our ramp-up period, as well as during times of increased
investment and capital market activity, but subject to the limitation on indebtedness for money borrowed in our
charter described below, we may employ greater leverage in order to quickly build a broader portfolio of assets.
We may leverage our portfolio by assuming or incurring secured or unsecured property-level or entity-level debt.
Under our charter, we have a limitation that precludes us from borrowing in excess of 300% of our net assets,
which approximates borrowing 75% of the cost of our investments (unless a majority of our independent
directors approves any borrowing in excess of the limit and we disclose the justification for doing so to our
stockholders), but such restriction does not restrict the amount of indebtedness we may incur with respect to any
single investment.
Our Taxation as a REIT
We intend to elect and qualify to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”) commencing with our taxable year ending December 31 of the year in which we break escrow in the
Offering. If the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to federal
corporate income tax provided that, among other things, it distributes 90% of its REIT taxable income to its
stockholders. REITs are subject to a number of other organizational and operational requirements. Even if the
Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on its income
and property, and federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.
Environmental Matters
We will be subject to various environmental laws of federal, state and local governments when we become an
owner of real estate. As of December 31, 2017, we did not own any real property.
Competition
We face competition from various entities for investment opportunities in properties, including other REITs,
pension funds, insurance companies, investment funds and companies, partnerships and developers. In addition
to third-party competitors, other programs sponsored by the Advisor and its affiliates, particularly those with
investment strategies that overlap with ours, may seek investment opportunities under Starwood Capital’s
prevailing policies and procedures. Many of these entities may have greater access to capital to acquire properties
than we have.
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Employees
We have no employees. Our operations are conducted by the Advisor.
Conflicts of Interest
We are subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relationship with Starwood Capital, including the
Advisor and its affiliates. See Item 1A —“Risk Factors — Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest.”
Available Information
Stockholders may obtain copies of our filings with the SEC, free of charge from the website maintained by the
SEC at www.sec.gov or from our website at www.starwoodnav.reit. Our SEC filings are available to be read or
copied at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please
call the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference room.
We are providing the address to our website solely for the information of investors. The information on our
website is not a part of, nor is it incorporated by reference into this report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should specifically consider the following material risks in addition to the other information contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The occurrence of any of the following risks might have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition. The risks and uncertainties discussed below are not the only ones
we face, but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are most significant to our business,
operating results, financial condition, prospects and forward-looking statements.
Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure
We have no operating history and there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully achieve our
investment objectives.
We are a newly formed entity with no operating history and may not be able to achieve our investment
objectives. As of December 31, 2017, we have not made any investments in real estate or otherwise and do not
own any properties or have any operations or financing sources. There is no assurance that the past experiences
of affiliates of the Advisor will be sufficient to allow us to successfully achieve our investment objectives. As a
result, an investment in our shares of common stock may entail more risk than the shares of common stock of a
REIT with a substantial operating history.
We have not made any investments to date and our stockholders do not have the opportunity to evaluate our
future investments before we make them, which makes an investment in our common stock more speculative.
To date, we have not made any investments and are not able to provide any information relating to the merits of
any specific properties or real estate-related securities that we may acquire, except for investments that may be
described in the prospectus related to the Offering or its supplements or in other filings with the SEC. We will
seek to invest substantially all of the net offering proceeds from the Offering, after the payment of fees and
expenses, in the acquisition of or investment in interests in properties, real estate-related debt and real estaterelated securities. However, because investors are unable to evaluate the economic merit of our future
investments before we make them, investors will have to rely entirely on the ability of the Advisor to select
suitable and successful investment opportunities. Furthermore, the Advisor has broad discretion in selecting the
types of properties we will invest in and the tenants of those properties, and investors will not have the
opportunity to evaluate potential investments. These factors increase the risk that an investment in our common
stock may not generate returns comparable to other real estate investment alternatives.
We are dependent on Starwood Capital and its affiliates, including the Advisor, and their key personnel who
provide services to us through the advisory agreement, and we may not find a suitable replacement for the
Advisor if the advisory agreement is terminated, or for these key personnel if they leave Starwood Capital or
otherwise become unavailable to us.
We have no separate facilities and are completely reliant on the Advisor. Our officers, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary are executive officers of Starwood Capital. The Advisor
has significant discretion as to the implementation of our investment and operating policies and strategies.
Accordingly, we believe that our success will depend to a significant extent upon the efforts, experience,
diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the officers and key personnel of the Advisor. The officers
and key personnel of the Advisor will evaluate, negotiate, close and monitor our investments; therefore, our
success will depend on their continued service. The departure of any of the officers or key personnel of the
Advisor could have a material adverse effect on our performance.
The Advisor is not obligated to dedicate any specific personnel exclusively to us. In addition, none of our officers
or the officers of the Advisor are obligated to dedicate any specific portion of their time to our business. Each of
them has significant responsibilities for the Other Starwood Accounts. As a result, these individuals may not
always be able to devote sufficient time to the management of our business. Further, when there are turbulent
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conditions in the real estate markets or distress in the credit markets, the attention of the Advisor’s personnel and
our executive officers and the resources of Starwood Capital will also be required by the Other Starwood
Accounts. In such situations, we may not receive the level of support and assistance that we may receive if we
were internally managed.
In addition, we offer no assurance that Starwood REIT Advisors, L.L.C. will remain the Advisor or that we will
continue to have access to Starwood Capital’s officers and key personnel. In particular, the loss of the services of
Mr. Barry S. Sternlicht, our Sponsor’s founder, could adversely affect our performance. The initial term of the
advisory agreement among the Advisor, our Operating Partnership and us only extends for one year from
December 27, 2017, and is expected to be renewed annually thereafter for additional one-year terms. If the
advisory agreement is terminated and no suitable replacement is found, we may not be able to execute our
business plan.
Finally, there is no guarantee (i) that the Advisor will succeed in implementing our investment objectives or
strategy or in identifying investments that are in accordance with Starwood Capital’s investment philosophy or
(ii) that historical trends of prior programs sponsored by Starwood Capital will continue during the life of our
operations.
The Advisor manages our portfolio pursuant to very broad investment guidelines and generally is not required
to seek the approval of our board of directors for each investment, financing or asset allocation decision made
by it, which may result in our making riskier investments and which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
Our board of directors approved very broad investment guidelines that delegate to the Advisor the authority to
execute acquisitions and dispositions of real estate properties, real estate-related debt and real estate-related
securities on our behalf, in each case so long as such investments are consistent with the investment guidelines
and our charter. There can be no assurance that the Advisor will be successful in applying any strategy or
discretionary approach to our investment activities. Our board of directors will review our investment guidelines
on an annual basis (or more often as it deems appropriate) and our investment portfolio periodically. The prior
approval of our board of directors or a committee of independent directors will be required only as set forth in
our charter (including for transactions with affiliates of the Advisor) or for the acquisition or disposition of assets
that are not in accordance with our investment guidelines. In addition, in conducting periodic reviews, our
directors will rely primarily on information provided to them by the Advisor. Furthermore, transactions entered
into on our behalf by the Advisor may be costly, difficult or impossible to unwind when they are subsequently
reviewed by our board of directors.
There is no public trading market for shares of our common stock; therefore, stockholders’ ability to dispose
of their shares will likely be limited to repurchase by us. If a stockholder sells such shares to us, such
stockholder may receive less than the price paid.
There is no current public trading market for shares of our common stock, and we do not expect that such a
market will ever develop. Therefore, repurchase of shares by us will likely be the only way for stockholders to
dispose of their shares. We will repurchase shares at a price equal to the transaction price of the class of shares
being repurchased on the date of repurchase (which will generally be equal to our prior month’s NAV per share),
and not based on the price at which you initially purchased your shares. Subject to limited exceptions, shares
repurchased within one year of the date of issuance will be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price. As a
result, stockholders may receive less than the price they paid for their shares when they sell them to us pursuant
to our share repurchase plan. See Item 5, “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Share Repurchase Program.”
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Repurchases through our share repurchase plan are limited. We may choose to repurchase fewer shares than
have been requested to be repurchased in our discretion at any time, and the amount of shares we may
repurchase is subject to caps. Further, our board of directors may modify, suspend or terminate our share
repurchase plan if it deems such action to be in our best interest and the best interest of our stockholders.
We may choose to repurchase fewer shares than have been requested in any particular month to be repurchased
under our share repurchase plan, or none at all, in our discretion at any time. We may repurchase fewer shares
than have been requested to be repurchased due to lack of readily available funds because of adverse market
conditions beyond our control, the need to maintain liquidity for our operations or because we have determined
that investing in real property or other illiquid investments is a better use of our capital than repurchasing our
shares. In addition, the total amount of shares that we will repurchase is limited, in any calendar month, to shares
whose aggregate value (based on the repurchase price per share on the date of the repurchase) is no more than
2% of our aggregate NAV as of the last day of the previous calendar month and, in any calendar quarter, to
shares whose aggregate value is no more than 5% of our aggregate NAV as of the last day of the previous
calendar quarter. Further, our board of directors may modify, suspend or terminate our share repurchase plan if it
deems such action to be in our best interest and the best interest of our stockholders. If the full amount of all
shares of our common stock requested to be repurchased in any given month are not repurchased, funds will be
allocated pro rata based on the total number of shares of common stock being repurchased without regard to class
and subject to the volume limitation. All unsatisfied repurchase requests must be resubmitted after the start of the
next month or quarter, or upon the recommencement of the share repurchase plan, as applicable.
The vast majority of our assets will consist of properties which cannot generally be readily liquidated without
impacting our ability to realize full value upon their disposition. Therefore, we may not always have a sufficient
amount of cash to immediately satisfy repurchase requests. Should repurchase requests, in the business judgment
of our board of directors, place an undue burden on our liquidity, adversely affect our investment operations or
pose a risk of having a material adverse impact on non-repurchasing stockholders, then our board of directors
may modify or suspend our repurchase plan. Because our board of directors is not required to authorize the
recommencement of the share repurchase plan within any specified period of time, our board may effectively
terminate the plan by suspending it indefinitely. As a result, stockholders’ ability to have shares repurchased by
us may be limited and at times stockholders may not be able to liquidate their investment. See Item 5, “Market
for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities —
Share Repurchase Program.”
Economic events that may cause our stockholders to request that we repurchase their shares may materially
adversely affect our cash flow and our results of operations and financial condition.
Economic events affecting the U.S. economy, such as the general negative performance of the real estate sector,
could cause our stockholders to seek to sell their shares to us pursuant to our share repurchase plan at a time
when such events are adversely affecting the performance of our assets. Even if we decide to satisfy all resulting
repurchase requests, our cash flow could be materially adversely affected. In addition, if we determine to sell
assets to satisfy repurchase requests, we may not be able to realize the return on such assets that we may have
been able to achieve had we sold at a more favorable time, and our results of operations and financial condition,
including, without limitation, breadth of our portfolio by property type and location, could be materially
adversely affected.
The amount and source of distributions we may make to our stockholders is uncertain, and we may be unable
to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations to make distributions to our stockholders at any time in
the future.
We have not established a minimum distribution payment level, and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including the risk factors described in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Because we currently have no properties and have not identified any properties to
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acquire with the proceeds of the Offering, we may not generate sufficient income to make distributions to our
stockholders. Our board of directors will make determinations regarding distributions based upon, among other
factors, our financial performance, debt service obligations, debt covenants, REIT qualification and tax
requirements and capital expenditure requirements. Among the factors that could impair our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders are:
•

the limited size of our portfolio in the early stages of our development;

•

our inability to invest the proceeds from sales of our shares on a timely basis in income-producing
properties;

•

our inability to realize attractive risk-adjusted returns on our investments;

•

high levels of expenses or reduced revenues that reduce our cash flow or non-cash earnings; and

•

defaults in our investment portfolio or decreases in the value of our investments.

As a result, we may not be able to make distributions to our stockholders at any time in the future, and the level
of any distributions we do make to our stockholders may not increase or even be maintained over time, any of
which could materially and adversely affect the value of our shares.
We may pay distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations, including, without
limitation, the sale of assets, borrowings or offering proceeds, and we have no limits on the amounts we may
pay from such sources.
We may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fully fund distributions to stockholders, particularly
during the early stages of our operations. Therefore, particularly in the earlier part of the Offering, we may fund
distributions to our stockholders from sources other than cash flow from operations, including, without
limitation, the sale of assets, borrowings, return of capital or offering proceeds (including from sales from our
common stock or Operating Partnership units to the Special Limited Partner, an affiliate of Starwood Capital).
The extent to which we pay distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations will depend on
various factors, including the level of participation in our distribution reinvestment plan, the extent to which the
Advisor elects to receive its management fee in Class I shares or Class I units and the Special Limited Partner
elects to receive distributions on its performance participation interest in Class I units, how quickly we invest the
proceeds from this and any future offering and the performance of our investments, including our real estate
related debt and real estate-related securities portfolios. Funding distributions from the sales of assets,
borrowings, return of capital or proceeds of the Offering will result in us having less funds available to acquire
properties or other real estate-related investments. As a result, the return stockholders realize on their investments
may be reduced. Doing so may also negatively impact our ability to generate cash flows. Likewise, funding
distributions from the sale of additional securities will dilute stockholders’ interests in us on a percentage basis
and may impact the value of their investments especially if we sell these securities at prices less than the price
paid for such shares. We may be required to continue to fund our regular distributions from a combination of
some of these sources if our investments fail to perform, if expenses are greater than our revenues or due to
numerous other factors. We have not established a limit on the amount of our distributions that may be paid from
any of these sources.
To the extent we borrow funds to pay distributions, we would incur borrowing costs and these borrowings would
require a future repayment. The use of these sources for distributions and the ultimate repayment of any liabilities
incurred could adversely impact our ability to pay distributions in future periods, decrease our NAV, decrease the
amount of cash we have available for operations and new investments and adversely impact the value of
stockholders’ investments.
We may also defer operating expenses or pay expenses (including the fees of the Advisor or distributions to the
Special Limited Partner) with shares of our common stock or Operating Partnership units in order to preserve
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cash flow for the payment of distributions. The ultimate repayment of these deferred expenses could adversely
affect our operations and reduce the future return on stockholders’ investments. The payment of expenses in
shares of our common stock or with Operating Partnership units will dilute stockholders’ ownership interests in
our portfolio of assets. There is no guarantee any of our operating expenses will be deferred and the Advisor and
Special Limited Partner are under no obligation to receive fees or distributions in shares of our common stock or
Operating Partnership units and may elect to receive such amounts in cash.
Payments to the Advisor or the Special Limited Partner in respect of any common stock or Operating
Partnership units they elect to receive in lieu of fees or distributions will dilute future cash available for
distribution to our stockholders.
The Advisor or the Special Limited Partner may choose to receive our common shares or Operating Partnership
units in lieu of certain fees or distributions. The holders of all Operating Partnership units will be entitled to
receive cash from operations pro rata with the distributions being paid to us and such distributions to the holder
of the Operating Partnership units will reduce the cash available for distribution to us and to our stockholders.
Furthermore, under certain circumstances the Operating Partnership units held by the Advisor or the Special
Limited Partner are required to be repurchased, in cash at the holder’s election, and there may not be sufficient
cash to make such a repurchase payment; therefore, we may need to use cash from operations, borrowings,
offering proceeds or other sources to make the payment, which will reduce cash available for distribution to our
stockholders or for investment in our operations. Repurchases of our shares or Operating Partnership units from
the Advisor paid to the Advisor as a management fee are not subject to the monthly and quarterly volume
limitations or the Early Purchase Deduction, and such sales receive priority over other shares for which
repurchase is requested during such period. Repurchases of our shares or Operating Partnership units from the
Special Limited Partner distributed to the Special Limited Partner with respect to its performance participation
interest are not subject to the Early Purchase Deduction, but, in the case of shares, such repurchases are subject to
the monthly and quarterly volume limitations and do not receive priority over other shares for which repurchase
is requested during such period.
Purchases and repurchases of our common shares are not made based on the current NAV per share of our
common stock as of the date of purchase or repurchase.
Generally, our offering price per share and the price at which we make repurchases of our shares will equal the
NAV per share of the applicable class as of the last calendar day of the prior month, plus, in the case of our
offering price, applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees. The NAV per share as of the date
on which an investor makes a subscription request or repurchase request may be significantly different than the
offering price paid by such investor or the repurchase price received. In addition, we may sell and repurchase
shares at a price that we believe reflects the NAV per share of such stock more appropriately than the prior
month’s NAV per share, including by updating a previously disclosed offering price, in cases where we believe
there has been a material change (positive or negative) to our NAV per share since the end of the prior month. As
a result, the offering price and repurchase price will not equal our NAV per share as of the date of purchase or
repurchase.
Valuations and appraisals of our assets are estimates of fair value and may not necessarily correspond to
realizable value.
For the purposes of calculating our monthly NAV, our properties will generally initially be valued at cost, which
we expect to represent fair value at that time. Thereafter, valuations of properties will be determined based in part
on annual appraisals of each of our properties by independent third-party appraisal firms at least once per year in
accordance with valuation guidelines approved by our board of directors. Our independent valuation advisor will
prepare quarterly appraisals of approximately three-quarters of our real estate portfolio and review third-party
appraisals for the remaining quarter. For each month that is not a quarter-end, the Advisor will also conduct a
monthly valuation of our properties that will be reviewed by our independent valuation advisor and the
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independent valuation advisor will review and provide a confirmation of the reasonableness of the monthly
valuation. Likewise, our investments in real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities will initially be
valued at cost, and thereafter will be valued monthly at fair market value. Although monthly valuations of each
of our real properties will be reviewed and a confirmation of the reasonableness of the monthly valuation will be
provided by our independent valuation advisor, such valuations are based on asset and portfolio-level
information provided by the Advisor, including historical operating revenues and expenses of the properties,
lease agreements on the properties, revenues and expenses of the properties, information regarding recent or
planned capital expenditures and any other information relevant to valuing the real estate property, which
information will not be independently verified by our independent valuation advisor. In addition, our investments
in real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities, while a component of NAV, will be valued by the
Advisor, based on market quotations or at fair value, and will not be reviewed by our independent valuation
advisor or appraised.
Within the parameters of our valuation guidelines, the valuation methodologies used to value our properties will
involve subjective judgments and projections and may not be accurate. Valuation methodologies will also
involve assumptions and opinions about future events, which may or may not turn out to be correct. Valuations
and appraisals of our assets will be estimates of fair value. Ultimate realization of the value of an asset depends
to a great extent on economic, market and other conditions beyond our control and the control of the Advisor and
our independent valuation advisor. Further, valuations do not necessarily represent the price at which an asset
would sell, since market prices of assets can only be determined by negotiation between a willing buyer and
seller. As such, the carrying value of an asset may not reflect the price at which the asset could be sold in the
market, and the difference between carrying value and the ultimate sales price could be material. In addition,
accurate valuations are more difficult to obtain in times of low transaction volume because there are fewer
market transactions that can be considered in the context of the appraisal. There will be no retroactive adjustment
in the valuation of such assets, the offering price of our shares of common stock, the price we paid to repurchase
shares of our common stock or NAV-based fees we paid to the Advisor and Starwood Capital, L.L.C., the dealer
manager for the Offering (the “Dealer Manager”) to the extent such valuations prove to not accurately reflect the
realizable value of our assets. Because the price investors will pay for shares of our common stock in the
Offering, and the price at which shares may be repurchased by us pursuant to our share repurchase plan are
generally based on our prior month’s NAV per share, investors may pay more than realizable value or receive
less than realizable value for their investments.
Our NAV per share amounts may change materially if the appraised values of our properties materially
change from prior appraisals or the actual operating results for a particular month differ from what we
originally budgeted for that month.
We anticipate that the annual appraisals of our properties will be conducted on a rolling basis, such that
properties may be appraised at different times but each property would be appraised at least once per year. When
these appraisals are reflected in our NAV calculations, there may be a material change in our NAV per share
amounts for each class of our common stock from those previously reported. In addition, actual operating results
for a given month may differ from what we originally budgeted for that month, which may cause a material
increase or decrease in the NAV per share amounts. We will not retroactively adjust the NAV per share of each
class reported for the previous month. Therefore, because a new annual appraisal may differ materially from the
prior appraisal or the actual results from operations may be better or worse than what we previously budgeted for
a particular month, the adjustment to reflect the new appraisal or actual operating results may cause the NAV per
share for each class of our common stock to increase or decrease, and such increase or decrease will occur on the
day the adjustment is made.
It may be difficult to reflect, fully and accurately, material events that may impact our monthly NAV.
The Advisor’s determination of our monthly NAV per share will be based in part on appraisals of each of our
properties provided at least annually by independent third-party appraisal firms in individual appraisal reports
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reviewed by our independent valuation advisor in accordance with valuation guidelines approved by our board of
directors. As a result, our published NAV per share in any given month may not fully reflect any or all changes in
value that may have occurred since the most recent appraisal. The Advisor will review appraisal reports and
monitor our assets, and is responsible for notifying the independent valuation advisor of the occurrence of any
asset-specific or market-driven event it believes may cause a material valuation change in the real estate
valuation, but it may be difficult to reflect fully and accurately rapidly changing market conditions or material
events that may impact the value of our assets or liabilities between valuations, or to obtain quickly complete
information regarding any such events. For example, an unexpected termination or renewal of a material lease, a
material increase or decrease in vacancies or an unanticipated structural or environmental event at a property may
cause the value of a property to change materially, yet obtaining sufficient relevant information after the
occurrence has come to light or analyzing fully the financial impact of such an event may be difficult to do and
may require some time. As a result, the NAV per share may not reflect a material event until such time as
sufficient information is available and analyzed, and the financial impact is fully evaluated, such that our NAV
may be appropriately adjusted in accordance with our valuation guidelines. Depending on the circumstance, the
resulting potential disparity in our NAV may be in favor of either stockholders who repurchase their shares, or
stockholders who buy new shares, or existing stockholders.
NAV calculations are not governed by governmental or independent securities, financial or accounting rules
or standards.
The method for calculating our NAV, including the components used in calculating our NAV, is not prescribed
by rules of the SEC or any other regulatory agency. Further, there are no accounting rules or standards that
prescribe which components should be used in calculating NAV, and our NAV is not audited by our independent
registered public accounting firm. We calculate and publish NAV solely for purposes of establishing the price at
which we sell and repurchase shares of our common stock, and stockholders should not view our NAV as a
measure of our historical or future financial condition or performance. The components and methodology used in
calculating our NAV may differ from those used by other companies now or in the future.
In addition, our NAV calculations, to the extent that they incorporate valuations of our assets and liabilities, are
not prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, also known as GAAP.
These valuations, which are based on market values that assume a willing buyer and seller, may differ from
liquidation values that could be realized in the event that we were forced to sell assets.
If we are unable to raise substantial funds, we will be limited in the number and type of investments we make,
and the value of stockholders’ investments in us will be more dependent on the performance of any of the
specific assets we acquire.
The Offering is being conducted on a “best efforts” basis, meaning that the dealer manager for the Offering is
only required to use its best efforts to sell our shares and has no firm commitment or obligation to purchase any
shares. As a result, the amount of proceeds we raise in the Offering may be substantially less than the amount we
would need to achieve a broader portfolio of investments. If we are unable to raise substantially more than the
minimum offering amount for the Offering, we will make fewer investments, resulting in less breadth in terms of
the type, number, geography and size of investments that we make. In that case, the likelihood that any single
asset’s performance would adversely affect our profitability will increase. There is a greater risk that
stockholders will lose money in their investments if we have less breadth in our portfolio. Further, we will have
certain fixed operating expenses, including expenses of being a public reporting company, regardless of whether
we are able to raise substantial funds. Our inability to raise substantial funds would increase our fixed operating
expenses as a percentage of gross income, reducing our net income and limiting our ability to make distributions.
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Investors may wait up to one year before receiving their stock or a refund of their money if the minimum
offering is not achieved.
Until we raise the minimum offering of $150 million, investors will not receive their shares. If at least
$150 million in shares of common stock have not been sold within one year of the Offering’s initial
effectiveness, we will terminate the Offering. Even if we meet the minimum offering amount, our board of
directors may determine not to authorize the release of the escrowed funds if it believes that investment
opportunities available at the time are not suitable to allow us to acquire assets that meet our investment criteria.
Investors will not begin receiving distributions until at least one calendar quarter after the escrow period
concludes. If we have not broken escrow within one year from the date of the initial effectiveness of the Offering,
investors will have their money promptly refunded with interest. The interest rate on the funds delivered into
escrow may be less than the rate of return investors could have achieved from an alternative investment.
In the event we are able to quickly raise a substantial amount of capital, we may have difficulty investing it in
properties and debt investments.
If we are able to quickly raise capital during the Offering, we may have difficulty identifying and purchasing
suitable properties and debt investments on attractive terms. Therefore, there could be a delay between the time
we receive net proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock in the Offering and the time we invest the
net proceeds. This could cause a substantial delay in the time it takes for a stockholder’s investment to realize its
full potential return and could adversely affect our ability to pay regular distributions of cash flow from
operations to our stockholders. If we fail to timely invest the net proceeds of the Offering, our results of
operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
Our board of directors may, in the future, adopt certain measures under Maryland law without stockholder
approval that may have the effect of making it less likely that a stockholder would receive a “control
premium” for his or her shares.
Corporations organized under Maryland law with a class of registered securities and at least three independent
directors are permitted to elect to be subject, by a charter or bylaw provision or a board of directors resolution
and notwithstanding any contrary charter or bylaw provision, to any or all of five provisions:
•

staggering the board of directors into three classes;

•

requiring a two-thirds vote of stockholders to remove directors;

•

providing that only the board of directors can fix the size of the board;

•

providing that all vacancies on the board, regardless of how the vacancy was created, may be filled
only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors in office and for the remainder of
the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred; and

•

providing for a majority requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.

These provisions may discourage an extraordinary transaction, such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets, all of which might provide a premium price for stockholders’ shares. In our
charter, we have elected that vacancies on our board of directors be filled only by the remaining directors and for
the remainder of the full term of the directorship in which the vacancy occurred. Through other provisions in our
charter and bylaws, we vest in our board of directors the exclusive power to fix the number of directorships,
provided that the number is not less than three. We have not elected to be subject to any of the other provisions
described above, but our charter does not prohibit our board of directors from opting into any of these provisions
in the future.
Further, under the Maryland Business Combination Act, we may not engage in any merger or other business
combination with an “interested stockholder” (which is defined as (1) any person who beneficially owns, directly
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or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock and (2) an affiliate or associate of
ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner, directly
or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of our then outstanding stock) or any affiliate of that interested
stockholder for a period of five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder became an
interested stockholder. A person is not an interested stockholder if our board of directors approved in advance the
transaction by which he would otherwise have become an interested stockholder. In approving a transaction, our
board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with
any terms or conditions determined by our board of directors. After the five-year period ends, any merger or
other business combination with the interested stockholder or any affiliate of the interested stockholder must be
recommended by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•

80% of all votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of our voting stock; and

•

two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of our voting stock
other than those shares owned or held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate
the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested
stockholder unless, among other things, our stockholders receive a minimum payment for their
common stock equal to the highest price paid by the interested stockholder for its shares.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted
by our board of directors prior to the time the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Our
board of directors has adopted a resolution exempting any business combination involving us and any person,
including Starwood Capital, the Dealer Manager and the Advisor, from the provisions of this law, provided that
such business combination is first approved by our board of directors.
Our charter permits our board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms that may subordinate the rights of
the holders of our current common stock or discourage a third party from acquiring us.
Our board of directors is permitted, subject to certain restrictions set forth in our charter, to authorize the issuance
of shares of preferred stock without stockholder approval. Further, our board of directors may classify or
reclassify any unissued shares of common or preferred stock into other classes or series of stock and establish the
preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends and other
distributions, qualifications, and terms or conditions of redemption of the stock and may amend our charter from
time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series
that we have authority to issue without stockholder approval. Thus, our board of directors could authorize us to
issue shares of preferred stock with terms and conditions that could subordinate the rights of the holders of our
common stock or have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an
extraordinary transaction such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, that might
provide a premium price for holders of our common stock.
Maryland law limits, in some cases, the ability of a third party to vote shares acquired in a “control share
acquisition.”
The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired
in a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by stockholders by a vote of
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares of stock owned by the acquirer, by officers or by
employees who are directors of the corporation, are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. “Control
shares” are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in
respect of which the acquirer can exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a
revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within specified ranges
of voting power. Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of
having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of issued
and outstanding control shares. The control share acquisition statute does not apply: (1) to shares acquired in a
16

merger, consolidation or share exchange if the Maryland corporation is a party to the transaction; or (2) to
acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the Maryland corporation. Our bylaws contain a
provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any and all acquisitions of our stock by any person.
There can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time in the future.
Maryland law and our organizational documents limit our rights and the rights of our stockholders to recover
claims against our directors and officers, which could reduce stockholders’ and our recovery against them if
they cause us to incur losses.
Maryland law provides that a director will not have any liability as a director so long as he or she performs his or
her duties in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct. In addition, our charter generally limits the
personal liability of our directors and officers for monetary damages subject to the limitations of the North
American Securities Administrators Association’s Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts,
as revised and adopted on May 7, 2007 (the “NASAA REIT Guidelines”) and Maryland law. Maryland law and
our charter provide that no director or officer shall be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages
unless the director or officer (1) actually received an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or
(2) was actively and deliberately dishonest as established by a final judgment as material to the cause of action.
Moreover, our charter generally requires us to indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and officers for
losses they may incur by reason of their service in those capacities unless their act or omission was material to
the matter giving rise to the proceeding and was committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate
dishonesty, they actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or, in the case of
any criminal proceeding, they had reasonable cause to believe the act or omission was unlawful. Further, we have
entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our officers and directors. As a result,
stockholders and we may have more limited rights against our directors or officers than might otherwise exist
under common law, which could reduce stockholders’ and our recovery from these persons if they act in a
manner that causes us to incur losses. In addition, we are obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by these
persons in some cases. However, our charter provides that we may not indemnify our directors or officers, the
Advisor or any of our or the Advisor’s affiliates, for any liability or loss suffered by them or hold our directors or
officers, the Advisor and its affiliates harmless for any liability or loss suffered by us, unless they have
determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in our best interests, they
were acting on our behalf or performing services for us, the liability or loss was not the result of negligence or
misconduct by our non-independent directors, the Advisor or any of our or the Advisor’s affiliates, or gross
negligence or willful misconduct by our independent directors, and the indemnification or agreement to hold
harmless is recoverable only out of our net assets or the proceeds of insurance and not from the stockholders.
Maryland law and our organizational documents limit our stockholders’ ability to amend our charter or
dissolve us without the approval of our board of directors.
Although the NASAA REIT Guidelines indicate that stockholders are permitted to amend our charter or
terminate us without the necessity for concurrence by our board of directors, we are required to comply with the
Maryland General Corporation Law, which provides that any amendment to our charter or any dissolution of our
company must first be declared advisable by our board of directors. Therefore, our stockholders may vote to
authorize the amendment of our charter or the dissolution of our company, but only after such action has been
declared advisable by our board of directors. Accordingly, the only proposals to amend our charter or to dissolve
our company that will be presented to our stockholders will be those that have been declared advisable by our
board of directors and also require approval by our stockholders.
Stockholders’ interests in us will be diluted if we issue additional shares.
Holders of our common stock will not have preemptive rights to any shares we issue in the future. Our charter
authorizes us to issue up to 1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 1,000,000,000 shares are classified as
common stock, of which 250,000,000 shares are classified as Class T shares, 250,000,000 shares are classified as
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Class S shares, 250,000,000 shares are classified as Class D shares and 250,000,000 are classified as Class I
shares, and 100,000,000 shares are classified as preferred stock. In addition, our board of directors may amend
our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of capital stock
or the number of authorized shares of capital stock of any class or series without stockholder approval. Our board
of directors may elect, without stockholder approval, to: (1) sell additional shares in this or future public
offerings; (2) issue equity interests in private offerings; (3) issue shares upon the exercise of the options we may
grant to our independent directors or future employees; (4) issue shares to the Advisor, or its successors or
assigns, in payment of an outstanding obligation to pay fees for services rendered to us; or (5) issue shares to
sellers of properties we acquire in connection with an exchange of limited partnership interests of our Operating
Partnership. To the extent we issue additional shares, stockholders’ respective percentage ownership interests in
us will be diluted.
We are not required to comply with certain reporting requirements, including those relating to auditor’s
attestation reports on the effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial reporting, accounting
standards and disclosure about our executive compensation, that apply to other public companies.
The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, relax certain reporting requirements for emerging
growth companies, including certain requirements relating to accounting standards and compensation disclosure.
We are classified as an emerging growth company. For as long as we are an emerging growth company, which
may be up to five full fiscal years, unlike other public companies, we will not be required to (1) provide an
auditor’s attestation report on the effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant
to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (2) comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards
applicable to public companies until such standards are also applicable to private companies under
Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act, (3) comply with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the
auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the
financial statements of the issuer, (4) comply with any new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012
unless the SEC determines otherwise, (5) provide certain disclosure regarding executive compensation required
of larger public companies or (6) hold stockholder advisory votes on executive compensation.
Once we are no longer an emerging growth company, so long as our shares of common stock are not traded on a
securities exchange, we will be deemed to be a “non-accelerated filer” under the Exchange Act, and as a
non-accelerated filer, we will be exempt from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In addition, so long as we are externally managed by the Advisor and we
do not directly compensate our executive officers, or reimburse the Advisor or its affiliates for salaries, bonuses,
benefits and severance payments for any person who also serves as one of our executive officers or as an
executive officer of the Advisor, we do not pay any executive compensation, making the exemptions listed in
(5) and (6) above generally inapplicable.
We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we choose to rely on any of the
exemptions discussed above.
As noted above, under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting
standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until such time as those standards
apply to private companies. We have elected to opt out of this transition period, and will therefore comply with
new or revised accounting standards on the applicable dates on which the adoption of these standards is required
for non-emerging growth companies. This election is irrevocable.
Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest with limited partners in our Operating
Partnership whose interests may not be aligned with those of our stockholders.
Our directors and officers have duties to our corporation and our stockholders under Maryland law and our
charter in connection with their management of the corporation. At the same time, we, as general partner, have
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fiduciary duties under Delaware law to our Operating Partnership and to the limited partners in connection with
the management of our Operating Partnership. Our duties as general partner of our Operating Partnership and its
partners may come into conflict with the duties of our directors and officers to the corporation and our
stockholders. Under Delaware law, a general partner of a Delaware limited partnership owes its limited partners
the duties of good faith and fair dealing. Other duties, including fiduciary duties, may be modified or eliminated
in the partnership’s partnership agreement. The partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership provides
that, for so long as we own a controlling interest in our Operating Partnership, any conflict that cannot be
resolved in a manner not adverse to either our stockholders or the limited partners may be resolved in favor of
our stockholders.
Additionally, the partnership agreement expressly limits our liability by providing that we and our officers,
directors, agents and employees will not be liable or accountable to our Operating Partnership for losses
sustained, liabilities incurred or benefits not derived if we or our officers, directors, agents or employees acted in
good faith. In addition, our Operating Partnership is required to indemnify us and our officers, directors,
employees, agents and designees to the extent permitted by applicable law from and against any and all claims
arising from operations of our Operating Partnership, unless it is established that: (1) the act or omission was
material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and either was committed in bad faith or was the result of
active and deliberate dishonesty; (2) the indemnified party received an improper personal benefit in money,
property or services; or (3) in the case of a criminal proceeding, the indemnified person had reasonable cause to
believe that the act or omission was unlawful.
The provisions of Delaware law that allow the fiduciary duties of a general partner to be modified by a
partnership agreement have not been tested in a court of law, and we have not obtained an opinion of counsel
covering the provisions set forth in the partnership agreement that purport to waive or restrict our fiduciary
duties.
Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are required to register as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act.
We intend to conduct our operations so that neither we, nor our Operating Partnership nor the subsidiaries of our
Operating Partnership are investment companies under the Investment Company Act. However, there can be no
assurance that we and our subsidiaries will be able to successfully avoid operating as an investment company.
Under Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the 1940 Act, a company is deemed to be an investment company if it is, or holds
itself out as being, engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting
or trading in securities. Under Section 3(a)(1)(C) of the 1940 Act, a company is deemed to be an investment
company if it is engaged, or proposes to engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or
trading in securities and owns or proposes to acquire “investment securities” having a value exceeding 40% of
the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.
“Investment securities” exclude (A) U.S. government securities, (B) securities issued by employees’ securities
companies and (C) securities issued by majority-owned subsidiaries which (i) are not investment companies and
(ii) are not relying on the exception from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7)
of the 1940 Act.
With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(A), we do not intend to engage primarily or hold ourself out as being engaged
primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Rather, we will be primarily engaged in
the non-investment company businesses of our subsidiaries. With respect to Section 3(a)(1)(C), we expect that
most of the entities through which we own assets will be wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries that are not
themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exceptions from the definition of investment
company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act and, thus, we do not expect to own a
significant amount of investment securities.
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Through our subsidiaries, we plan to acquire, invest in and manage instruments that could be deemed to be
securities for purposes of the 1940 Act. Accordingly, it is possible that more than 40% of the assets of our
subsidiaries will be investments that will be deemed to be investment securities for 1940 Act purposes. However,
in such a circumstance, in reliance on Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act, we do not intend to register any of our
subsidiaries as an investment company under the 1940 Act. Section 3(c)(5)(C) is available for entities “primarily
engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real
estate.” This exemption generally requires that at least 55% of each such subsidiary’s portfolio must be
comprised of qualifying assets and at least 80% of each of their portfolios must be comprised of qualifying assets
and real estate-related assets under the 1940 Act (and no more than 20% comprised of non-qualifying or non-real
estate-related assets). As a result of the foregoing restrictions, we will be limited in our ability to make certain
investments.
We expect that substantially all of the assets of our subsidiaries will comply with the requirements of
Section 3(c)(5)(C), as such requirements have been interpreted by the SEC staff. Although we intend to monitor
our portfolio periodically and prior to each investment acquisition and disposition, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to maintain this exemption from registration. Existing SEC no-action positions were issued in
accordance with factual situations that may be substantially different from the factual situations we may face, and
a number of these no-action positions were issued more than 10 years ago. No assurance can be given that the
SEC will concur with our classification of the assets of our subsidiaries. Future revisions to the 1940 Act or
further guidance from the SEC staff may cause us to lose our ability to rely on Section 3(c)(5)(C) or force us to
re-evaluate our portfolio and our investment strategy. Such changes may prevent us from operating our business
successfully.
A change in the value of any of our assets could negatively affect our ability to maintain our exemption from
regulation under the Investment Company Act. To maintain compliance with the applicable exemption under the
Investment Company Act, we may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell
assets we would otherwise wish to retain. In addition, we may have to acquire additional assets that we might not
otherwise have acquired or may have to forego opportunities to acquire assets that we would otherwise want to
acquire and would be important to our investment strategy.
If we were required to register as an investment company but failed to do so, we would become subject to
substantial regulation with respect to our capital structure (including our ability to use borrowings), management,
operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the Investment Company Act), and portfolio
composition, including disclosure requirements and restrictions with respect to diversification and industry
concentration, and other matters. Compliance with the Investment Company Act would, accordingly, limit our
ability to make certain investments and require us to significantly restructure our business plan, which could
materially adversely affect our NAV and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.
The Advisor is not registered and does not intend to register as an investment adviser under the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”). If the Advisor is required to register as an investment
adviser under the Advisers Act, it could impact our operations and possibly reduce stockholders investment
returns.
The Advisor is not currently registered as an investment adviser under the Advisers Act and does not expect to
register as an investment adviser because it does not and does not intend to have sufficient regulatory assets
under management to meet the eligibility requirement under Section 203A of the Advisers Act. Whether an
adviser has sufficient regulatory assets under management to require registration under the Advisers Act depends
on the nature of the assets it manages. In calculating regulatory assets under management, the Advisor must
include the value of each “securities portfolio” it manages. The Advisor expects that our assets will not constitute
a securities portfolio so long as a majority of our assets consist of assets that we believe are not securities.
However, because we may also invest in several types of securities in accordance with our investment strategy
and the SEC will not affirm our determination of what portion of our investments are not securities, there is a risk
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that such determination is incorrect and, as a result, our investments are a securities portfolio. In such event, the
Advisor may be acting as an investment adviser subject to registration under the Advisers Act that is not
registered. If our investments were to constitute a “securities portfolio”, then the Advisor would be required to
register under the Advisers Act, which would require it to comply with a variety of regulatory requirements
under the Advisers Act on such matters as record keeping, disclosure, compliance, limitations on the types of
fees it could earn and other fiduciary obligations. As a result, the Advisor would have devote additional time and
resources and incur additional costs to manage our business, which could possibly reduce stockholders’
investment returns.
Operational risks, including the risk of cyberattacks, may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our
growth.
We rely heavily on our and Starwood Capital’s financial, accounting, communications and other data processing
systems. Such systems may fail to operate properly or become disabled as a result of tampering or a breach of the
network security systems or otherwise. In addition, such systems are from time to time subject to cyberattacks
and other cybersecurity incidents. Breaches of Starwood Capital’s network security systems could involve
attacks that are intended to obtain unauthorized access to our proprietary information or personal identifying
information of our stockholders, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage our systems, often through the
introduction of computer viruses or other malicious code, network failures, computer and telecommunication
failures, infiltration by unauthorized persons and security breaches, usage errors by their respective professionals
or service providers, power, communications or other service outages and catastrophic events such as fires,
tornadoes, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes. If unauthorized parties gain access to such information and
technology systems, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or modify private and sensitive information.
Although Starwood Capital takes various measures to ensure the integrity of such systems, there can be no
assurance that these measures will provide protection. Breaches such as those involving covertly introduced
malware, impersonation of authorized users and industrial or other espionage may not be identified even with
sophisticated prevention and detection systems, potentially resulting in further harm and preventing it from being
addressed appropriately. The failure of Starwood Capital’s systems or of disaster recovery plans for any reason
could cause significant interruptions in Starwood Capital’s and our operations and result in a failure to maintain
the security, confidentiality or privacy of sensitive data, including personal information relating to our investors
(and their beneficial owners) and the intellectual property and trade secrets of Starwood Capital. If such systems
are compromised, do not operate properly or are disabled, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our
businesses, liability to investors, regulatory intervention or reputational damage.
In addition, we are highly dependent on information systems and technology. Starwood Capital’s information
systems and technology may not continue to be able to accommodate our growth, and the cost of maintaining
such systems may increase from its current level. Such a failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs
related to such information systems, could have a material adverse effect on us.
Furthermore, we depend on Starwood Capital’s headquarters in Miami Beach, Florida and its offices in
Greenwich, Connecticut for the continued operation of our business. A disaster or a disruption in the
infrastructure that supports our business, including a disruption involving electronic communications or other
services used by us or third parties with whom we conduct business, or directly affecting our headquarters, could
have a material adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate our business without interruption. Starwood
Capital’s disaster recovery programs may not be sufficient to mitigate the harm that may result from such a
disaster or disruption. In addition, insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our
losses, if at all.
Finally, we rely on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including for certain
information systems, technology and administration. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance of
these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair the quality of our
operations and could affect our reputation and hence adversely affect our business.
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General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate
Our operating results will be affected by economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market
in general.
We are subject to risks generally attributable to the ownership of real property, including:
•

changes in global, national, regional or local economic, demographic or capital market conditions;

•

future adverse national real estate trends, including increasing vacancy rates, declining rental rates and
general deterioration of market conditions;

•

changes in supply of or demand for similar properties in a given market or metropolitan area, which
could result in rising vacancy rates or decreasing market rental rates;

•

vacancies, fluctuations in the average occupancy and room rates for hotel properties or inability to
lease space on favorable terms;

•

increased competition for properties targeted by our investment strategy;

•

bankruptcies, financial difficulties or lease defaults by our tenants;

•

increases in interest rates and lack of availability of financing; and

•

changes in government rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including increases in property taxes,
changes in zoning laws, limitations on rental rates, and increasing costs to comply with environmental
laws.

All of these factors are beyond our control. Any negative changes in these factors could affect our performance
and our ability to meet our obligations and make distributions to stockholders.
Our success is dependent on general market and economic conditions.
The real estate industry generally and the success of our investment activities in particular will both be affected
by global and national economic and market conditions generally and by the local economic conditions where
our properties are located. These factors may affect the level and volatility of real estate prices, which could
impair our profitability or result in losses. In addition, general fluctuations in the market prices of securities and
interest rates may affect our investment opportunities and the value of our investments. Starwood Capital’s
financial condition may be adversely affected by a significant economic downturn and it may be subject to legal,
regulatory, reputational and other unforeseen risks that could have a material adverse effect on Starwood
Capital’s businesses and operations (including the Advisor).
A recession, slowdown or sustained downturn in the U.S. real estate market, and to a lesser extent, the global
economy (or any particular segment thereof) would have a pronounced impact on us, the value of our assets and
our profitability, impede the ability of our assets to perform under or refinance their existing obligations, and
impair our ability to effectively deploy our capital or realize upon investments on favorable terms. We could also
be affected by any overall weakening of, or disruptions in, the financial markets. Any of the foregoing events
could result in substantial losses to our business, which losses will likely be exacerbated by the presence of
leverage in our investments’ capital structures.
For example, as a result of the recent financial crisis, the availability of debt financing secured by commercial
real estate had been significantly restricted as a result of tightened lending standards for a prolonged period. As a
result of the uncertainties in the credit market, real estate investors were unable to obtain debt financing on
attractive terms, which adversely affected investment returns on acquisitions or their ability to make acquisitions
or tenant improvements. Any future financial market disruptions may force us to use a greater proportion of our
offering proceeds to finance our acquisitions and fund tenant improvements, reducing the cash available to
satisfy repurchase requests and reducing the number of acquisitions we would otherwise make.
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The U.S. real estate market has substantially recovered from the recent recession and is in the growth phase of
the cycle. As the cycle matures, real estate returns may lose momentum, which could have a negative impact
on the performance of our investment portfolio.
Based on expected moderate, but improved, future economic growth, and historically low levels of new supply in
the commercial real estate pipeline, real estate fundamentals are forecast to improve for all property sectors
during the next two years. Nevertheless, the ongoing competition for high quality real estate assets and resulting
upward pressure on pricing may reduce anticipated returns. Furthermore, economic growth remains fragile, and
could be slowed or halted by significant external events. A negative shock to the economy could result in reduced
tenant demand, higher tenancy default and rising vacancy rates. There can be no assurance that our real estate
investments will not be adversely affected by a severe slowing of the economy or renewed recession. Tenant
defaults, fluctuations in interest rates, limited availability of capital and other economic conditions beyond our
control could negatively affect our portfolio, and decrease the value of our investments.
Our portfolio may be concentrated in a limited number of industries, geographies or investments.
Our portfolio may be heavily concentrated at any time in only a limited number of industries, geographies or
investments, and, as a consequence, our aggregate return may be substantially affected by the unfavorable
performance of even a single investment. To the extent the Advisor concentrates our investments in a particular
type of asset or geography, our portfolio may become more susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from
adverse economic or business conditions affecting that particular type of asset or geography. Investors have no
assurance as to the degree of diversification in our investments, either by geographic region or asset type.
Our board of directors may change our investment and operational policies or our investment guidelines
without stockholder consent.
Except for changes to the investment restrictions contained in our charter, which require stockholder consent to
amend, our board of directors may change our investment and operational policies, including our policies with
respect to investments, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions, at any time without the consent
of our stockholders, which could result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier or
more highly leveraged than, the types of investments described in the prospectus related to the Offering. Our
board of directors also approved very broad investment guidelines with which the Advisor must comply, but
these guidelines provide the Advisor with broad discretion and can be changed by our board of directors. A
change in our investment strategy may, among other things, increase our exposure to real estate market
fluctuations, default risk and interest rate risk, all of which could materially affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
We may have difficulty selling our properties, which may limit our flexibility and ability to pay distributions.
Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, it could be difficult for us to promptly sell one or more of
our properties on favorable terms. This may limit our ability to change our portfolio quickly in response to
adverse changes in the performance of any such property or economic or market trends. In addition, U.S. federal
tax laws that impose a 100% excise tax on gains from sales of dealer property by a REIT (generally, property
held for sale, rather than investment) could limit our ability to sell properties and may affect our ability to sell
properties without adversely affecting returns to our stockholders. These restrictions could adversely affect our
results of operations and financial condition.
We face risks associated with property acquisitions.
We intend to acquire properties and portfolios of properties, including large portfolios that could result in
changes to our capital structure. Our acquisition activities and their success are subject to the following risks:
•

we may be unable to complete an acquisition after making a non-refundable deposit and incurring
certain other acquisition-related costs;
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•

we may be unable to obtain financing for acquisitions on commercially reasonable terms or at all;

•

acquired properties may fail to perform as expected;

•

acquired properties may be located in new markets in which we may face risks associated with a lack
of market knowledge or understanding of the local economy, lack of business relationships in the area
and unfamiliarity with local governmental and permitting procedures; and

•

we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of
portfolios of properties, into our existing operations.

In addition, while we will invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented real estate, we may also acquire assets
that require some amount of capital investment in order to be renovated or repositioned. These investments are
generally subject to higher risk of loss than investments in stabilized real estate and there is no guarantee that any
renovation or repositioning will be successful, or that the actual costs will not be greater than our estimates.
The acquisition and disposition of real properties carry certain litigation risks at the property level that may
reduce our profitability and the return on stockholders’ investments.
The acquisition and disposition of real properties carry certain specific litigation risks. Litigation may be
commenced with respect to a property acquired by us in relation to activities that took place prior to our
acquisition of such property. In addition, at the time of disposition of an individual property, a potential buyer
may claim that it should have been afforded the opportunity to purchase the asset or alternatively that such
potential buyer should be awarded due diligence expenses incurred or statutory damages for misrepresentation
relating to disclosure made, if such buyer is passed over in favor of another as part of our efforts to maximize
sale proceeds. Similarly, successful buyers may later sue us under various damage theories, including those
sounding in tort, for losses associated with latent defects or other problems not uncovered in due diligence.
Competition in acquiring properties may reduce our profitability and the return on stockholders’ investments.
We face competition from various entities for investment opportunities in properties, including other REITs,
pension funds, insurance companies, investment funds and companies, partnerships and developers. In addition
to third-party competitors, other programs sponsored by the Advisor and its affiliates, particularly those with
investment strategies that overlap with ours, may seek investment opportunities under Starwood Capital’s
prevailing policies and procedures. Many of these entities may have greater access to capital to acquire properties
than we have. Competition from these entities may reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities
offered to us or increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell. Additionally, disruptions and
dislocations in the credit markets could have a material impact on the cost and availability of debt to finance real
estate acquisitions, which is a key component of our acquisition strategy. The lack of available debt on
reasonable terms or at all could result in a further reduction of suitable investment opportunities and create a
competitive advantage for other entities that have greater financial resources than we do. In addition, over the
past several years, a number of real estate funds and publicly traded and non-listed REITs have been formed and
others have been consolidated (and many such existing funds have grown in size) for the purpose of investing in
real estate real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities. Additional real estate funds, vehicles and
REITs with similar investment objectives may be formed in the future by other unrelated parties and further
consolidations may occur (resulting in larger funds and vehicles). Consequently, it is expected that competition
for appropriate investment opportunities may reduce the number of investment opportunities available to us and
adversely affect the terms, including price, upon which investments can be made. This competition may cause us
to acquire properties and other investments at higher prices or by using less-than-ideal capital structures, and in
such case our returns will be lower and the value of our assets may not appreciate or may decrease significantly
below the amount we paid for such assets. If such events occur, stockholders may experience a lower return on
their investments.
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We may make a substantial amount of joint venture investments, including with Starwood Capital affiliates.
Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision-making authority, our
reliance on the financial condition of our joint venture partners and disputes between us and our joint venture
partners.
We may co-invest in the future with Starwood Capital affiliates or third parties in partnerships or other entities
that own real estate properties, which we collectively refer to as joint ventures. We likely will acquire
non-controlling interests in joint ventures. We may pay fees to our joint venture partners, including incentive fees
and promotes, which have the impact of reducing our profits from these joint venture investments. Even if we
have some control in a joint venture, we would not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority
regarding the joint venture. Investments in joint ventures may, under certain circumstances, involve risks not
present were another party not involved, including the possibility that joint venture partners might become
bankrupt or fail to fund their required capital contributions. Joint venture partners may have economic or other
business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may be in a position to
take actions contrary to our policies or objectives. Such investments may also have the potential risk of impasses
on decisions, such as a sale, because neither we nor the joint venture partner would have full control over the
joint venture. Disputes between us and joint venture partners may result in litigation or arbitration that would
increase our expenses and prevent our officers and directors from focusing their time and effort on our business.
Consequently, actions by or disputes with joint venture partners might result in subjecting properties owned by
the joint venture to additional risk. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our
joint venture partners.
In addition, in connection with any shared investments in which we participate alongside any Other Starwood
Accounts, the Advisor may from time to time grant absolutely or share with such Other Starwood Accounts
certain rights relating to such shared investments for legal, tax, regulatory or other reasons, including, in certain
instances, rights with respect to the structuring or sale of such shared investments. There is no guarantee that we
will be able to co-invest with any Other Starwood Account. We will not participate in joint ventures in which we
do not have or share control to the extent that we believe such participation would potentially threaten our status
as a non-investment company exempt from the Investment Company Act. This may prevent us from receiving an
allocation with respect to certain investment opportunities that are suitable for both us and one or more Other
Starwood Accounts.
If we have a right of first refusal or right of first offer to buy out a joint venture partner, we may be unable to
finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we are required to purchase such interest at a time when it
would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have
sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow us to elect to purchase an interest
of a joint venture partner subject to the buy/sell right, in which case we may be forced to sell our interest as the
result of the exercise of such right when we would otherwise prefer to keep our interest. If we buy our joint
venture partner’s interest we will have increased exposure in the underlying investment. The price we use to buy
our joint venture partner’s interest or sell our interest is typically determined by negotiations between us and our
joint venture partner and there is no assurance that such price will be representative of the value of the underlying
property or equal to our then-current valuation of our interest in the joint venture that is used to calculate our
NAV. Finally, we may not be able to sell our interest in a joint venture if we desire to exit the venture for any
reason or if our interest is likewise subject to a right of first refusal or right of first offer of our joint venture
partner, our ability to sell such interest may be adversely impacted by such right. Joint ownership arrangements
with Starwood Capital affiliates may also entail further conflicts of interest.
Some additional risks and conflicts related to our joint venture investments (including joint venture investments
with Starwood Capital affiliates) include:
•

the joint venture partner may have economic or other interests that are inconsistent with our interests,
including interests relating to the financing, management, operation, leasing or sale of the assets
purchased by such joint venture;
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•

we may pay incentive fees and promotes to our joint venture partners, which may cause their interests
to differ from ours;

•

tax, Investment Company Act and other regulatory requirements applicable to the joint venture partner
may cause it to want to take actions contrary to our interests;

•

the joint venture partner may have joint control of the joint venture even in cases where its economic
stake in the joint venture is significantly less than ours;

•

under the joint venture arrangement, neither we nor the joint venture partner will be in a position to
unilaterally control the joint venture, and deadlocks may occur. Such deadlocks could adversely impact
the operations and profitability of the joint venture, including as a result of the inability of the joint
venture to act quickly in connection with a potential acquisition or disposition. In addition, depending
on the governance structure of such joint venture partner, decisions of such vehicle may be subject to
approval by individuals who are independent of Starwood Capital;

•

under the joint venture arrangement, we and the joint venture partner may have a buy/sell right and, as
a result of an impasse that triggers the exercise of such right, we may be forced to sell our investment
in the joint venture, or buy the joint venture partner’s share of the joint venture at a time when it would
not otherwise be in our best interest to do so; and

•

our participation in investments in which a joint venture partner participates will be less than what our
participation would have been had such other vehicle not participated, and because there may be no
limit on the amount of capital that such joint venture partner can raise, the degree of our participation
in such investments may decrease over time.

Furthermore, we may have conflicting fiduciary obligations if we acquire properties with our affiliates or other
related entities; as a result, in any such transaction we may not have the benefit of arm’s-length negotiations of
the type normally conducted between unrelated parties.
“Other Starwood Accounts” shall mean investment funds, REITs, vehicles, accounts, products and other similar
arrangements sponsored, advised or managed by Starwood Capital, whether currently in existence or
subsequently established (in each case, including any related successor funds, alternative vehicles, supplemental
capital vehicles, surge funds, over-flow funds, co-investment vehicles and other entities formed in connection
with Starwood Capital or its affiliates side-by-side or additional general partner investments with respect
thereto).
Acquiring or attempting to acquire multiple properties in a single transaction may adversely affect our
operations.
From time to time, we may acquire multiple properties in a single transaction. Portfolio acquisitions typically are
more complex and expensive than single-property acquisitions, and the risk that a multiple-property acquisition
does not close may be greater than in a single-property acquisition. Portfolio acquisitions may also result in us
owning investments in geographically dispersed markets, placing additional demands on the Advisor in
managing the properties in the portfolio. In addition, a seller may require that a group of properties be purchased
as a package even though we may not want to purchase one or more properties in the portfolio. In these
situations, if we are unable to identify another person or entity to acquire the unwanted properties, we may be
required to operate or attempt to dispose of these properties. We also may be required to accumulate a large
amount of cash to fund such acquisitions. We would expect the returns that we earn on such cash to be less than
the returns on investments in real property. Therefore, acquiring multiple properties in a single transaction may
reduce the overall yield on our portfolio.
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In the event we obtain options to acquire properties, we may lose the amount paid for such options whether or
not the underlying property is purchased.
We may obtain options to acquire certain properties. The amount paid for an option, if any, is normally
surrendered if the property is not purchased and may or may not be credited against the purchase price if the
property is purchased. Any unreturned option payments will reduce the amount of cash available for further
investments or distributions to our stockholders.
In our due diligence review of potential investments, we may rely on third-party consultants and advisors and
representations made by sellers of potential portfolio properties, and we may not identify all relevant facts that
may be necessary or helpful in evaluating potential investments.
Before making investments, the Advisor will typically conduct due diligence that it deems reasonable and
appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable to each investment. Due diligence may entail
evaluation of important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues. Outside
consultants, legal advisors, accountants, investment banks and other third parties, including affiliates of the
Advisor or Starwood Capital, may be involved in the due diligence process to varying degrees depending on the
type of investment, the costs of which will be borne by us. Such involvement of third-party advisors or
consultants may present a number of risks primarily relating to the Advisor’s reduced control of the functions
that are outsourced. Where affiliates of Starwood Capital are utilized, the Advisor’s management fee will not be
offset for the fees paid or expenses reimbursed to such affiliates. In addition, if the Advisor is unable to timely
engage third-party providers, the ability to evaluate and acquire more complex targets could be adversely
affected. When conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding a potential investment, the
Advisor will rely on the resources available to it, including information provided by the target of the investment
and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations. The due diligence investigation that the Advisor carries
out with respect to any investment opportunity may not reveal or highlight all relevant facts that may be
necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. Moreover, such an investigation will not
necessarily result in the investment being successful. There can be no assurance that attempts to provide
downside protection with respect to investments, including pursuant to risk management procedures described in
the prospectus related to the Offering, will achieve their desired effect and potential investors should regard an
investment in us as being speculative and having a high degree of risk.
We will rely on property managers to operate our properties and leasing agents to lease vacancies in our
properties.
The Advisor intends to hire property managers to manage our properties and leasing agents to lease vacancies in
our properties. The property managers will have significant decision-making authority with respect to the
management of our properties. We will be particularly dependent on property managers of any hospitality and
leisure properties we invest in. Our ability to direct and control how our properties are managed on a day-to-day
basis may be limited because we will engage other parties to perform this function. Thus, the success of our
business may depend in large part on the ability of our property managers to manage the day-to-day operations
and the ability of our leasing agents to lease vacancies in our properties. Any adversity experienced by, or
problems in our relationship with, our property managers or leasing agents could adversely impact the operation
and profitability of our properties.
We will depend on tenants for our revenue, and therefore our revenue will be dependent on the success and
economic viability of our tenants. Our reliance on single or significant tenants in certain buildings may
decrease our ability to lease vacated space.
We expect that rental income from real property will, directly or indirectly, constitute a significant portion of our
income. Delays in collecting accounts receivable from tenants could adversely affect our cash flows and financial
condition. In addition, the inability of a single major tenant or a number of smaller tenants to meet their rental
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obligations would adversely affect our income. Therefore, our financial success will be indirectly dependent on
the success of the businesses operated by the tenants in our properties or in the properties securing loans we may
own. The weakening of the financial condition of or the bankruptcy or insolvency of a significant tenant or a
number of smaller tenants and vacancies caused by defaults of tenants or the expiration of leases may adversely
affect our operations and our ability to pay distributions.
Generally, under U.S. bankruptcy law, a debtor tenant has 120 days to exercise the option of assuming or
rejecting the obligations under any unexpired lease for nonresidential real property, which period may be
extended once by the bankruptcy court for an additional 90 days. If the tenant assumes its lease, the tenant must
cure all defaults under the lease and may be required to provide adequate assurance of its future performance
under the lease. If the tenant rejects the lease, we will have a claim against the tenant’s bankruptcy estate.
Although rent owing for the period between filing for bankruptcy and rejection of the lease may be afforded
administrative expense priority and paid in full, pre-bankruptcy arrears and amounts owing under the remaining
term of the lease will be afforded general unsecured claim status (absent collateral securing the claim). Moreover,
amounts owing under the remaining term of the lease will be capped. Other than equity and subordinated claims,
general unsecured claims are the last claims paid in a bankruptcy and therefore funds may not be available to pay
such claims in full.
Some of our properties may be leased to a single or significant tenant and, accordingly, may be suited to the
particular or unique needs of such tenant. We may have difficulty replacing such a tenant if the floor plan of the
vacant space limits the types of businesses that can use the space without major renovation. In addition, the resale
value of the property could be diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend
principally upon the value of the leases of such property.
We may be unable to renew leases as leases expire.
We may not be able to lease properties that are vacant or become vacant because a tenant decides not to renew its
lease or by the continued default of a tenant under its lease. In addition, certain of the properties we acquire may
have some level of vacancy at the time of acquisition. Certain other properties may be specifically suited to the
particular needs of a tenant and may become vacant after we acquire them. Even if a tenant renews its lease or we
enter into a lease with a new tenant, the terms of the new lease may be less favorable than the terms of the old
lease. In addition, the resale value of the property could be diminished because the market value may depend
principally upon the value of the property’s leases. If we are unable to promptly renew or enter into new leases,
or if the rental rates are lower than expected, our results of operations and financial condition will be adversely
affected. For example, following the termination or expiration of a tenant’s lease there may be a period of time
before we will begin receiving rental payments under a replacement lease. During that period, we will continue to
bear fixed expenses such as interest, real estate taxes, maintenance, security, repairs and other operating
expenses. In addition, declining economic conditions may impair our ability to attract replacement tenants and
achieve rental rates equal to or greater than the rents paid under previous leases. Increased competition for
tenants may require us to make capital improvements to properties which would not have otherwise been
planned. Any unbudgeted capital improvements that we undertake may divert cash that would otherwise be
available for distributions or for satisfying repurchase requests. Ultimately, to the extent that we are unable to
renew leases or re-let space as leases expire, decreased cash flow from tenants will result, which could adversely
impact our operating results.
We may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before a tenant can be found for
a property at an attractive lease rate or an investment in a property can be sold. No assurance can be given that
we will have funds available to correct those defects or to make those improvements. In acquiring a property, we
may agree to lock-out provisions that materially restrict us from selling that property for a period of time or
impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed on that property. These
factors and others that could impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance of our
properties could significantly affect our financial condition and operating results.
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Leases with retail properties’ tenants may restrict us from re-leasing space.
Most leases with retail tenants contain provisions giving the particular tenant the exclusive right to sell particular
types of merchandise or provide specific types of services within the particular retail center. These provisions
may limit the number and types of prospective tenants interested in leasing space in a particular retail property.
Our properties will face significant competition.
We may face significant competition from owners, operators and developers of properties. Substantially all of
our properties will face competition from similar properties in the same market. This competition may affect our
ability to attract and retain tenants and may reduce the rents we are able to charge. These competing properties
may have vacancy rates higher than our properties, which may result in their owners being willing to lease
available space at lower prices than the space in our properties. If one of our properties were to lose an anchor
tenant, this could impact the leases of other tenants, who may be able to modify or terminate their leases as a
result.
Our properties may be leased at below-market rates under long-term leases.
We may seek to negotiate longer-term leases to reduce the cash flow volatility associated with lease rollovers,
provided that contractual rent increases are included. In addition, where appropriate, we will seek leases that
provide for operating expenses, or expense increases, to be paid by the tenants. These leases may allow tenants to
renew the lease with pre-defined rate increases. If we do not accurately judge the potential for increases in
market rental rates, we may set the rental rates of these long-term leases at levels such that even after contractual
rental increases, the resulting rental rates are less than then-current market rental rates. Further, we may be
unable to terminate those leases or adjust the rent to then-prevailing market rates. As a result, our income and
distributions to our stockholders could be lower than if we did not enter into long-term leases.
We will depend on the availability of public utilities and services, especially for water and electric power. Any
reduction, interruption or cancellation of these services may adversely affect us.
Public utilities, especially those that provide water and electric power, will be fundamental for the sound
operation of our assets. The delayed delivery or any material reduction or prolonged interruption of these
services could allow tenants to terminate their leases or result in an increase in our costs, as we may be forced to
use backup generators, which also could be insufficient to fully operate our facilities and could result in our
inability to provide services.
We may experience material losses or damage related to our properties and such losses may not be covered by
insurance.
We may experience losses related to our properties arising from natural disasters and acts of God, vandalism or
other crime, faulty construction or accidents, fire, war, acts of terrorism or other catastrophes. We plan to carry
insurance covering our properties under policies the Advisor deems appropriate. The Advisor will select policy
specifications and insured limits that it believes to be appropriate and adequate given the relative risk of loss, the
cost of the coverage and industry practice. Insurance policies on our properties may include some coverage for
losses that are generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to terrorism, earthquakes and floods, but we
cannot assure our stockholders that it will be adequate to cover all losses and some of our policies will be insured
subject to limitations involving large deductibles or co-payments and policy limits that may not be sufficient to
cover losses. In general, losses related to terrorism are becoming harder and more expensive to insure against.
Most insurers are excluding terrorism coverage from their all-risk policies. In some cases, the insurers are
offering significantly limited coverage against terrorist acts for additional premiums, which can greatly increase
the total costs of casualty insurance for a property. As a result, not all investments may be insured against
terrorism. If we or one or more of our tenants experience a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds policy limits, we
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could lose the capital invested in the damaged properties as well as the anticipated future cash flows from those
properties. In addition, if the damaged properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we would continue to be
liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties were irreparably damaged.
We could become subject to liability for environmental violations, regardless of whether we caused such
violations.
We could become subject to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance with environmental laws
and regulations. These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation
and removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and
disposal of solid hazardous materials, the remediation of contaminated property associated with the disposal of
solid and hazardous materials and other health and safety-related concerns. Some of these laws and regulations
may impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or managers for the costs of investigation or
remediation of contaminated properties, regardless of fault or the legality of the original disposal. Under various
federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations, a current or former owner or manager of
real property may be liable for the cost to remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances, wastes, or
petroleum products on, under, from, or in such property. These costs could be substantial and liability under
these laws may attach whether or not the owner or manager knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such
contamination. Even if more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination, each liable party
may be held entirely responsible for all of the clean-up costs incurred.
In addition, third parties may sue the owner or manager of a property for damages based on personal injury,
natural resources, or property damage or for other costs, including investigation and clean-up costs, resulting
from the environmental contamination. The presence of contamination on one of our properties, or the failure to
properly remediate a contaminated property, could give rise to a lien in favor of the government for costs it may
incur to address the contamination, or otherwise adversely affect our ability to sell or lease the property or
borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, if contamination is discovered on our properties,
environmental laws may impose restrictions on the manner in which the property may be used or businesses may
be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures or prevent us from entering into leases
with prospective tenants. There can be no assurance that future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose
any material environmental liability, or that the environmental condition of our properties will not be affected by
the operations of the tenants, by the existing condition of the land, by operations in the vicinity of the properties.
There can be no assurance that these laws, or changes in these laws, will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.
Our costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”) may affect
cash available for distributions.
Any domestic properties we acquire will generally be subject to the ADA. Under the ADA, all places of public
accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons.
The ADA has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities” that
generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. The
ADA’s requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive
relief, monetary penalties or, in some cases, an award of damages. We may not acquire properties that comply
with the ADA or we may not be able to allocate the burden on the seller or other third party, such as a tenant, to
ensure compliance with the ADA in all cases.
The properties we acquire will be subject to property taxes that may increase in the future, which could
adversely affect our cash flow.
Any properties we acquire will be subject to real and personal property taxes that may increase as property tax
rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. Some of our leases may
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provide that the property taxes, or increases therein, are charged to the lessees as an expense related to the
properties that they occupy. As the owner of the properties, however, we are ultimately responsible for payment
of the taxes to the government. If property taxes increase, our tenants may be unable to make the required tax
payments, ultimately requiring us to pay the taxes. In addition, we will generally be responsible for property
taxes related to any vacant space. If we purchase residential properties, the leases for such properties typically
will not allow us to pass through real estate taxes and other taxes to residents of such properties. Consequently,
any tax increases may adversely affect our results of operations at such properties.
Certain of our investments may be in the form of ground leases, which provide limited rights to the underlying
property.
We invest from time to time in real estate properties that are subject to ground leases. As a lessee under a ground
lease, we may be exposed to the possibility of losing the property upon termination, or an earlier breach by us, of
the ground lease, which may adversely impact our investment performance. Furthermore, ground leases generally
provide for certain provisions that limit the ability to sell certain properties subject to the lease. In order to assign
or transfer rights and obligations under certain ground leases, we will generally need to obtain consent of the
landlord of such property, which, in turn, could adversely impact the price realized from any such sale.
Certain properties may require permits or licenses.
A license, approval or permit may be required to acquire certain investments and their direct or indirect holding
companies (or registration may be required before an acquisition can be completed). There can be no guarantee
of when and if such a license, approval or permit will be obtained or if the registration will be effected.
Certain properties may require an expedited transaction, which may result in limited information being
available about the property prior to its acquisition.
The Advisor may be required to be undertake investment analyses and decisions on an expedited basis to take
advantage of investment opportunities. In such cases, the information available to the Advisor at the time of
making an investment decision may be limited, and the Advisor may not have access to detailed information
regarding the investment property, such as physical characteristics, environmental matters, zoning regulations or
other local conditions affecting an investment property. Therefore, no assurance can be given that the Advisor
will have knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment, and we may make
investments which we would not have made if more extensive due diligence had been undertaken.
We will face risks in effecting operating improvements.
In some cases, the success of an investment will depend, in part, on our ability to restructure and effect
improvements in the operations of a property. The activity of identifying and implementing restructuring
programs and operating improvements at property entails a high degree of uncertainty. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to successfully identify and implement such restructuring programs and improvements.
In certain cases, financings for our properties may be recourse to us.
Generally, commercial real estate financings are structured as nonrecourse to the borrower, which limits a
lender’s recourse to the property pledged as collateral for the loan, and not the other assets of the borrower or to
any parent of borrower, in the event of a loan default. However, lenders customarily will require that a
creditworthy parent entity enter into so-called “recourse carveout” guarantees to protect the lender against certain
bad-faith or other intentional acts of the borrower in violation of the loan documents. A “bad boy” guarantee
typically provides that the lender can recover losses from the guarantors for certain bad acts, such as fraud or
intentional misrepresentation, intentional waste, willful misconduct, criminal acts, misappropriation of funds,
voluntary incurrence of prohibited debt and environmental losses sustained by lender. In addition, “bad boy”
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guarantees typically provide that the loan will be a full personal recourse obligation of the guarantor, for certain
actions, such as prohibited transfers of the collateral or changes of control and voluntary bankruptcy of the
borrower. It is expected that the financing arrangements with respect to our investments generally will require
“bad boy” guarantees from us and the Operating Partnership and in the event that such a guarantee is called, our
assets could be adversely affected. Moreover, our “bad boy” guarantees could apply to actions of the joint
venture partners associated with our investments. While the Advisor expects to negotiate indemnities from such
joint venture partners to protect against such risks, there remains the possibility that the acts of such joint venture
partner could result in liability to us under such guarantees. We may provide “bad boy” guarantees on behalf of
Other Starwood Accounts investing alongside us and as such, guarantees are not for borrowed money, they will
typically not be included under our leverage limitations. In addition, to the extent, we develop properties, we may
provide completion guarantees and assume standard obligations under development agreements.
Certain of the mortgages and mezzanine loans securing our properties may provide for full recourse to the
obligor, including guarantors, thereof in the event of specified defaults, permitting a mortgage or mezzanine
lender to a recovery in excess of the value of the property securing the mortgage or mezzanine loan.
Our properties are expected to be owned through special purpose entities. Certain of our mortgage and mezzanine
loans on properties owned by such entities may provide that, in the event of a breach of the representations,
warranties or covenants relating to special purpose entity status, the loans, which are otherwise non-recourse, or
non-recourse to obligors other than the borrower, are recourse to the obligors thereof, including guarantors,
thereby permitting a mortgage or mezzanine lender to a recovery in excess of the value of the property securing
the mortgage. In the event of such a breach, lenders may be able to recover the full value of their loans, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We will face legal risks when making investments.
Investments are usually governed by a complex series of legal documents and contracts. As a result, the risk of
dispute over interpretation or enforceability of the documentation may be higher than for other investments. In
addition, it is not uncommon for investments to be exposed to a variety of other legal risks. These can include,
but are not limited to, environmental issues, land expropriation and other property-related claims, industrial
action and legal action from special interest groups.
We are subject to additional risks from our international investments.
We may purchase real estate investments located internationally. These investments may be affected by factors
particular to the laws and business practices of the jurisdictions in which the properties are located. These laws
and business practices may expose us to risks that are different from and in addition to those commonly found in
the United States. Foreign investments are subject to risk, including the following risks:
•

the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;

•

changing governmental rules and policies, including changes in land use and zoning laws, more
stringent environmental laws or changes in such environmental laws;

•

existing or new laws relating to the foreign ownership of real property or loans and laws restricting the
ability of foreign persons or companies to remove profits earned from activities within the country to
the person’s or company’s country of origin;

•

the potential for expropriation;

•

possible currency transfer restrictions;

•

imposition of adverse or confiscatory taxes;

•

changes in real estate and other tax rates and changes in other operating expenses in particular
countries;
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•

possible challenges to the anticipated tax treatment of the structures that allow us to acquire and hold
investments;

•

adverse market conditions caused by terrorism, civil unrest and changes in national or local
governmental or economic conditions;

•

the willingness of domestic or foreign lenders to make loans in certain countries and changes in the
availability, cost and terms of loan funds resulting from varying national economic policies;

•

general political and economic instability in certain regions; and

•

the potential difficulty of enforcing obligations in other countries.

Investments in international properties subject us to foreign currency risks.
Revenues generated from any properties we acquire or ventures we enter into relating to transactions involving
assets located in markets outside the United States likely will be denominated in the local currency. Therefore,
any investments we make outside the United States may subject us to foreign currency risk due to potential
fluctuations in exchange rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar. As a result, changes in exchange
rates of any such foreign currency to the U.S. dollar may affect our revenues, operating margins and distributions
and may also affect the book value of our assets and the amount of stockholders’ equity.
Inflation in foreign countries, along with government measures to curb inflation, may have an adverse effect
on our investments.
Certain countries have in the past experienced extremely high rates of inflation. Inflation, along with
governmental measures to curb inflation, coupled with public speculation about possible future governmental
measures to be adopted, has had significant negative effects on these international economies in the past and this
could occur again in the future. The introduction of governmental policies to curb inflation can have an adverse
effect on our business. High inflation in the countries in which we purchase real estate or make other investments
could increase our expenses and we may not be able to pass these increased costs on to our tenants.
Lack of compliance with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, could subject us to
penalties and other adverse consequences.
We are subject to the FCPA, which generally prohibits United States companies from engaging in bribery or
other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Foreign
companies, including potential competitors, are not subject to these prohibitions. Fraudulent practices, including
corruption, extortion, bribery, pay-offs, theft and others, occur from time-to-time in countries in which we may
do business. If people acting on our behalf or at our request are found to have engaged in such practices, severe
penalties and other consequences could be imposed on us that may have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders and the value of their investments.
We may be adversely affected by trends in the office real estate industry.
Some businesses are rapidly evolving to make employee telecommuting, flexible work schedules, open
workplaces and teleconferencing increasingly common. These practices enable businesses to reduce their space
requirements. A continuation of the movement towards these practices could over time erode the overall demand
for office space and, in turn, place downward pressure on occupancy, rental rates and property valuations, each of
which could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make
expected distributions to our stockholders.
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Our retail tenants will face competition from numerous retail channels.
Retailers leasing our properties will face continued competition from discount or value retailers, factory outlet
centers, wholesale clubs, mail order catalogues and operators, television shopping networks and shopping via the
internet. Such competition could adversely affect our tenants and, consequently, our revenues and funds available
for distribution.
Retail properties depend on anchor tenants to attract shoppers and could be adversely affected by the loss of a
key anchor tenant.
Retail properties, like other properties, are subject to the risk that tenants may be unable to make their lease
payments or may decline to extend a lease upon its expiration. A lease termination by a tenant that occupies a
large area of a retail center (commonly referred to as an anchor tenant) could impact leases of other tenants.
Other tenants may be entitled to modify the terms of their existing leases in the event of a lease termination by an
anchor tenant, or the closure of the business of an anchor tenant that leaves its space vacant even if the anchor
tenant continues to pay rent. Any such modifications or conditions could be unfavorable to us as the property
owner and could decrease rents or expense recoveries. Additionally, major tenant closures may result in
decreased customer traffic, which could lead to decreased sales at other stores. In the event of default by a tenant
or anchor store, we may experience delays and costs in enforcing our rights as landlord to recover amounts due to
us under the terms of our agreements with those parties.
Our industrial tenants may be adversely affected by a decline in manufacturing activity in the United States.
Fluctuations in manufacturing activity in the United States may adversely affect our industrial tenants and
therefore the demand for and profitability of our industrial properties. Trade agreements with foreign countries
have given employers the option to utilize less expensive foreign manufacturing workers. Outsourcing
manufacturing activities could reduce the demand for U.S. workers, thereby reducing the profitability of our
industrial tenants and the demand for and profitability of our industrial properties.
We could be negatively impacted by the condition of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac and by changes in
government support for multifamily housing.
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are a major source of financing for multifamily real estate in the United States. We
expect to utilize loan programs sponsored by these entities as a source of capital to finance our growth and our
operations. In September 2008, the U.S. government increased its control of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and
placed both companies into a government conservatorship under the Federal Housing Finance Agency. In
December 2009, the U.S. Treasury increased its financial support for these conservatorships. In February 2011,
the Obama administration released its blueprint for winding down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and for
reforming the system of housing finance. Since that time, members of Congress have introduced, and
Congressional committees have considered, a substantial number of bills that include comprehensive or
incremental approaches to winding down Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac or changing their purposes, businesses or
operations. A decision by the U.S. government to eliminate or downscale Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or to
reduce government support for multifamily housing more generally may adversely affect interest rates, capital
availability, development of multifamily communities and the value of multifamily assets and, as a result, may
adversely affect our future growth and operations. Any potential reduction in loans, guarantees and credit
enhancement arrangements from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could jeopardize the effectiveness of the
multifamily sector’s derivative securities market, potentially causing breaches in loan covenants, and through
reduced loan availability, impact the value of multifamily assets, which could impair the value of a significant
portion of multifamily communities. Specifically, the potential for a decrease in liquidity made available to the
multifamily sector by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could:
•

make it more difficult for us to secure new takeout financing for any multifamily development projects
we acquire;
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•

hinder our ability to refinance any completed multifamily assets;

•

decrease the amount of available liquidity and credit that could be used to broaden our portfolio
through the acquisition of multifamily assets; and

•

require us to obtain other sources of debt capital with potentially different terms.

Short-term multifamily community leases associated with any multifamily residential properties we acquire
may expose us to the effects of declining market rent and could adversely impact our ability to make cash
distributions.
We expect that, to the extent that we invest in any multifamily residential properties, substantially all of our
multifamily community leases will be on a short-term basis. Because these leases generally permit the residents
to leave at the end of the lease term without penalty, our rental revenues maybe impacted by declines in market
rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms.
Increased levels of unemployment could adversely affect the occupancy and rental rates of any multifamily
residential properties we acquire.
Increased levels of unemployment in multifamily markets could significantly decrease occupancy and rental
rates. In times of increasing unemployment, multifamily occupancy and rental rates have historically been
adversely affected by:
•

rental residents deciding to share rental units and therefore rent fewer units;

•

potential residents moving back into family homes or delaying leaving family homes;

•

a reduced demand for higher-rent units;

•

a decline in household formation;

•

persons enrolled in college delaying leaving college or choosing to proceed to or return to graduate
school in the absence of available employment;

•

the inability or unwillingness of residents to pay rent increases; and

•

increased collection losses.

These factors generally have contributed to lower rental rates. To the extent that we invest in any multifamily
residential properties, our results of operations, financial condition and ability to make distributions to our
stockholders may be adversely affected if these factors do not improve or worsen.
If any credit market disruptions or economic slowdowns occur, any investments in multifamily residential
properties may face increased competition from single-family homes and condominiums for rent, which could
limit our ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or increase or maintain rents.
Any multifamily communities in which we invest may compete with numerous housing alternatives in attracting
residents, including single-family homes and condominiums available for rent. Such competitive housing
alternatives may become more prevalent in a particular area in the event of any tightening of mortgage lending
underwriting criteria, homeowner foreclosures, declines in single-family home and condominium sales or lack of
available credit. The number of single-family homes and condominiums for rent in a particular area could limit
our ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or increase or maintain rents.
The multifamily residential properties in which we invest must comply with the Fair Housing Amendment of
1988.
The multifamily residential properties in which we invest domestically, if any, must comply with the Fair
Housing Amendment Act of 1988 (“FHAA”) which requires that multifamily communities first occupied after
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March 13, 1991 be accessible to handicapped residents and visitors. Compliance with the FHAA could require
removal of structural barriers to handicapped access in a community, including the interiors of apartment units
covered under the FHAA. Recently there has been heightened scrutiny of multifamily housing communities for
compliance with the requirements of the FHAA and the ADA and an increasing number of substantial
enforcement actions and private lawsuits have been brought against multifamily communities to ensure
compliance with these requirements. Noncompliance with the FHAA and the ADA could result in the imposition
of fines, awards of damages to private litigants, payment of attorneys’ fees and other costs to plaintiffs,
substantial litigation costs and substantial costs of remediation.
The hospitality or leisure industry is seasonal.
The hospitality or leisure industry is seasonal in nature. Seasonal slowdown is generally in the third quarter and,
to a lesser extent, in the fourth quarter of each year. As a result of the seasonality of the hospitality or leisure
industry, there will likely be quarterly fluctuations in results of operations of any hospitality or leisure properties
that we may own. In addition, any such properties that we may own may be adversely affected by factors outside
our control, such as extreme weather conditions or natural disasters, terrorist attacks or alerts, outbreaks of
contagious diseases, airline strikes, economic factors and other considerations affecting travel.
The hospitality or leisure market is highly competitive and generally subject to greater volatility than our other
market segments.
The hospitality or leisure business is highly competitive and influenced by factors such as general and local
economic conditions, location, room rates, quality, service levels, reputation and reservation systems, among
many other factors. There are many competitors in this market, and these competitors may have substantially
greater marketing and financial resources than those available to us. Competition also comes from non-traditional
hospitality sources, such as home-sharing platforms. This competition, along with other factors, such as
overbuilding in the hospitality or leisure industry and certain deterrents to traveling, may increase the number of
rooms available and may decrease the average occupancy and room rates of our hospitality or leisure properties.
The demand for rooms at any hospitality or leisure properties that we may acquire will change much more
rapidly than the demand for space at other properties that we acquire. This volatility in room demand and
occupancy rates could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and ability
to pay distributions to stockholders.
General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate-Related Debt
Investments in real estate-related debt is subject to risks including various creditor risks and early redemption
features which may materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
The debt securities and other interests in which we may invest may include secured or unsecured debt at various
levels of an issuer’s capital structure. The debt securities in which we may invest may not be protected by
financial covenants or limitations upon additional indebtedness, may be illiquid or have limited liquidity, and
may not be rated by a credit rating agency. Debt securities are also subject to other creditor risks, including (i) the
possible invalidation of an investment transaction as a “fraudulent conveyance” under relevant creditors’ rights
laws, (ii) so-called lender liability claims by the issuer of the obligation and (iii) environmental liabilities that
may arise with respect to collateral securing the obligations. Our investments may be subject to early redemption
features, refinancing options, pre-payment options or similar provisions which, in each case, could result in the
issuer repaying the principal on an obligation held by us earlier than expected, resulting in a lower return to us
than anticipated or reinvesting in a new obligation at a lower return to us.
Our debt investments face prepayment risk and interest rate fluctuations that may adversely affect our results
of operations and financial condition.
During periods of declining interest rates, the issuer of a security or borrower under a loan may exercise its
option to prepay principal earlier than scheduled, forcing us to reinvest the proceeds from such prepayment in
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lower yielding securities or loans, which may result in a decline in our return. Debt investments frequently have
call features that allow the issuer to redeem the security at dates prior to its stated maturity at a specified price
(typically greater than par) only if certain prescribed conditions are met. An issuer may choose to redeem a debt
security if, for example, the issuer can refinance the debt at a lower cost due to declining interest rates or an
improvement in the credit standing of the issuer. In addition, the market price of our investments will change in
response to changes in interest rates and other factors. During periods of declining interest rates, the market price
of fixed-rate debt investments generally rises. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, the market price
of such investments generally declines. The magnitude of these fluctuations in the market price of debt
investments is generally greater for securities with longer maturities. There is a consensus that the U.S. Federal
Reserve will increase benchmark interest rates, which could negatively impact the price of debt securities and
could adversely affect the value of our investments.
Real estate-related debt investments face a number of general market-related risks that can affect the
creditworthiness of issuers, and modifications to certain loan structures and market terms make it more
difficult to monitor and evaluate investments.
We will invest in real estate-related debt investments. Any deterioration of real estate fundamentals generally,
and in the United States in particular, could negatively impact our performance by making it more difficult for
issuers to satisfy their debt payment obligations, increasing the default risk applicable to issuers, or making it
relatively more difficult for us to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns. Changes in general economic
conditions will affect the creditworthiness of issuers and real estate collateral relating to our investments and may
include economic and market fluctuations, changes in environmental and zoning laws, casualty or condemnation
losses, regulatory limitations on rents, decreases in property values, changes in the appeal of properties to
tenants, changes in supply and demand for competing properties in an area (as a result, for instance, of
overbuilding), fluctuations in real estate fundamentals (including average occupancy, operating income and room
rates for hotel properties), the financial resources of tenants, changes in availability of debt financing which may
render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable, changes in building, environmental and
other laws, energy and supply shortages, various uninsured or uninsurable risks, natural disasters, political
events, trade barriers, currency exchange controls, changes in government regulations (such as rent control),
changes in real property tax rates and operating expenses, changes in interest rates, changes in the availability of
debt financing and mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or
impracticable, increased mortgage defaults, increases in borrowing rates, negative developments in the economy
or political climate that depress travel activity, environmental liabilities, contingent liabilities on disposition of
assets, acts of God, terrorist attacks, war, demand or real estate values generally and other factors that are beyond
the control of the Advisor. There can be no assurance that there will be a ready market for the resale of
investments because investments may not be liquid. Illiquidity may result from the absence of an established
market for the investments, as well as legal or contractual restrictions on their resale by us. The value of
securities of companies which service the real estate business sector may also be affected by such risks.
The Advisor cannot predict whether economic conditions generally, and the conditions for real estate debt
investing in particular, will deteriorate in the future. Declines in the performance of the U.S. and global
economies or in the real estate debt markets could have a material adverse effect on our investment activities. In
addition, market conditions relating to real estate debt investments have evolved since the financial crisis, which
has resulted in a modification to certain loan structures and market terms. For example, it has become
increasingly difficult for real estate debt investors in certain circumstances to receive full transparency with
respect to underlying investments because transactions are often effectuated on an indirect basis through pools or
conduit vehicles rather than directly with the borrower. Any such changes in loan structures or market terms may
make it more difficult for us to monitor and evaluate investments.
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The operating and financial risks of issuers and the underlying default risk across capital structures may
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Our securities investments involve credit or default risk, which is the risk that an issuer or borrower will be
unable to make principal and interest payments on its outstanding debt when due. The risk of default and losses
on real estate-related debt instruments will be affected by a number of factors, including global, regional and
local economic conditions, interest rates, the commercial real estate market in general, an issuer’s equity and the
financial circumstances of the issuer, as well as general economic conditions. Such default risk will be
heightened to the extent we make relatively junior investments in an issuer’s capital structure since such
investments are structurally subordinate to more senior tranches in such issuer’s capital structure, and our overall
returns would be adversely affected to the extent one or more issuers is unable to meet its debt payment
obligations when due. To the extent we hold an equity or “mezzanine” interest in any issuer that is unable to meet
its debt payment obligations, such equity or mezzanine interest could become subordinated to the rights of such
issuer’s creditors in a bankruptcy. See “— We may invest in subordinated debt, which is subject to greater credit
risk than senior debt” below. Furthermore, the financial performance of one or more issuers could deteriorate as a
result of, among other things, adverse developments in their businesses, changes in the competitive environment
or an economic downturn. As a result, underlying properties or issuers that we expected to be stable may operate,
or expect to operate, at a loss or have significant fluctuations in ongoing operating results, may otherwise have a
weak financial condition or be experiencing financial distress and subject our investments to additional risk of
loss and default.
We may invest in commercial mortgage loans which are non-recourse in nature and include limited options
for financial recovery in the event of default; an event of default may adversely affect our results of operations
and financial condition.
We may invest from time to time in commercial mortgage loans, including mezzanine loans and B-notes, which
are secured by properties and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure and risks of loss. Commercial
real estate loans are generally not fully amortizing, which means that they may have a significant principal
balance or balloon payment due on maturity. Full satisfaction of the balloon payment by a commercial borrower
is heavily dependent on the availability of subsequent financing or a functioning sales market, as well as other
factors such as the value of the property, the level of prevailing mortgage rates, the borrower’s equity in the
property and the financial condition and operating history of the property and the borrower. In certain situations,
and during periods of credit distress, the unavailability of real estate financing may lead to default by a
commercial borrower. In addition, in the absence of any such takeout financing, the ability of a borrower to repay
a loan secured by an income-producing property will depend upon the successful operation of such property
rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating income of the
property is reduced, the borrower’s ability to repay the loan may be impaired. Furthermore, we may not have the
same access to information in connection with investments in commercial mortgage loans, either when
investigating a potential investment or after making an investment, as compared to publicly traded securities.
Commercial mortgage loans are usually nonrecourse in nature. Therefore, if a commercial borrower defaults on
the commercial mortgage loan, then the options for financial recovery are limited. To the extent the underlying
default rates with respect to the pool or tranche of commercial real estate loans in which we directly or indirectly
invest increase, the performance of our investments related thereto may be adversely affected. Default rates and
losses on commercial mortgage loans will be affected by a number of factors, including global, regional and local
economic conditions in the area where the mortgage properties are located, the borrower’s equity in the mortgage
property and the financial circumstances of the borrower. A continued decline in specific commercial real estate
markets and property valuations may result in higher delinquencies and defaults and potentially foreclosures. In
the event of default, the lender will have no right to assets beyond collateral attached to the commercial mortgage
loan. The overall level of commercial mortgage loan defaults remains significant and market values of the
underlying commercial real estate remain distressed in many cases. It has also become increasingly difficult for
lenders to dispose of foreclosed commercial real estate without incurring substantial investment losses,
ultimately leading to a decline in the value of such investments.
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In the event of any default under a mortgage or real estate loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss of
principal to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest
of the mortgage or real estate loan, which could have a material adverse effect on our profitability. In the event of
the bankruptcy of a mortgage or real estate loan borrower, the mortgage or real estate loan to such borrower will
be deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as
determined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the mortgage or real estate loan will be subject to the
avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under
state law. Additionally, in the event of a default under any senior debt, the junior or subordinate lender generally
forecloses on the equity, purchases the senior debt or negotiates a forbearance or restructuring arrangement with
the senior lender in order to preserve its collateral.
We may invest in subordinated debt, which is subject to greater credit risk than senior debt.
We may from time to time invest in debt instruments, including junior tranches of CMBS and “mezzanine” or
junior mortgage loans (e.g., B-Notes), that are subordinated in an issuer’s capital structure. To the extent we
invest in subordinated debt of an issuer’s capital structure or subordinated CMBS bonds, such investments and
our remedies with respect thereto, including the ability to foreclose on any collateral securing such investments,
will be subject to the rights of any senior creditors and, to the extent applicable, contractual inter-creditor or
participation agreement provisions.
Investments in subordinated debt involve greater credit risk of default than the senior classes of the issue or
series. Subordinated tranches of CMBS or other investments absorb losses from default before other more senior
tranches of CMBS to which it is subordinate are put at risk. In addition, mezzanine loans are not secured by
interests in the underlying commercial properties. As a result, to the extent we invest in subordinate debt
instruments (including CMBS), we would potentially receive payments or interest distributions after, and must
bear the effects of losses or defaults on the senior debt (including underlying mortgage loans, senior mezzanine
debt or senior CMBS bonds) before, the holders of other more senior tranches of debt instruments with respect to
such issuer.
B-Notes and A/B Structures may pose additional risks that may adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
We may invest in B-notes, which investments are subordinate to the A-note portion of the same loan (which we
would not expect to hold). In addition to the risks described above, certain additional risks apply to B-note
investments, including those described herein. The B-note portion of a loan is typically small relative to the
overall loan, and is in the first loss position. As a means to protect against the holder of the A-note from taking
certain actions or, receiving certain benefits to the detriment of the holder of the B-note, the holder of the B-note
often (but not always) has the right to purchase the A-note from its holder. If available, this right may not be
meaningful to us. For example, we may not have the capital available to protect our B-note interest or purchasing
the A-note may alter our overall portfolio and risk/return profile to the detriment of our stockholders.
Certain of our investments may have additional capital requirements.
Certain of our investments, including those that may be in a development phase, if any, are expected to require
additional financing to satisfy their working capital requirements or development strategies. The amount of such
additional financing needed will depend upon the maturity and objectives of the particular asset, which may be
an unfavorable price at such time. Each round of financing (whether from us or other investors) is typically
intended to provide enough capital to reach the next major milestone in an asset’s life-cycle. If the funds
provided are not sufficient, additional capital may be required to be raised at a price unfavorable to the existing
investors, including us. In addition, we may make additional debt and equity investments or exercise warrants,
options, convertible securities or other rights that were acquired in the initial investment in such portfolio
company in order to preserve our proportionate ownership when a subsequent financing is planned, or to protect
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our investment when such portfolio company’s performance does not meet expectations. The availability of
capital is generally a function of capital market conditions that are beyond the control of us or any portfolio
company. There can be no assurance that we or any portfolio company will be able to predict accurately the
future capital requirements necessary for success or that additional funds will be available from any source.
Failure to provide sufficient additional capital with respect to an investment could adversely affect our
performance.
General Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate-Related Securities
We may invest in high-yield securities which are generally subject to more risk than higher rated securities.
Debt securities that are, at the time of purchase, rated below investment grade (below Baa by Moody’s and below
BBB by S&P and Fitch), an equivalent rating assigned by another nationally recognized statistical rating
organization or unrated but judged by the Advisor to be of comparable quality are commonly referred to as
“high-yield” securities or “junk bonds.”
Investments in high-yield securities generally provide greater income and increased opportunity for capital
appreciation than investments in higher quality securities, but they also typically entail greater price volatility
and principal and income risk, including the possibility of issuer default and bankruptcy. High-yield securities
are regarded as predominantly speculative with respect to the issuer’s continuing ability to meet principal and
interest payments. Debt securities in the lowest investment grade category also may be considered to possess
some speculative characteristics by certain rating agencies. In addition, analysis of the creditworthiness of issuers
of high-yield securities may be more complex than for issuers of higher quality securities.
High-yield securities may be more susceptible to real or perceived adverse economic and competitive industry
conditions than investment grade securities. A projection of an economic downturn or of a period of rising
interest rates, for example, could cause a decline in high yield security prices because the advent of a recession
could lessen the ability of an issuer to make principal and interest payments on its debt obligations. If an issuer of
high yield securities defaults, in addition to risking non-payment of all or a portion of interest and principal, we
may incur additional expenses to seek recovery. The market prices of high-yield securities structured as
zero-coupon, step-up or payment-in-kind securities will normally be affected to a greater extent by interest rate
changes, and therefore tend to be more volatile than the prices of securities that pay interest currently and in cash.
The secondary market on which high-yield securities are traded may be less liquid than the market for investment
grade securities. Less liquidity in the secondary trading market could adversely affect the price at which we could
sell a high yield security, and could adversely affect the NAV of our shares. Adverse publicity and investor
perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may decrease the values and liquidity of high yield
securities, especially in a thinly-traded market. When secondary markets for high yield securities are less liquid
than the market for investment grade securities, it may be more difficult to value the securities because such
valuation may require more research, and elements of judgment may play a greater role in the valuation because
there is less reliable, objective data available. During periods of thin trading in these markets, the spread between
bid and asked prices is likely to increase significantly and we may have greater difficulty selling our portfolio
securities. We will be more dependent on the Advisor’s research and analysis when investing in high-yield
securities.
Some of our securities investments may become distressed, which securities would have a high risk of default
and may be illiquid.
While it is generally anticipated that our real estate-related investments will focus primarily on investments in
non-distressed CMBS and other debt investments (based on our belief that there is not a low likelihood of
repayment), our investments may become distressed following our acquisition thereof. During an economic
downturn or recession, securities of financially troubled or operationally troubled issuers are more likely to go
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into default than securities of other issuers. Securities of financially troubled issuers and operationally troubled
issuers are less liquid and more volatile than securities of companies not experiencing financial difficulties. The
market prices of such securities are subject to erratic and abrupt market movements and the spread between bid
and asked prices may be greater than normally expected. Investment in the securities of financially troubled
issuers and operationally troubled issuers involves a high degree of credit and market risk. There is no assurance
that the Advisor will correctly evaluate the value of the assets collateralizing such investments or the prospects
for a successful reorganization or similar action.
These financial difficulties may never be overcome and may cause issuers to become subject to bankruptcy or
other similar administrative proceedings. There is a possibility that we may incur substantial or total losses on
our investments and in certain circumstances, subject us to certain additional potential liabilities that may exceed
the value of our original investment therein. For example, under certain circumstances, a lender who has
inappropriately exercised control over the management and policies of a debtor may have its claims subordinated
or disallowed or may be found liable for damages suffered by parties as a result of such actions. In any
reorganization or liquidation proceeding relating to our investments, we may lose our entire investment, may be
required to accept cash or securities with a value less than our original investment and may be required to accept
different terms, including payment over an extended period of time. In addition, under certain circumstances
payments to us may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution is later determined to have been a
fraudulent conveyance, preferential payment, or similar transactions under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency
laws. Furthermore, bankruptcy laws and similar laws applicable to administrative proceedings may delay our
ability to realize on collateral for loan positions we held, or may adversely affect the economic terms and priority
of such loans through doctrines such as equitable subordination or may result in a restructure of the debt through
principles such as the “cramdown” provisions of the bankruptcy laws.
Certain risks associated with CMBS may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
We may invest a portion of our assets in pools or tranches of CMBS. The collateral underlying CMBS generally
consists of commercial mortgages on real property that has a multifamily or commercial use, such as retail space,
office buildings, warehouse property and hotels, and which from time to time may include assets or properties
owned directly or indirectly by one or more Other Starwood Accounts. CMBS have been issued in a variety of
issuances, with varying structures including senior and subordinated classes. The commercial mortgages
underlying CMBS generally face the risks described above in “— We may invest in commercial mortgage loans
which are nonrecourse in nature and include limited options for financial recovery in the event of default; an
event of default may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.”
Concentrated CMBS investments may pose specific risks beyond the control of the Advisor that may adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Default risks with respect to CMBS investments may be further pronounced in the case of single-issuer CMBSs
or CMBSs secured by a small or less diverse collateral pool. At any one time, a portfolio of CMBS may be
backed by commercial mortgage loans disproportionately secured by properties in only a few states, regions or
foreign countries. As a result, such investments may be more susceptible to geographic risks relating to such
areas, including adverse economic conditions, declining home values, adverse events affecting industries located
in such areas and other factors beyond the control of the Advisor relative to investments in multi-issuer CMBS or
a pool of mortgage loans having more diverse property locations.
The quality of the CMBS is dependent on the credit quality and selection of the mortgages for each issuance.
CMBS are also affected by the quality of the credit extended. As a result, the quality of the CMBS is dependent
upon the selection of the commercial mortgages for each issuance and the cash flow generated by the commercial
real estate assets, as well as the relative diversification of the collateral pool underlying such CMBS and other
factors such as adverse selection within a particular tranche or issuance.
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There are certain risks associated with the insolvency of obligations backing CMBS and other investments.
The commercial real estate loans backing the CMBS and other investments may be subject to various laws
enacted in the jurisdiction or state of the borrower for the protection of creditors. If an unpaid creditor files a
lawsuit seeking payment, the court may invalidate all or part of the borrower’s debt as a fraudulent conveyance,
subordinate such indebtedness to existing or future creditors of the borrower or recover amounts previously paid
by the borrower in satisfaction of such indebtedness, based on certain tests for borrower insolvency and other
facts and circumstances, which may vary by jurisdiction. There can be no assurance as to what standard a court
would apply in order to determine whether the borrower was “insolvent” after giving effect to the incurrence of
the indebtedness constituting the commercial mortgage backing the CMBS and other investments, or that
regardless of the method of valuation, a court would not determine that the borrower was “insolvent” after giving
effect to such incurrence. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of a borrower, payments made on such
commercial mortgage loans could be subject to avoidance as a “preference” if made within a certain period of
time (which may be as long as one year and one day) before insolvency.
There are certain risks associated with CMBS interest shortfalls.
Our CMBS investments may be subject to interest shortfalls due to interest collected from the underlying loans
not being sufficient to pay accrued interest to all of the CMBS. Interest shortfalls to the CMBS trust will occur
when the servicer does not advance full interest payments on defaulted loans. The servicer in a CMBS trust is
required to advance monthly principal and interest payments due on a delinquent loan. Once a loan is delinquent
for a period of time (generally 60 days), the servicer is required to obtain a new appraisal to determine the value
of the property securing the loan. The servicer is only required to advance interest based on the lesser of the loan
amount or 90%, generally, of the appraised value. Interest shortfalls occur when 90%, generally, of the appraised
value is less than the loan amount and the servicer does not advance interest on the full loan amount. The
resulting interest shortfalls impact interest payments on the most junior class in the trust first. As interest
shortfalls increase, more senior classes may be impacted. Over time, senior classes may be reimbursed for
accumulated shortfalls if the delinquent loans are resolved, but there is no guarantee that shortfalls will be
collected. Interest shortfalls to the CMBS trust may also occur as a result of accumulated advances and expenses
on defaulted loans. When a defaulted loan or foreclosed property is liquidated, the servicer will be reimbursed for
accumulated advances and expenses prior to payments to CMBS bond holders. If proceeds are insufficient to
reimburse the servicer or if a defaulted loan is modified and not foreclosed, the servicer is able to make a claim
on interest payments that is senior to the bondholders to cover accumulated advances and expenses. If the claim
is greater than interest collected on the loans, interest shortfalls could impact one or more bond classes in a
CMBS trust until the servicer’s claim is satisfied.
Our CMBS investments face risks associated with extensions that may adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
Our CMBS and other investments may be subject to extension, resulting in the term of the securities being longer
than expected. Extensions are affected by a number of factors, including the general availability of financing in
the market, the value of the related mortgaged property, the borrower’s equity in the mortgaged property, the
financial circumstances of the borrower, fluctuations in the business operated by the borrower on the mortgaged
property, competition, general economic conditions and other factors. Such extension may also be made without
the Advisor’s consent.
There are certain risks associated with the servicers of commercial real estate loans underlying CMBS and
other investments.
The exercise of remedies and successful realization of liquidation proceeds relating to commercial real estate
loans underlying CMBS and other investments may be highly dependent on the performance of the servicer or
special servicer. The servicer may not be appropriately staffed or compensated to immediately address issues or
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concerns with the underlying loans. Such servicers may exit the business and need to be replaced, which could
have a negative impact on the portfolio due to lack of focus during a transition. Special servicers frequently are
affiliated with investors who have purchased the most subordinate bond classes, and certain servicing actions,
such as a loan extension instead of forcing a borrower pay off, may benefit the subordinate bond classes more so
than the senior bonds. While servicers are obligated to service the portfolio subject to a servicing standard and
maximize the present value of the loans for all bond classes, servicers with an affiliate investment in the CMBS
or other investments may have a conflict of interest. There may be a limited number of special servicers
available, particularly those which do not have conflicts of interest. In addition, to the extent any such servicers
fail to effectively perform their obligations pursuant to the applicable servicing agreements, such failure may
adversely affect our investments.
We may invest in structured products that may include structural and legal risks.
Subject to our REIT qualification requirements, we may invest from time to time in structured products. These
investments may include debt securities issued by a private investment fund that invests, on a leveraged basis, in
bank loans, high-yield debt or other asset groups, certificates issued by a structured investment vehicle that holds
pools of commercial mortgage loans, as well as MBS credit default swaps (e.g., CMBX). Our investments in
structured products will be subject to a number of risks, including risks related to the fact that the structured
products will be leveraged, and other structural and legal risks related thereto. Many structured products contain
covenants designed to protect the providers of debt financing to such structured products. A failure to satisfy
those covenants could result in the untimely liquidation of the structured product and a complete loss of our
investment therein. In addition, if the particular structured product is invested in a security in which we are also
invested, this would tend to increase our overall exposure to the credit of the issuer of such securities, at least on
an absolute, if not on a relative basis. The value of an investment in a structured product will depend on the
investment performance of the assets in which the structured product invests and will, therefore, be subject to all
of the risks associated with an investment in those assets. These risks include the possibility of a default by, or
bankruptcy of, the issuers of such assets or a claim that the pledging of collateral to secure any such asset
constituted a fraudulent conveyance or preferential transfer that can be subordinated to the rights of other
creditors of the issuer of such asset or nullified under applicable law.
We will face risks related to our investments in collateralized debt obligations.
We may also invest from time to time in collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”). CDOs include, among other
things, collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”) and other similarly structured securities. A CLO is a trust
typically collateralized by a pool of loans, which may include, among others, domestic and foreign senior
secured loans, senior unsecured loans and subordinate corporate loans, including loans that may be rated below
investment grade or equivalent unrated loans. CDOs may charge a management fee and administrative expenses.
For CLOs, the cash flows from the trust are split into two or more portions, called tranches, varying in risk and
yield. The riskiest portion is the “equity” tranche, which bears the bulk of defaults from the bonds or loans in the
trust and serves to protect the other, more senior tranches from default in all but the most severe circumstances.
Since it is partially protected from defaults, a senior tranche from a CLO trust typically has higher ratings and
lower yields than the underlying securities, and can be rated investment grade. Despite the protection from the
equity tranche, CLO tranches can experience substantial losses due to actual defaults, increased sensitivity to
defaults due to collateral default and disappearance of protecting tranches, market anticipation of defaults and
aversion to CLO securities as a class. The risks of an investment in a CDO depend largely on the type of the
collateral and the class of the CDO in which we invest.
Normally, CLOs and other CDOs are privately offered and sold, and thus are not registered under the securities
laws. As a result, certain investments in CDOs may be characterized as illiquid securities. Moreover, if the
underlying mortgage portfolio has been overvalued by the originator, or if the values subsequently decline and,
as a result, less collateral value is available to satisfy interest and principal payments and any other fees in
connection with the trust or other conduit arrangement for such securities, we may incur significant losses. Also,
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with respect to the CLOs and CDOs in which we may invest, control over the related underlying loans will be
exercised through a special servicer or collateral manager designated by a “directing certificate holder” or a
“controlling class representative,” or otherwise pursuant to the related securitization documents. We may acquire
classes of CLOs or CDOs for which we may not have the right to appoint the directing certificate holder or
otherwise direct the special servicing or collateral management. With respect to the management and servicing of
those loans, the related special servicer or collateral manager may take actions that could adversely affect our
interests. In addition to the risks associated with debt instruments (e.g., interest rate risk and credit risk), CDOs
carry additional risks including, but not limited to: (i) the possibility that distributions from collateral securities
will not be adequate to make interest or other payments; (ii) the quality of the collateral may decline in value or
default; (iii) the possibility that we may invest in CDOs that are subordinate to other classes; and (iv) the
complex structure of the security may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may produce
disputes with the issuer or unexpected investment results.
We may invest in real estate-related equity, which is subordinate to any indebtedness, but involves different
rights.
We may invest from time to time in non-controlling equity positions and other real estate-related interests.
Preferred equity investments are subordinate to any indebtedness, but senior to the owners’ common equity.
Preferred equity investments typically pay a dividend rather than interest payments and often have the right for
such dividends to accrue if there is insufficient cash flow to pay currently. These interests are not secured by the
underlying real estate, but upon the occurrence of a default, the preferred equity provider typically has the right
to effectuate a change of control with respect to the ownership of the property.
We may invest in equity of other REITs that invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses and other
real estate-related companies, which subjects us to certain risks including those risks associated with an
investment in our own common stock.
REITs are dependent upon specialized management skills, have limited diversification and are, therefore, subject
to risks inherent in financing a limited number of projects. REITs may be subject to a management fees and other
expenses, and so when we invest in REITs we will bear our proportionate share of the costs of the REITs’
operations. Investing in REITs and real estate-related companies involves certain unique risks in addition to those
risks associated with investing in the real estate industry in general. The market value of REIT shares and the
ability of the REIT to distribute income may be adversely affected by several factors, including the risks
described herein that relate to an investment in our common stock.
REITs that invest primarily in real estate debt are subject to the risks of the real estate debt market and, more
generally, the real estate market and securities market. REITs (especially mortgage REITs) are also subject to
interest rate risk. Rising interest rates may cause REIT investors to demand a higher annual yield, which may, in
turn, cause a decline in the market price of the equity securities issued by a REIT.
Investing in certain REITs and real estate-related companies, which often have small market capitalizations, may
also involve the same risks as investing in other small capitalization companies. REITs and real estate-related
companies may have limited financial resources and their securities may trade less frequently and in limited
volume and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic price movements than larger company securities.
We will face “spread widening” risk related to our investment in securities.
For reasons not necessarily attributable to any of the risks set forth herein (for example, supply/demand
imbalances or other market forces), the market spreads of the securities in which we invest may increase
substantially causing the securities prices to fall. It may not be possible to predict, or to hedge against, such
“spread widening” risk. In addition, mark-to-market accounting of our investments will have an interim effect on
the reported value prior to realization of an investment.
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We will face risks associated with hedging transactions.
We may utilize a wide variety of derivative financial instruments for risk management purposes, the use of which
is a highly specialized activity that may entail greater than ordinary investment risks. Any such hedging
transactions may not be effective in mitigating risk in all market conditions or against all types of risk (including
unidentified or unanticipated risks), thereby resulting in losses to us. Engaging in hedging transactions may result
in a poorer overall performance for us than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transaction, and the
Advisor may not be able to effectively hedge against, or accurately anticipate, certain risks that may adversely
affect our investment portfolio. In addition, our investment portfolio will always be exposed to certain risks that
cannot be fully or effectively hedged, such as credit risk relating both to particular securities and counterparties.
See “—We may invest in derivatives, which involve numerous risks” below.
We may invest in derivatives, which involve numerous risks.
We may enter into derivatives transactions including, but not limited to, options contracts, futures contracts,
options on futures contracts, forward contracts, interest rate swaps, total return swaps, credit default swaps and
other swap agreements for investment, hedging or leverage purposes. Our use of derivative instruments may be
particularly speculative and involves investment risks and transaction costs to which we would not be subject
absent the use of these instruments, and use of derivatives generally involves leverage in the sense that the
investment exposure created by the derivatives may be significantly greater than our initial investment in the
derivative. Leverage magnifies investment, market and certain other risks. Thus, the use of derivatives may result
in losses in excess of principal and greater than if they had not been used. Our ability to successfully use
derivative investments depends on the skills of the Advisor. The skills needed to employ derivatives strategies
are different from those needed to select portfolio investments and, in connection with such strategies, the
Advisor must make predictions with respect to market conditions, liquidity, market values, interest rates or other
applicable factors, which may be inaccurate. The use of derivative investments may require us to sell or purchase
portfolio investments at inopportune times or for prices below or above the current market values, may limit the
amount of appreciation we can realize on an investment or may cause us to hold a security that we might
otherwise want to sell. We will also be subject to credit risk with respect to the counterparties to our derivatives
contracts (whether a clearing corporation in the case of exchange-traded instruments or another third party in the
case of over-the-counter instruments). In addition, the use of derivatives will be subject to additional unique risks
associated with such instruments including a lack of sufficient asset correlation, heightened volatility in reference
to interest rates or prices of reference instruments and duration/term mismatch, each of which may create
additional risk of loss.
Failure to obtain and maintain an exemption from being regulated as a commodity pool operator could
subject us to additional regulation and compliance requirements that could materially adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
Registration with the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) as a “commodity pool
operator” or any change in our operations necessary to maintain our ability to rely upon the exemption from
being regulated as a commodity pool operator could adversely affect our ability to implement our investment
program, conduct our operations and/or achieve our objectives and subject us to certain additional costs,
expenses and administrative burdens. Furthermore, any determination by us to cease or to limit investing in
interests which may be treated as “commodity interests” in order to comply with the regulations of the CFTC
may have a material adverse effect on our ability to implement our investment objectives and to hedge risks
associated with our operations.
We will face risks associated with short sales.
Our use of short sales for investment and/or risk management purposes subjects us to risks associated with
selling short. We may engage in short sales where we do not own or have the right to acquire the security sold
short at no additional cost. Our loss on a short sale theoretically could be unlimited in a case where we are
unable, for whatever reason, to close out a short position.
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Our short selling strategies may limit our ability to benefit from increases in the markets. Short selling also
involves a form of financial leverage that may exaggerate any losses. Also, there is the risk that the counterparty
to a short sale may fail to honor its contractual terms, causing a loss to us. Finally, SEC, FINRA or other
regulations relating to short selling may restrict our ability to engage in short selling.
We may make open market purchases or invest in publicly traded securities.
Although not anticipated to be a meaningful component of our investment strategy, we have the ability to invest
in securities that are publicly traded and are, therefore, subject to the risks inherent in investing in public
securities. When investing in public securities, we may be unable to obtain financial covenants or other
contractual rights, including management rights that we might otherwise be able to obtain in making privately
negotiated investments. Moreover, we may not have the same access to information in connection with
investments in public securities, either when investigating a potential investment or after making an investment,
as compared to privately negotiated investments. Furthermore, we may be limited in our ability to make
investments, and to sell existing investments, in public securities because Starwood Capital or its affiliates may
be deemed to have material, non-public information regarding the issuers of those securities or as a result of
other internal policies. The inability to sell public securities in these circumstances could materially adversely
affect the investment results. In addition, an investment may be sold by us to a public company where the
consideration received is a combination of cash and stock of the public company, which may, depending on the
securities laws of the relevant jurisdiction, be subject to lock-up periods.
We may incur contingent liabilities in connection with the disposition of investments.
In connection with the disposition of an investment, we may be required to make certain representations about
the business, financial affairs and other aspects (such as environmental, property, tax, insurance, and litigation) of
such investment typical of those made in connection with the sale of a business. We may also be required to
indemnify the purchasers of such investment to the extent that any such representations are inaccurate or with
respect to certain potential liabilities. These arrangements may result in the incurrence of contingent liabilities for
which we may establish reserves or escrow accounts.
Political changes may affect the real estate-related securities markets.
The current regulatory environment in the United States may be impacted by future legislative developments,
such as amendments to key provisions of the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. On
February 3, 2017, President Trump signed an executive order calling for the administration to review U.S.
financial laws and regulations in order to determine their consistency with a set of core principles identified in
the order. Future changes may include certain deregulatory measures for the U.S. financial services industry,
including changes to Financial Stability Oversight Council, the Volcker Rule and credit risk retention
requirements, among other areas.
Risks Related to Debt Financing
We will incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks, could
hinder our ability to make distributions and could decrease the value of our stockholders’ investments.
The acquisition of investment properties may be financed in substantial part by borrowing, which increases our
exposure to loss. Under our charter, we have a limitation that precludes us from borrowing in excess of 300% of
our net assets, which approximates borrowing 75% of the cost of our investments (unless a majority of our
independent directors approves any borrowing in excess of the limit and we disclose the justification for doing so
to our stockholders), but such restriction does not restrict the amount of indebtedness we may incur with respect
to any single investment. Our target leverage ratio after our ramp-up period is approximately 50% to 65% of our
gross real estate assets (measured using the greater of fair market value and purchase price, including equity in
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our real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities), inclusive of property-level and entity-level debt net
of cash, but excluding debt on our real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities portfolios. See
“Investment Objectives and Strategies—Borrowing Policies.” The use of leverage involves a high degree of
financial risk and will increase the exposure of the investments to adverse economic factors such as rising
interest rates, downturns in the economy or deteriorations in the condition of the investments. Principal and
interest payments on indebtedness (including mortgages having “balloon” payments) will have to be made
regardless of the sufficiency of cash flow from the properties. Our investments will be impaired by a smaller
decline in the value of the properties than is the case where properties are owned with a proportionately smaller
amount of debt.
We may incur or increase our mortgage debt by obtaining loans secured by a portfolio of some or all of the real
estate properties acquired. Depending on the level of leverage and decline in value, if mortgage payments are not
made when due, one or more of the properties may be lost (and our investment therein rendered valueless) as a
result of foreclosure by the mortgagee(s). A foreclosure may also have substantial adverse tax consequences for
us.
Many of these same issues also apply to credit facilities which are expected to be in place at various times as
well. For example, the loan documents for such facilities may include various coverage ratios, the continued
compliance with which may not be completely within our control. If such coverage ratios are not met, the lenders
under such credit facilities may declare any unfunded commitments to be terminated and declare any amounts
outstanding to be due and payable.
Although borrowings by us have the potential to enhance overall returns that exceed our cost of funds, they will
further diminish returns (or increase losses on capital) to the extent overall returns are less than our cost of funds.
As a result, the possibilities of profit and loss are increased. Borrowing money to purchase properties provides us
with the advantages of leverage, but exposes us to greater market risks and higher current expenses.
If we draw on a line of credit to fund repurchases or for any other reason, our financial leverage ratio could
increase beyond our target.
We may seek to obtain a line of credit in an effort to provide for a ready source of liquidity for any business
purpose, including to fund repurchases of shares of our common stock in the event that repurchase requests
exceed our operating cash flow and net proceeds from our continuous offering. There can be no assurances that
we will be able to obtain a line of credit on financially reasonable terms. In addition, we may not be able to
obtain a line of credit of an appropriate size for our business until such time as we have a substantial portfolio, or
at all. If we borrow under a line of credit to fund repurchases of shares of our common stock, our financial
leverage will increase and may exceed our target leverage ratio. Our leverage may remain at the higher level until
we receive additional net proceeds from our continuous offering or generate sufficient operating cash flow or
proceeds from asset sales to repay outstanding indebtedness. We may utilize a line of credit for the benefit of
Other Starwood Accounts which may invest alongside us in one or more investments. In such circumstances, we
generally intend to disclose such arrangements as part of our reporting and enter into arrangements to cause any
Other Starwood Accounts to bear (or reimburse us for) their pro rata share of any costs and expenses (including
interest payments) allocable to such extensions of credit.
Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our loan payments and adversely affect our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders.
Interest we pay on our loan obligations will reduce cash available for distributions. If we obtain variable rate
loans, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flows and our
ability to make distributions. In addition, if we need to repay existing loans during periods of rising interest rates,
we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments at times that may not permit realization of the
maximum return on such investments.
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Volatility in the financial markets and challenging economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to
secure debt financing on attractive terms and our ability to service any future indebtedness that we may incur.
The volatility of the global credit markets has made it more difficult for financial sponsors like Starwood Capital
to obtain favorable financing for investments. A widening of credit spreads, coupled with the extreme volatility
of the global debt markets and a rise in interest rates, has dramatically reduced investor demand for high yield
debt and senior bank debt, which in turn has led some investment banks and other lenders to be unwilling to
finance new investments or to only offer committed financing for these investments on unattractive terms. If the
overall cost of borrowing increases, either by increases in the index rates or by increases in lender spreads, the
increased costs may result in future acquisitions generating lower overall economic returns and potentially
reducing future cash flow available for distribution. Disruptions in the debt markets negatively impact our ability
to borrow monies to finance the purchase of, or other activities related to, real estate assets. If we are unable to
borrow monies on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, we likely will have to reduce the number of
properties we can purchase, and the return on the properties we do purchase may be lower. In addition, we may
find it difficult, costly or impossible to refinance indebtedness that is maturing. Moreover, to the extent that such
marketplace events are not temporary and continue, they may have an adverse impact on the availability of credit
to businesses generally and could lead to an overall weakening of the U.S. economy.
Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
When providing financing, a lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating
policies and our ability to obtain additional loans. Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit
our ability to further mortgage or dispose of the property or discontinue insurance coverage. In addition, loan
documents may limit our ability to enter into or terminate certain operating or lease agreements related to the
property. These or other limitations may adversely affect our flexibility and our ability to make distributions to
our stockholders and the value of their investments.
If we enter into financing arrangements involving balloon payment obligations, it may adversely affect our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
Some of our financing arrangements may require us to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at maturity. Our
ability to make a balloon payment is uncertain and may depend upon our ability to obtain replacement financing
or our ability to sell particular properties. At the time the balloon payment is due, we may or may not be able to
refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as the original loan or sell the particular property at a price
sufficient to make the balloon payment. Such a refinancing would be dependent upon interest rates and lenders’
policies at the time of refinancing, economic conditions in general and the value of the underlying properties in
particular. The effect of a refinancing or sale could affect the rate of return to stockholders and the projected
timing of disposition of our assets.
Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.
Subject to any limitations required to maintain qualification as a REIT, we may seek to manage our exposure to
interest rate volatility by using interest rate hedging arrangements, such as interest rate cap or collar agreements
and interest rate swap agreements. These agreements involve risks, such as the risk that counterparties may fail to
honor their obligations under these arrangements and that these arrangements may not be effective in reducing
our exposure to interest rate changes. These interest rate hedging arrangements may create additional assets or
liabilities from time to time that may be held or liquidated separately from the underlying property or loan for
which they were originally established. Hedging may reduce the overall returns on our investments. Failure to
hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
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Risks Related to our Relationship with the Advisor and the Dealer Manager
We depend on the Advisor to select our investments and otherwise conduct our business, and any material
adverse change in its financial condition or our relationship with the Advisor could have a material adverse
effect on our business and ability to achieve our investment objectives.
Our success is dependent upon our relationship with, and the performance of, the Advisor in the acquisition and
management of our real estate portfolio and our corporate operations. The Advisor may suffer or become
distracted by adverse financial or operational problems in connection with Starwood Capital’s business and
activities unrelated to us and over which we have no control. Should the Advisor fail to allocate sufficient
resources to perform its responsibilities to us for any reason, we may be unable to achieve our investment
objectives or to pay distributions to our stockholders.
The termination or replacement of the Advisor could trigger a repayment event under our mortgage loans for
some of our properties and the credit agreement governing any line of credit we obtain.
Lenders for certain of our properties may request provisions in the mortgage loan documentation that would
make the termination or replacement of the Advisor an event requiring the immediate repayment of the full
outstanding balance of the loan. If we elect to obtain a line of credit and are able to do so, the termination or
replacement of the Advisor could trigger repayment of outstanding amounts under the credit agreement
governing our line of credit. If a repayment event occurs with respect to any of our properties, our results of
operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.
The Advisor’s inability to retain the services of key real estate professionals, including Mr. Sternlicht who
serves on the investment committee of our Advisor, could hurt our performance.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of certain key real estate professionals
employed by the Advisor, including Mr. Sternlicht who serves on the investment committee of our Advisor, each
of whom would be difficult to replace. There is ever-increasing competition among alternative asset firms,
financial institutions, private equity firms, investment advisors, investment managers, real estate investment
companies, REITs and other industry participants for hiring and retaining qualified investment professionals and
there can be no assurance that such professionals will continue to be associated with us or the Advisor,
particularly in light of our perpetual-life nature, or that replacements will perform well. Neither we nor the
Advisor have employment agreements with these individuals and they may not remain associated with us. If any
of these persons were to cease their association with us, our operating results could suffer. Our future success
depends, in large part, upon the Advisor’s ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial, operational and
marketing professionals. If the Advisor loses or is unable to obtain the services of highly skilled professionals,
our ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or hindered.
The success of the Offering is dependent, in part, on the ability of the Dealer Manager to retain key employees
and to successfully build and maintain a network of licensed broker-dealers.
The dealer manager for the Offering is Starwood Capital, L.L.C. The success of the Offering and our ability to
implement our business strategy is dependent upon the ability of our Dealer Manager to retain key employees
and to build and maintain a network of licensed securities broker-dealers and other agents. If the Dealer Manager
is unable to retain qualified employees or build and maintain a sufficient network of participating broker-dealers
to distribute shares in the Offering, we may not be able to raise adequate proceeds through the Offering to
implement our investment strategy. In addition, the Dealer Manager may serve as dealer manager for other
issuers. As a result, the Dealer Manager may experience conflicts of interest in allocating its time between the
Offering and such other issuers, which could adversely affect our ability to raise adequate proceeds through the
Offering and implement our investment strategy. Further, the participating broker-dealers retained by the Dealer
Manager may have numerous competing investment products, some with similar or identical investment
strategies and areas of focus as us, which they may elect to emphasize to their retail clients.
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Investors will not have the benefit of an independent due diligence review of us by the Dealer Manager in
connection with the Offering.
Because the Advisor and the Dealer Manager are affiliates of Starwood Capital, investors will not have the
benefit of an independent due diligence review and investigation of the type normally performed by an
unaffiliated, independent underwriter and its counsel in connection with a securities offering. Accordingly, unless
an investor’s financial advisor is affiliated with a broker-dealer that conducts an independent due diligence
review and investigation of the terms of the Offering, an investor will not have the benefit of such a review.
The fees we pay in connection with the Offering and the agreements entered into with Starwood Capital and
its affiliates were not determined on an arm’s-length basis and therefore may not be on the same terms we
could achieve from a third party.
The compensation paid to the Advisor, Dealer Manager and other Starwood Capital affiliates for services they
provide us was not determined on an arm’s-length basis. All service agreements, contracts or arrangements
between or among Starwood Capital and its affiliates, including the Advisor and us, were not negotiated at arm’s
length. Such agreements include our Advisory Agreement, the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement,
our dealer manager agreement (the “Dealer Manager Agreement”), and any property management and other
agreements we may enter into with Starwood Capital affiliates from time to time.
We do not own the “Starwood” name, but we may use it as part of our corporate name pursuant to a
trademark license agreement with an affiliate of our sponsor. Use of the name by other parties or the
termination of our trademark license agreement may harm our business.
We have entered into a trademark license agreement (“Trademark License Agreement”) with an affiliate of our
sponsor pursuant to which it has granted us a fully paid-up, royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-transferable license
to use the name “Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.” Under this agreement, we have a right to use this
name for so long as the Advisor (or another affiliate of Starwood Capital) serves as our advisor (or another
advisory entity) and the Advisor remains an affiliate of Starwood Capital under the Trademark License
Agreement. The Trademark License Agreement may also be earlier terminated by either party as a result of
certain breaches or for convenience upon 90 days’ prior written notice, provided that upon notification of such
termination by us, Starwood Capital may elect to effect termination of the Trademark License Agreement
immediately at any time after 30 days from the date of such notification. Starwood Capital and its affiliates will
retain the right to continue using the “Starwood” name. We will further be unable to preclude Starwood Capital
from licensing or transferring the ownership of the “Starwood” name to third parties, some of whom may
compete with us. Consequently, we will be unable to prevent any damage to goodwill that may occur as a result
of the activities of Starwood Capital or others. Furthermore, in the event that the Trademark License Agreement
is terminated, we will be required to, among other things, change our name. Any of these events could disrupt our
recognition in the market place, damage any goodwill we may have generated and otherwise harm our business.
Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest
Various potential and actual conflicts of interest will arise, and these conflicts may not be identified or
resolved in a manner favorable to us.
Various potential and actual conflicts of interest will arise as a result of our overall investment activities and the
overall investment activities of Starwood Capital, the Dealer Manager, the Advisor and their affiliates. The
following risk factors enumerate certain but not all potential conflicts of interest that should be carefully
evaluated before making an investment in us. Starwood Capital and Starwood Capital personnel may in the future
engage in further activities that may result in additional conflicts of interest not addressed below. If any matter
arises that we and our affiliates (including the Advisor) determine in our good faith judgment constitutes an
actual conflict of interest, we and our affiliates (including the Advisor) may take such action as we determine in
good faith may be necessary or appropriate to ameliorate the conflict. Transactions between us and Starwood
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Capital or its affiliates will require approval by our board of directors, including a majority of our independent
directors. There can be no assurance that our board of directors or Starwood Capital will identify or resolve all
conflicts of interest in a manner that is favorable to us.
The Advisor will face a conflict of interest because the fees it will receive for services performed are based in
part on our NAV, which the Advisor is ultimately responsible for determining.
The Advisor will be paid a management fee for its services based on our NAV, which will be calculated by The
Bank of New York Mellon, our fund administrator, based on valuations provided by the Advisor. In addition, the
distributions to be received by the Special Limited Partner with respect to its performance participation interest in
the Operating Partnership will be based in part upon the Operating Partnership’s net assets (which is a component
of our NAV). The calculation of our NAV includes certain subjective judgments with respect to estimating, for
example, the value of our portfolio and our accrued expenses, net portfolio income and liabilities, and therefore,
our NAV may not correspond to realizable value upon a sale of those assets. The Advisor may benefit by us
retaining ownership of our assets at times when our stockholders may be better served by the sale or disposition
of our assets in order to avoid a reduction in our NAV. If our NAV is calculated in a way that is not reflective of
our actual NAV, then the purchase price of shares of our common stock or the price paid for the repurchase of a
stockholder’s shares of common stock on a given date may not accurately reflect the value of our portfolio, and
stockholders’ shares may be worth less than the purchase price or more than the repurchase price.
The Advisor’s management fee and the Special Limited Partner’s performance participation interest may not
create proper incentives or may induce the Advisor and its affiliates to make certain investments, including
speculative investments that increase the risk of our real estate portfolio.
We will pay the Advisor a management fee regardless of the performance of our portfolio. The Advisor’s
entitlement to a management fee, which is not based upon performance metrics or goals, might reduce its
incentive to devote its time and effort to seeking investments that provide attractive risk-adjusted returns for our
portfolio. We may be required to pay the Advisor a management fee in a particular period despite experiencing a
net loss or a decline in the value of our portfolio during that period.
The existence of the Special Limited Partner’s performance participation interest in our Operating Partnership,
which is based on our total distributions plus the change in NAV per share, may create an incentive for the
Advisor to make riskier or more speculative investments on our behalf than it would otherwise make in the
absence of such performance-based compensation. In addition, the change in NAV per share will be based on the
value of our investments on the applicable measurement dates and not on realized gains or losses. As a result, the
performance participation interest may receive distributions based on unrealized gains in certain assets at the
time of such distributions and such gains may not be realized when those assets are eventually disposed of.
Because the management fee and performance participation are based on our NAV, the Advisor may also be
motivated to accelerate acquisitions in order to increase NAV or, similarly, delay or curtail repurchases to
maintain a higher NAV, which would, in each case, increase amounts payable to the Advisor and the Special
Limited Partner.
Starwood Capital personnel work on other projects and conflicts may arise in the allocation of personnel
between us and other projects.
The Advisor and its affiliates will devote such time as shall be necessary to conduct our business affairs in an
appropriate manner. However, a core group of real estate professionals will devote substantially all of their
business time not only to our activities but also to the activities of several other investment vehicles and any
successor funds thereto (and their respective investments) and their related entities (which may include separate
accounts, dedicated managed accounts and investment funds formed for specific geographical areas or
investments). Consequently, conflicts are expected to arise in the allocation of personnel, and we may not receive
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the level of support and assistance that we otherwise might receive if we were internally managed. The Advisor
and its affiliates are not restricted from entering into other investment advisory relationships or from engaging in
other business activities.
Starwood Capital has implemented policies and procedures to address conflicts of interest across its various
businesses, and these policies and procedures may reduce the synergies that we expect to draw on or otherwise
reduce the opportunities available to us.
Starwood Capital and its affiliates are involved in a number of other businesses and activities, which may result
in conflicts of interest or other obligations that are disadvantageous to us. Specified policies and procedures
implemented by Starwood Capital to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory
requirements and contractual restrictions will from time to time reduce the synergies across Starwood Capital’s
various businesses that we expect to draw on for purposes of pursuing attractive investment opportunities.
Because Starwood Capital has many different asset management businesses, including a capital markets group, it
is subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest, greater regulatory oversight and subject to
more legal and contractual restrictions than that to which it would otherwise be subject if it had just one line of
business. In addressing these conflicts and regulatory, legal and contractual requirements across its various
businesses, Starwood has implemented certain policies and procedures (e.g., information walls) that reduce the
positive synergies that we expect to utilize for purposes of finding attractive investments. For example, Starwood
Capital will from time to time come into possession of material, non-public information with respect to
companies in which its private equity business may be considering making an investment or companies that are
clients of Starwood Capital. As a consequence, that information, which could be of benefit to us, might become
restricted to those respective businesses and otherwise be unavailable to us. In addition, to the extent that
Starwood Capital is in possession of material, non-public information or is otherwise restricted from trading in
certain securities, we and the Advisor, as part of Starwood Capital, generally also will be deemed to be in
possession of such information or otherwise restricted. This could reduce the investment opportunities available
to us, prevent us from exiting an investment or otherwise limit our investment flexibility. Additionally, the terms
of confidentiality or other agreements with or related to companies in which any Starwood Capital fund has or
has considered making an investment or which is otherwise a client of Starwood Capital will from time to time
restrict or otherwise limit our ability to make investments in or otherwise engage in businesses or activities
competitive with such companies. Starwood Capital may enter into one or more strategic relationships, in certain
regions or with respect to certain types of investments that, although intended to provide greater opportunities for
us, may require us to share such opportunities or otherwise limit the amount of an opportunity we can otherwise
take.
Starwood Capital and its affiliates engage in a broad spectrum of activities, including a broad range of activities
relating to investments in the real estate industry, and have invested or committed billions of dollars in capital
through various investment funds, managed accounts and other vehicles affiliated with Starwood Capital. In the
ordinary course of their business activities, Starwood Capital and its affiliates may engage in activities where the
interests of certain divisions of Starwood Capital and its affiliates, including the Advisor, or the interests of their
clients may conflict with the interests of our stockholders. Certain of these divisions and entities affiliated with
the Advisor have or may have an investment strategy similar to ours and therefore may engage in competing
activities with us. In particular, various Starwood Capital opportunistic and substantially stabilized real estate
funds and other investment vehicles seek to invest in a broad range of real estate investments.
As part of its regular business, Starwood Capital provides a broad range of investment advisory and other
businesses, which include the delivery of property management services in connection with hotel, retail and
multifamily properties. In addition, Starwood Capital and its affiliates may provide services in the future beyond
those currently provided. Our stockholders will not receive a benefit from the services provided to other
investment vehicles or share in any of the fees generated by the provision of such services. Starwood Capital may
have relationships with, render services to or engage in transactions with government agencies or issuers or
owners of securities that are, or are eligible to be, our investment opportunities. As a result, employees of
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Starwood Capital may possess information relating to such issuers that is not known to our employees or the
Advisor’s employees responsible for making investment decisions or for monitoring our investments and
performing the other obligations under the Advisory Agreement. Those employees of Starwood Capital will not
be obligated to share any such information with us or the Advisor and may be prohibited by law or contract from
doing so.
In the regular course of its investment advisory business, Starwood Capital represents potential purchasers,
sellers and other involved parties, including corporations, financial buyers, management, shareholders and
institutions, with respect to assets that are suitable for investment by us. In such a case, Starwood Capital’s client
would typically require Starwood Capital to act exclusively on its behalf, thereby precluding us from acquiring
such assets. Starwood Capital will be under no obligation to decline any such engagements in order to make the
investment opportunity available to us. In connection with its investment banking, capital markets, real estate
advisory and other businesses, Starwood Capital may determine that there are conflicts of interest or come into
possession of information that limits its ability to engage in potential real estate-related transactions. Our
activities may be constrained as a result of these conflicts of interests and Starwood Capital personnel’s inability
to use such information. For example, employees of Starwood Capital may be prohibited by law or contract from
sharing information with Starwood Capital. Additionally, there may be circumstances in which one or more
individuals associated with Starwood Capital will be precluded from providing services related to our activities
because of certain confidential information available to those individuals or to other parts of Starwood Capital.
Starwood Capital has long-term relationships with a significant number of corporations and their senior
management. In determining whether to invest in a particular transaction on our behalf, the Advisor will consider
those relationships, which may result in certain transactions that the Advisor will not undertake on our behalf in
view of such relationships. We may also co-invest with clients of Starwood Capital in particular properties, and
the relationship with such clients could influence the decisions made by the Advisor with respect to such
investments. Starwood Capital is under no obligation to decline any engagements or investments in order to
make an investment opportunity available to us. We may be forced to sell or hold existing investments as a result
of investment banking relationships or other relationships that Starwood Capital may have or transactions or
investments Starwood Capital and its affiliates may make or have made. We may also co-invest with such clients
of Starwood Capital in particular properties and the relationship with such clients could influence the decisions
made by the Advisor with respect to such investments. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that all potentially
suitable investment opportunities that come to the attention of Starwood Capital will be made available to us. See
“— To the extent that Other Starwood Accounts have similar investment objectives, we may not be allocated
certain opportunities or may share in certain opportunities in which lower relative returns may be allocated to us”
below.
Starwood Capital may from time to time participate in underwriting or lending syndicates with respect to us or
our subsidiaries or Other Starwood Accounts, or may otherwise be involved in the public offering or private
placement of debt or equity securities issued by, or loan proceeds borrowed by us, or our subsidiaries. Such
underwritings may be on a firm commitment basis or may be on an uncommitted “best efforts” basis. A
Starwood Capital broker-dealer may act as the managing underwriter or a member of the underwriting syndicate
and purchase securities from us or our subsidiaries. Starwood Capital may also, on our behalf or on behalf of
other parties to a transaction involving us, effect transactions, including transactions in the secondary markets
where it may nonetheless have a potential conflict of interest regarding us and the other parties to those
transactions to the extent it receives commissions or other compensation from us and such other parties. Subject
to applicable law, Starwood Capital may receive underwriting fees, discounts, placement commissions, loan
modification or restructuring fees, servicing (including loan servicing) fees, advisory fees, lending arrangement,
consulting, monitoring, commitment, syndication, origination, organizational, financing and divestment fees (or,
in each case, rebates of any such fees, whether in the form of purchase price discounts or otherwise, even in cases
where Starwood Capital or an Other Starwood Account or vehicle is purchasing debt) or other compensation with
respect to the foregoing activities, which are not required to be shared with us or our stockholders. Starwood
Capital may nonetheless have a potential conflict of interest regarding us and the other parties to those
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transactions to the extent it receives commissions, discounts, fees or such other compensation from such other
parties. Our independent directors will approve any transactions in which a Starwood Capital broker-dealer acts
as an underwriter, as broker for us, or as dealer, broker or advisor, on the other side of a transaction with us only
where such directors believe in good faith that such transactions are appropriate for us, and our stockholders, by
executing a Subscription Agreement for our shares, consent to all such transactions, along with the other
transactions involving conflicts of interest described herein, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Sales of
securities for our account (particularly marketable securities) may be bunched or aggregated with orders for other
accounts of Starwood Capital. It is frequently not possible to receive the same price or execution on the entire
volume of securities sold, and the various prices may be averaged, which may be disadvantageous to us. Where
Starwood Capital serves as underwriter with respect to securities held by us or any of our subsidiaries, we may be
subject to a “lock-up” period following the offering under applicable regulations during which time our ability to
sell any securities that we continue to hold is restricted. This may prejudice our ability to dispose of such
securities at an opportune time.
Present and future activities of Starwood Capital and its affiliates (including the Advisor and the Dealer
Manager) may also give rise to additional conflicts of interest relating to us and our investment activities. In the
event that any such conflict of interest arises, we will attempt to resolve such conflicts in a fair and equitable
manner. Investors should be aware that conflicts will not necessarily be resolved in favor of our interests.
Starwood engages various advisors and operating partners who may co-invest alongside us, and there can be
no assurance that such advisors and operating partners will continue to serve in such roles.
Starwood Capital engages and retains strategic advisors, consultants, senior advisors, executive advisors and
other similar professionals who are not employees or affiliates of Starwood Capital and who may, from time to
time, receive payments from, or allocations with respect to, portfolio entities (as well as from Starwood Capital
or us). In such circumstances, such payments from, or allocations with respect to, us and our underlying assets
will not, even if they have the effect of reducing any retainers or minimum amounts otherwise payable by
Starwood Capital, be deemed paid to or received by Starwood Capital. These strategic advisors, senior advisors,
consultants, executive advisors or other professionals may have the right or may be offered the ability to coinvest
alongside us, including in those investments in which they are involved, or otherwise participate in equity plans
for management of any such portfolio entity, which may have the effect of reducing the amount invested by us in
any property. Additionally, and notwithstanding the foregoing, these senior advisors, consultants and other
professionals as well as current and former chief executive officers of Starwood Capital portfolio entities, may be
(or have the preferred right to be) investors in various Starwood Capital portfolio entities or Other Starwood
Accounts. The nature of the relationship with each of the strategic advisors, consultants, executive advisors and
other professionals and the amount of time devoted or required to be devoted by them varies considerably. In
certain cases, they provide the Dealer Manager and the Advisor with industry-specific insights and feedback on
investment themes, assist in transaction due diligence, make introductions to and provide reference checks on
management teams. In other cases, they may take on more extensive roles and serve as executives or directors on
the boards of various entities or contribute to the origination of new investment opportunities. In certain instances
Starwood Capital may have formal arrangements with these senior advisors, executive advisors, consultants,
management teams for operating platforms or other professionals (which may or may not be terminable upon
notice by any party), and in other cases the relationships may be more informal. They may be compensated
(including pursuant to retainers and expense reimbursement) from Starwood Capital, us or portfolio properties or
otherwise uncompensated unless and until an engagement with a portfolio property develops. In certain cases,
they have certain attributes of Starwood Capital “employees” (e.g., they may have dedicated offices at Starwood
Capital, have a Starwood Capital email address, participate in general meetings and events for Starwood Capital
personnel, work on Starwood Capital matters as their primary or sole business activity) even though they are not
considered Starwood Capital employees, affiliates or personnel for purposes of the Dealer Manager Agreement,
Advisory Agreement or the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement. There can be no assurance that any of
the senior advisors, consultants and other professionals will continue to serve in such roles or continue their
arrangements with Starwood Capital, us and any portfolio properties.
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We may purchase assets from or sell assets to the Advisor and its affiliates, and such transactions may cause
conflicts of interest.
We may purchase assets from or sell assets to the Advisor and its affiliates or their clients. These purchases and
sales may cause conflicts of interest, including with respect to the consideration offered and the obligations of
such affiliates. The purchases and sales referred to in this paragraph will be subject to the approval of a majority
of directors (including a majority of our independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction.
Certain Other Starwood Accounts have similar or overlapping investment objectives and guidelines, and we
will not be allocated certain opportunities and may be allocated only opportunities with lower relative returns.
Through Other Starwood Accounts, Starwood Capital currently invests and plans to continue to invest third-party
capital in a wide variety of investment opportunities in the United States and globally. There will be overlap of
real property, real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities investment opportunities with certain Other
Starwood Accounts that are actively investing and similar overlap with future Other Starwood Accounts.
See “— Starwood Capital may raise or manage Other Starwood Accounts which could result in the reallocation
of Starwood Capital personnel and the direction of potential investments to such Other Starwood Accounts”
below. This overlap will from time to time create conflicts of interest. Additionally, in certain circumstances,
investment opportunities suitable for us will not be presented to us and there will be one or more investment
opportunities where our participation is restricted.
With respect to Other Starwood Accounts with investment objectives or guidelines that overlap with ours but that
do not have priority over us, investment opportunities will be allocated among us and one or more Other
Starwood Accounts in accordance with Starwood Capital’s prevailing policies and procedures on a basis that the
Advisor and its affiliates believe to be fair and reasonable in their sole discretion, which will either be rotational
or pro rata based on relative available capital, subject to the following considerations: (i) any applicable
investment objectives of ours and such other Starwood Accounts (which, for us, includes our primary objective
of providing current income in the form of regular, stable cash distributions to achieve an attractive distribution
yield); (ii) the sourcing of the transaction; (iii) the size and nature of the investment; (iv) the relative amounts of
capital available for investment by us and such Other Starwood Accounts; (v) the sector, geography/location,
expected return profile, expected distribution rates, anticipated cash flows, expected stability or volatility of cash
flows, leverage profile, risk profile, and other features of the applicable investment opportunity and its impact on
portfolio concentration and diversification; (vi) avoiding allocation that could result in de minimis or odd-lot
investments; (vii) any structural and operational differences between us and such Other Starwood Accounts and
any applicable investment limitations (including, without limitation, exposure limits, hedging limits and
diversification considerations) of us and such Other Starwood Accounts, investment limitations, parameters or
contractual provisions of ours and such Other Starwood Accounts; (viii) the eligibility of us and such Other
Starwood Accounts to make such investment under applicable laws; (ix) any other applicable tax, accounting,
legal, regulatory compliance or operational considerations deemed relevant by the Advisor and its affiliates
(including, without limitation, maintaining our qualification as a REIT and our status as a non-investment
company exempt from the Investment Company Act) (e.g., joint venture investments between us and an Other
Starwood Account must be on the same terms and satisfy the restrictions of all participants, such as lowest
leverage targeted by any participant); and (x) any other requirements contained in the corporate governance
documents of us and such Other Starwood Accounts and any other considerations deemed relevant by the
Advisor, Starwood Capital and their affiliates in good faith. Our board of directors (including our independent
directors) has the duty to ensure that the allocation methodology described above is applied fairly to us.
Currently, one Other Starwood Account invests in stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate in the
United States, although its portfolio is currently limited to four shopping malls in the United States and it has
completed its investment activity. As of December 31, 2017, this Other Starwood Account had approximately
$1.0 billion of gross assets under management (includes 100% of property value if controlled by the fund and its
affiliates, otherwise shown as the fund’s proportionate share of property value).
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Additionally, one Other Starwood Account, a separate account of approximately $303 million, invests primarily
in stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate in the United States and Western Europe. This Other
Starwood Account’s portfolio currently consists of one hotel property in the United States and three office
buildings in Western Europe. To the extent an investment satisfies the investment objectives of us and such Other
Starwood Account on the same terms, such investment will be allocated in accordance with the investment
allocation policy described above; provided, however, that such Other Starwood Account generally will not
participate in co-investments. As of December 31, 2017, the foregoing Other Starwood Account had
approximately $163.9 million of unused capital commitments.
Furthermore, one Other Starwood Account, Starwood Property Trust, focuses primarily on originating, acquiring,
financing and managing commercial mortgage loans, other commercial real estate debt investments and CMBS
in both the United States and Europe. Starwood Property Trust has priority over us with respect to real estate
related debt investment opportunities. This priority will result in fewer real estate-related debt investment
opportunities being made available to us.
In addition, in its property segment, Starwood Property Trust acquires (i) commercial properties subject to net
leases and other similar equity investments that have the characteristics of real estate debt investments, or “debt
like equity investments” and (ii) equity interests in stabilized commercial real estate properties. As of
December 31, 2017, Starwood Property Trust’s portfolio (excluding the investing and servicing VIE’s segment)
consisted of approximately $12.9 billion of assets (including approximately $2.6 billion in owned real estate). To
the extent that Starwood Property Trust seeks to invest in real estate equity investments, (i) Starwood Property
Trust will have a priority over us with respect to debt-like equity investments, and (ii) we will have a priority
over Starwood Property Trust with respect to any other real estate equity investments (single asset or portfolio
acquisitions) where the total acquisition cost is less than or equal to $300 million. All other real estate equity
investments in which Starwood Property Trust may invest will be allocated in accordance with the investment
allocation policy described above.
One Other Starwood Account, SEREF, focuses on originating, executing and servicing commercial real estate
loans for institutional investors throughout Europe. SEREF has priority over us with respect to debt investment
opportunities related to European real estate. We do not expect to target the same commercial real estate loans as
SEREF, but to the extent that we do, SEREF’s priority will result in fewer investment opportunities related to
European real estate debt being made available to us.
Finally, the Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts invest in “opportunistic” real estate, real estate-related debt
and real estate-related securities globally (which often are under-managed assets and with higher potential for
equity appreciation) and have priority over us with respect to such investment opportunities. As of December 31,
2017, there were two Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts that had priority over us. These two Select
Opportunistic Starwood Accounts had an aggregate of $7.7 billion of unused investing capacity. The priority
granted to these Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts will result in fewer investment opportunities being
made available to us. These two Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts, which were not fully invested as of
December 31, 2017, had an aggregate of $23.7 billion of gross assets under management (includes 100% of
property value if controlled by the fund and its affiliates, otherwise shown as the fund’s proportionate share of
property value). Other than (i) the priority granted to Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts, (ii) the priority
granted to Starwood Property Trust with respect to real estate-related debt and debt-like equity investments and
(iii) the priority granted to SEREF with respect to debt investment opportunities related to European real estate,
no Other Starwood Accounts have priority over us with respect to investment opportunities. However, Starwood
Capital may in the future grant priority to additional Other Starwood Accounts.
While the Advisor will seek to manage potential conflicts of interest in a fair and reasonable manner (subject to
the priority rights of the Starwood Property Trust and Select Opportunistic Starwood Accounts described above)
as required pursuant to our charter and the Advisory Agreement, the portfolio strategies employed by the
Advisor, Starwood Capital or their affiliates in managing the Other Starwood Accounts could conflict with the
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strategies employed by the Advisor in managing our business and may adversely affect the marketability, exit
strategy, prices and availability of the properties, securities and instruments in which we invest. The Advisor,
Starwood Capital or their affiliates may also give advice to the Other Starwood Accounts that may differ from
advice given to us even though their investment objectives or guidelines may be the same or similar to ours.
The amount of performance-based compensation charged and management fees paid by us may be less than or
exceed the amount of performance-based compensation charged or management fees paid by Other Starwood
Accounts. Such variation may create an incentive for Starwood Capital to allocate a greater percentage of an
investment opportunity to us or such Other Starwood Accounts, as the case may be.
Our board of directors has adopted a resolution that renounces our interest or expectancy with respect to
business opportunities and competitive activities.
Our board of directors has adopted a resolution that renounces our interest or expectancy in, or in being offered
an opportunity to participate in, business opportunities, and provides that none of Starwood Capital or its
affiliates, our directors or any person our directors control must refrain from competing with us or present to us
such business opportunities except under certain limited circumstances. Under this resolution Starwood Capital
and its affiliates and our directors or any person our directors control would not be obligated to present to us
opportunities unless those opportunities are expressly offered to such person in his or her capacity as a director or
officer and intended exclusively for us or any of our subsidiaries, and those persons will be able to engage in
competing activities without any restriction imposed as a result of Starwood Capital’s or its affiliates’ status as a
stockholder or Starwood Capital’s affiliates’ status as our officers or directors.
We may co-invest with Starwood Capital affiliates in real estate-related debt or real estate-related securities
and such investments may be in different parts of the capital structure of an issuer and may otherwise involve
conflicts of interest. When we hold investments in which Other Starwood Accounts have a different principal
investment, conflicts of interest may arise between us and Other Starwood Accounts, and the Advisor may take
actions that are adverse to us.
We may co-invest with Other Starwood Accounts in investments that are suitable for both us and such Other
Starwood Accounts. We and the Other Starwood Accounts may make or hold investments at different levels of
an issuer’s capital structure, which may include us making one or more investments directly or indirectly relating
to portfolio entities of Other Starwood Accounts and vice versa. To the extent we hold interests that are different
(including with respect to their relative seniority) than those held by such Other Starwood Accounts, the Advisor
and its affiliates may be presented with decisions when our interests and the interests of the Other Starwood
Accounts are in conflict. In order to mitigate any such conflicts of interest, we may recuse ourselves from
participating in any decisions relating or with respect to such securities held by such Other Starwood Accounts
(notwithstanding that if such Other Starwood Accounts maintain voting rights with respect to the securities they
hold) or, if we do not recuse ourselves, Starwood Capital may be required to take action where it will have
conflicting loyalties between its duties to us and to such Other Starwood Accounts, which may adversely impact
us.
Other Starwood Accounts may also participate in a separate tranche of a financing with respect to an issuer/
borrower in which we have an interest or otherwise in different classes of such issuer’s securities. In connection
with negotiating loans and bank financings in respect of our real estate-related transactions, from time to time
Starwood Capital will obtain the right to participate on its own behalf in a portion of the financings with respect
to such transactions. If we make or have an investment in a property in which an Other Starwood Account has a
mezzanine or other debt investment, Starwood Capital may have conflicting loyalties between its duties to us and
to other affiliates. Such investments may inherently give rise to conflicts of interest or perceived conflicts of
interest between or among the various classes of securities that may be held by such entities. To the extent we
hold an equity interest or an interest in a loan or debt security that is different (including with respect to their
relative seniority) than those held by such Other Starwood Accounts, the Advisor and its affiliates may have
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limited or no rights with respect to decisions when our interests and the interests of the Other Starwood Accounts
are in conflict, and Starwood Capital may have conflicting loyalties between its duties to us and to other
affiliates. In that regard, actions may be taken for the Other Starwood Accounts that are adverse to us. There can
be no assurance that any such conflict will be resolved in our favor and Starwood Capital may be required to take
action where it will have conflicting loyalties between its duties to us and to Other Starwood Accounts, which
may adversely impact us.
In addition, conflicts may arise in determining the amount of an investment, if any, to be allocated among
potential investors and the respective terms thereof. There can be no assurance that the return on our investment
will be equivalent to or better than the returns obtained by the other affiliates participating in the transaction. In
addition, it is possible that in a bankruptcy proceeding our interest may be subordinated or otherwise adversely
affected by virtue of such Other Starwood Accounts’ involvement and actions relating to its investment.
We may enter into joint ventures and other shared assets which will involve risks and conflicts of interests.
We and any Other Starwood Accounts may invest in shared assets typically through the formation of joint
ventures that we and such fund control equally. Such joint venture investments will involve risks and conflicts of
interests. See “— Risks Related Investments in Real Estate — We may make a substantial amount of joint
venture investments, including with Starwood affiliates. Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by
our lack of sole decision-making authority, our reliance on the financial condition of our joint venture partners
and disputes between us and our joint venture partners.”
Starwood may structure certain investments such that Starwood will face conflicting fiduciary duties to us and
certain debt funds.
It is expected that Starwood will structure certain investments such that one or more mezzanine or other
investment funds, structured vehicles or other collective investment vehicles primarily investing in senior secured
loans, distressed debt, subordinated debt, high-yield securities, CMBS and other similar debt instruments
managed by affiliates of Starwood Capital (collectively, “Debt Funds”) are offered the opportunity to participate
in the debt tranche of an investment allocated to us. The Advisor and its affiliates owe fiduciary duties to the
Debt Funds as well as to us. If the Debt Funds purchase high-yield securities or other debt instruments related to
a property or real estate company that we hold an investment in (or if we make or have an investment in or,
through the purchase of debt obligations become a lender to, a company or property in which a Debt Fund or an
Other Starwood Account or another Starwood Capital real estate fund or vehicle has a mezzanine or other debt
investment), the Advisor and its affiliates will face a conflict of interest in respect of the advice given to, or the
decisions made with regard to, the Debt Funds, such Other Starwood Accounts and us (e.g., with respect to the
terms of such high-yield securities or other debt instruments, the enforcement of covenants, the terms of
recapitalizations and the resolution of workouts or bankruptcies).
Starwood Capital may raise or manage Other Starwood Accounts which could result in the reallocation of
Starwood Capital personnel and the direction of potential investments to such Other Starwood Accounts.
Starwood Capital reserves the right to raise and manage Other Starwood Accounts, including opportunistic and
stabilized and substantially stabilized real estate funds or separate accounts, dedicated managed accounts,
investments suitable for lower risk, lower return funds or higher risk, higher return funds, real estate debt
obligation and trading investment vehicles, real estate funds primarily making investments in a single sector of
the real estate investment space (e.g., office, industrial, retail or multifamily) or making non-controlling
investments in public and private debt and equity securities or investment funds that may have the same or
similar investment objectives or guidelines as us, investment funds formed for specific geographical areas or
investments, including those raised by us and one or more managed accounts (or other similar arrangements
structured through an entity) for the benefit of one or more specific investors (or related group of investors)
which, in each case, may have investment objectives or guidelines that overlap with ours. See “— Certain Other
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Starwood Accounts have similar or overlapping investment objectives and guidelines, and we will not be
allocated certain opportunities and may be allocated only opportunities with lower relative returns.” In particular,
we expect that there will be overlap of real property, real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities
investment opportunities with certain Other Starwood Accounts that are actively investing and similar overlap
with future Other Starwood Accounts. The closing of an Other Starwood Account could result in the reallocation
of Starwood Capital personnel, including reallocation of existing real estate professionals, to such Other
Starwood Account. In addition, potential investments that may be suitable for us may be directed toward such
Other Starwood Account.
Starwood Capital’s potential involvement in financing a third party’s purchase of assets from us could lead to
potential or actual conflicts of interest.
We may from time to time dispose of all or a portion of an investment by way of a third-party purchaser’s bid
where Starwood Capital or one or more Other Starwood Accounts is providing financing as part of such bid or
acquisition of the investment or underlying assets thereof. This may include the circumstance where Starwood
Capital or one or more Other Starwood Accounts is making commitments to provide financing at or prior to the
time such third-party purchaser commits to purchase such investments or assets from us. Such involvement of
Starwood Capital or one or more Other Starwood Accounts as such a provider of debt financing in connection
with the potential acquisition of portfolio investments by third parties from us may give rise to potential or actual
conflicts of interest.
Disputes between Starwood Capital and our joint venture partners who have pre-existing investments with
Starwood Capital may affect our investments relating thereto.
Some of the third-party operators and joint venture partners with which the Advisor may elect to co-invest our
capital may have pre-existing investments with Starwood Capital. The terms of these pre-existing investments
may differ from the terms upon which we invest with such operators and partners. To the extent a dispute arises
between Starwood Capital and such operators and partners, our investments relating thereto may be affected.
Certain principals and employees may be involved in and have a greater financial interest in the performance
of other Starwood Capital funds or accounts, and such activities may create conflicts of interest in making
investment decisions on our behalf.
Certain of the principals and employees of the Advisor and the Dealer Manager may be subject to a variety of
conflicts of interest relating to their responsibilities to us and the management of our real estate portfolio. Such
individuals may serve in an advisory capacity to other managed accounts or investment vehicles, as members of
an investment or advisory committee or a board of directors (or similar such capacity) for one or more
investment funds, corporations, foundations or other organizations. Such positions may create a conflict between
the services and advice provided to such entities and the responsibilities owed to us. The other managed accounts
and investment funds in which such individuals may become involved may have investment objectives that
overlap with ours. Furthermore, certain principals and employees of the Advisor may have a greater financial
interest in the performance of such other funds or accounts than our performance. Such involvement may create
conflicts of interest in making investments on our behalf and such other funds and accounts. Such principals and
employees will seek to limit any such conflicts in a manner that is in accordance with their fiduciary duties to us
and such organizations.
The Advisor may face conflicts of interests in choosing our service providers and certain service providers may
provide services to the Dealer Manager, the Advisor or Starwood Capital on more favorable terms than those
payable by us.
Certain advisors and other service providers or their affiliates (including accountants, administrators, lenders,
bankers, brokers, attorneys, consultants, title agents, property managers and investment or commercial banking
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firms) that provide goods or services to us, Starwood Capital or certain entities in which we have an investment
may also provide goods or services to or have business, personal, financial or other relationships with Starwood
Capital and its other businesses. Such advisors and service providers may be investors in us, affiliates of the
Dealer Manager or the Advisor, sources of investment opportunities or co-investors or commercial counterparties
or entities in which Starwood Capital or Other Starwood Accounts have an investment, and payments by us may
indirectly benefit Starwood Capital or such Other Starwood Accounts. Additionally, certain employees of the
Advisor may have family members or relatives employed by such advisors and service providers. The Advisor or
its affiliates may also provide administrative services to us. These relationships may influence us, Starwood
Capital and the Advisor in deciding whether to select or recommend such a service provider to perform services
for us or a portfolio property (the cost of which will generally be borne directly or indirectly by us or such
portfolio property, as applicable).
It is expected that certain Starwood Capital affiliates will also provide other services in respect of our
investments from time to time, including, but not limited to, property management services, leasing services
oversight and administrative corporate services. Employees of these affiliates may also receive performance
based compensation in respect of our investments. The fees and expenses of such Starwood Capital-affiliated
service providers (and, if applicable, their employees) will be borne by our investments and there will be no
related offset to the management fee we pay to the Advisor. While Starwood Capital believes that any such
affiliated service providers, when engaged, generally provide (or will provide) services at rates equal to or better
than those provided by third parties (even in jurisdictions where insurance rates are statutorily determined), there
is an inherent conflict of interest that may incentivize Starwood Capital to engage its affiliated service provider
over a third party.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, transactions relating to our real estate-related debt and real estate-related
securities that require the use of a service provider generally will be allocated to service providers on the basis of
best execution, the evaluation of which includes, among other considerations, such service provider’s provision
of certain investment-related services and research that the Advisor believes to be of benefit to us. Service
providers or their affiliates often charge different rates or have different arrangements for different types of
services. With respect to service providers, for example, the fee for a given type of work may vary depending on
the complexity of the matter as well as the expertise required and demands placed on the service provider.
Therefore, to the extent the types of services used by us are different from those used by Starwood Capital and its
affiliates, the Advisor or its affiliates may pay different amounts or rates than those paid by us. However, the
Advisor and its affiliates have a longstanding practice of not entering into any arrangements with service
providers that could provide for lower rates or discounts than those available to us, or other Starwood Capital
investment vehicles for the same services.
The Advisor may face conflicts of interest related to tenants.
Certain properties owned by us or an Other Starwood Account may be leased out to tenants that are affiliates of
Starwood Capital, including but not limited to Other Starwood Accounts and their respective portfolio
companies, which would give rise to a conflict of interest. In such events, the Advisor will endeavor to ensure
that such conflicts are resolved in a fair and equitable manner, subject to applicable oversight of our board of
directors.
The personnel of the Dealer Manager and the Advisor may trade in securities for their own accounts, subject
to restrictions applicable to Starwood Capital personnel.
The officers, directors, members, managers and employees of the Dealer Manager and the Advisor may trade in
securities for their own accounts, subject to restrictions and reporting requirements as may be required by law
and Starwood Capital policies, or otherwise determined from time to time by the Dealer Manager or the Advisor.
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We expect to have a diverse stockholder group and the interests of our stockholders may conflict with one
another and may conflict with the interests of investors in other vehicles that we co-invest with.
Our stockholders may have conflicting investment, tax and other interests with respect to their investments in us
and with respect to the interests of investors in other investment vehicles managed or advised by the Advisor or
its affiliates that may participate in the same investments as us. The conflicting interests of individual
stockholders with respect to other stockholders and relative to investors in other investment vehicles may relate
to or arise from, among other things, the nature of investments made by us and such other vehicles, the
structuring or the acquisition of investments and the timing of disposition of investments and such other vehicles.
As a consequence, conflicts of interest may arise in connection with decisions made by the Advisor, including
with respect to the nature or structuring of investments, which may be more beneficial for one stockholder than
for another stockholder, especially with respect to stockholders’ individual tax situations. In addition, we may
make investments that may have a negative impact on related investments made by the stockholders in separate
transactions. In selecting and structuring investments appropriate for us, the Advisor considers the investment
and tax objectives of us (including our qualification as a REIT) and our stockholders (and those of investors in
other investment vehicles managed or advised by the Advisor or its affiliate) as a whole, not the investment, tax
or other objectives of any stockholders individually.
Risks Related to our REIT Status and Certain Other Tax Items
If we do not qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to tax as a regular corporation and could face a substantial
tax liability.
We expect to qualify as a REIT under the Code. However, qualification as a REIT involves the application of
highly technical and complex Code provisions for which only a limited number of judicial or administrative
interpretations exist. Notwithstanding the availability of cure provisions in the Code, various compliance
requirements could be failed and could jeopardize our REIT status. Furthermore, new tax legislation,
administrative guidance or court decisions, in each instance potentially with retroactive effect, could make it
more difficult or impossible for us to qualify as a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any tax year, then:
•

we would be taxed as a regular domestic corporation, which under current laws would result in, among
other things, being subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax
rates without being able to deduct dividends distributed to stockholders in computing taxable income;

•

any resulting tax liability could be substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our book
value;

•

unless we were entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions, we would be required to pay
taxes, and thus, our cash available for distribution to stockholders would be reduced for each of the
years during which we did not qualify as a REIT and for which we had taxable income; and

•

we generally would not be eligible to requalify as a REIT for the subsequent four full taxable years.

To maintain our REIT status, we may have to borrow funds on a short-term basis during unfavorable market
conditions.
To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute annually to our stockholders at least 90% of our net taxable
income, determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and excluding net capital gains. We will be
subject to regular corporate income taxes on any undistributed REIT taxable income each year, including net
capital gains. Additionally, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which
distributions paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our
capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from previous years. Payments we make to our
stockholders under our share repurchase plan will not be taken into account for purposes of these distribution
requirements. If we do not have sufficient cash to make distributions necessary to preserve our REIT status for
any year or to avoid taxation, we may be forced to borrow funds or sell assets even if the market conditions at
that time are not favorable for borrowings or sales.
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Compliance with REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities, which may
hinder or delay our ability to meet our investment objectives and reduce overall returns to stockholders.
To qualify as a REIT, we are required at all times to satisfy tests relating to, among other things, the sources of
our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the ownership of our stock and the amounts we distribute
to our stockholders. Compliance with the REIT requirements may impair our ability to operate solely on the basis
of maximizing profits. For example, we may be required to make distributions to stockholders at
disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution.
Compliance with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
To qualify as a REIT, at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of our assets must consist of cash, cash
items, government securities and qualified real estate assets. The remainder of our investments in securities
(other than qualified real estate assets and government securities) generally cannot include more than 10% of the
voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10% of the value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer
unless we and such issuer jointly elect for such issuer to be treated as a “taxable REIT subsidiary” under the
Code. Additionally, no more than 5% of the value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified
real estate assets) can consist of the securities of any one issuer, no more than 20% of the value of our assets may
be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries and no more than 25% of our assets may
be represented by “nonqualified publicly offered REIT debt instruments.” If we fail to comply with these
requirements, we must dispose of a portion of our assets within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter in
order to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences. In order to satisfy these
requirements, we may be forced to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
Our charter will not permit any person or group to own more than 9.8% of our outstanding common stock or
of our outstanding capital stock of all classes or series, and attempts to acquire our common stock or our
capital stock of all other classes or series in excess of these 9.8% limits would not be effective without an
exemption from these limits by our board of directors.
In order to qualify as a REIT under the Code, not more than 50% of the value of the outstanding shares of our
stock may be owned directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain
entities) at any time during the last half of each taxable year after the first year for which we elect to qualify as a
REIT. Our charter will prohibit beneficial or constructive ownership by any person or group of more than a
certain percentage, which is expected to be 9.8%, in value or by number of shares, whichever is more restrictive,
of the outstanding shares of our outstanding common stock or 9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is
more restrictive, of our outstanding capital stock of all classes or series, which we refer to as the “ownership
limit.” The constructive ownership rules under the Code and our charter are complex and may cause shares of our
stock owned by a group of related persons to be deemed to be constructively owned by one person. As a result,
the acquisition of less than 9.8% of the outstanding shares of our common stock or our capital stock by a person
could cause another person to own constructively in excess of 9.8% of the outstanding shares of our common
stock or our capital stock, respectively, and thus violate the ownership limit. There can be no assurance that our
board of directors, as permitted in the charter, will not decrease this ownership limit in the future. Any attempt to
own or transfer shares of our common stock or capital stock in excess of the ownership limit without the consent
of our board of directors will result either in the shares in excess of the limit being transferred by operation of the
charter to a charitable trust, and the person who attempted to acquire such excess shares will not have any rights
in such excess shares, or in the transfer being void.
The ownership limit may have the effect of precluding a change in control of us by a third party, even if such
change in control would be in the best interests of our stockholders or would result in receipt of a premium to the
price of our common stock (and even if such change in control would not reasonably jeopardize our REIT status).
The exemptions to the ownership limit granted to date may limit our board of directors’ power to increase the
ownership limit or grant further exemptions in the future.
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Non-U.S. holders may be subject to U.S. federal income tax upon their receipt of certain distributions from us
or upon their disposition of shares of our common stock.
In addition to any potential withholding tax on ordinary dividends, a non-U.S. holder (a “non-U.S. holder” is a
beneficial owner of our common stock that is neither a U.S. holder nor a partnership (or an entity treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes)), other than a “qualified shareholder” or a “qualified foreign
pension fund,” that disposes of a “U.S. real property interest” (“USRPI”) (which includes shares of stock of a
U.S. corporation whose assets consist principally of USRPIs), or that receives a distribution from a REIT that is
attributable to gains from such a disposition, is generally subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Foreign
Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, as amended (“FIRPTA”), on the gain from (or, in the case of a
distribution, to the extent attributable to gains from) such disposition. Such tax does not apply, however, to the
disposition of stock in a REIT that is “domestically controlled.” Generally, a REIT is domestically controlled if
less than 50% of its stock, by value, has been owned directly or indirectly by non-U.S. persons during a
continuous five-year period ending on the date of disposition or, if shorter, during the entire period of the REIT’s
existence. We cannot assure our stockholders that we will qualify as a domestically controlled REIT. If we were
to fail to so qualify, amounts received by a non-U.S. holder on certain dispositions of shares of our common
stock would be subject to tax under FIRPTA, unless (i) our shares of common stock were regularly traded on an
established securities market and (ii) the non-U.S. holder did not, at any time during a specified testing period,
hold more than 10% of our common stock. Furthermore, distributions by us that are attributable to gains from our
dispositions of USRPI will be subject to tax under FIRPTA unless the conditions in clauses (i) and (ii) of the
immediately preceding sentence are satisfied, subject to certain exceptions.
Investments outside the United States may subject us to additional taxes and could present additional
complications to our ability to satisfy the REIT qualification requirements.
Non-U.S. investments may subject us to various non-U.S. tax liabilities, including withholding taxes. In addition,
operating in functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar and in environments in which real estate transactions
are typically structured differently than they are in the United States or are subject to different legal rules may
present complications to our ability to structure non-U.S. investments in a manner that enables us to satisfy the
REIT qualification requirements.
We may incur tax liabilities that would reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders.
Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may become subject to U.S. federal income taxes and
related state and local taxes. For example, net income from the sale of properties that are “dealer” properties sold
by a REIT (a “prohibited transaction” under the Code) will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not make sufficient
distributions to avoid income and excise taxes applicable to REITs with respect to undistributed income.
Similarly, if we were to fail either gross income test (and did not lose our REIT status because such failure was
due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect) we would be subject to tax on the income that does not meet the
gross income test requirements. We also may decide to retain net capital gain we earn from the sale or other
disposition of our investments and pay income tax directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would
be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it that we paid. However, stockholders that are
tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment of
such tax liability unless they file U.S. federal income tax returns and thereon seek a refund of such tax. We also
may be subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, including franchise, payroll, mortgage
recording and transfer taxes, either directly or at the level of the other companies through which we indirectly
own our assets, such as our taxable REIT subsidiaries, which are subject to full U.S. federal, state, local and
foreign corporate-level income taxes. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will reduce our cash available for
distribution to stockholders.
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Our board of directors is authorized to revoke our REIT election without stockholder approval, which may
cause adverse consequences to our stockholders.
Our charter authorizes our board of directors to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the
approval of our stockholders, if it determines that changes to U.S. federal income tax laws and regulations or
other considerations mean it is no longer in our best interests to qualify as a REIT. Our board of directors has
fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax treatment if it
determines in good faith that such changes are in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders.
In this event, we would become subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income, and we would no
longer be required to distribute most of our net income to our stockholders, which may cause a reduction in the
total return to our stockholders.
Stockholders may have current tax liability on distributions that they elect to reinvest in our common stock.
If stockholders participate in our distribution reinvestment plan, they will be deemed to have received, and for
U.S. federal income tax purposes will be taxed on, the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the
extent the amount reinvested was not a tax-free return of capital. Therefore, unless a stockholder is a tax-exempt
entity, a stockholder may be forced to use funds from other sources to pay such stockholder’s tax liability on the
reinvested dividends.
We may choose to pay dividends in a combination of cash and our own common stock, in which case
stockholders may be required to pay income taxes in excess of the cash dividends they receive.
We may choose to pay dividends in a combination of cash and our own common stock. Under IRS Revenue
Procedure 2017-45, as a publicly offered REIT, we may give stockholders a choice, subject to various limits and
requirements, of receiving a dividend in cash or in our common stock. As long as at least 20% of the total
dividend is available in cash and certain other requirements are satisfied, the IRS will treat the stock distribution
as a dividend (to the extent applicable rules treat such distribution as being made out of our earnings and profits).
As a result, U.S. stockholders may be required to pay income taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of
the cash dividends they receive. In the case of non-U.S. stockholders, we generally will be required to withhold
tax with respect to the entire dividend, which withholding tax may exceed the amount of cash such non-U.S.
stockholder would otherwise receive.
Ordinary dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for reduced U.S. federal income tax rates.
The maximum tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income payable to certain non-corporate U.S.
stockholders, including individuals, is currently 20%. Dividends paid by REITs, however, generally are not
eligible for the reduced rates. REIT dividends that are not designated as qualified dividends or capital gain
dividends are taxable as ordinary income. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before
January 1, 2026, the top federal income tax rate for individuals is 37% and individuals are entitled to deduct an
amount equal to 20% of ordinary dividends received, for a top effective rate on ordinary dividends of 29.6%. The
more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could cause certain non-corporate
investors to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of
non-REIT corporations that pay dividends.
Legislative, regulatory or administrative changes could be enacted or promulgated at any time, either
prospectively or with retroactive effect, and may adversely affect us, our stockholders or our borrowers.
On December 22, 2017, tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law,
generally applying in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act makes
significant changes to the U.S. federal income tax rules for taxation of individuals and corporations. In the case
of individuals, the income tax brackets are adjusted, the top federal income rate is reduced to 37%, special rules
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reduce taxation of certain income earned through pass-through entities and reduce the top effective rate
applicable to ordinary dividends from REITs to 29.6% (through a 20% deduction for ordinary REIT dividends
received in combination with the 37% top rate) and various deductions are eliminated or limited, including
limiting the deduction for state and local taxes to $10,000 per year. Most of the changes applicable to individuals
are temporary and apply only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2026.
The corporate income tax rate is reduced to 21%. There are new expensing and depreciation rules and new rules
limiting interest deductions, net operating losses and “excess business losses.”
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act makes numerous other large and small changes to the tax rules that may affect our
stockholders and may directly or indirectly affect us. While the changes in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act generally
appear to be favorable with respect to REITs, the extensive changes to non-REIT provisions in the Code may
have unanticipated effects on us or our stockholders. Moreover, the process of adopting extensive tax legislation
in a short amount of time without hearings and substantial time for review is likely to have led to drafting errors,
issues needing clarification and unintended consequences that will have to be revisited in subsequent tax
legislation. At this point, it is not clear if or when Congress will address these issues or when the Internal
Revenue Service will issue administrative guidance on the changes made in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.
Prospective stockholders are urged to consult with their tax advisors with respect to the impact of the Tax Cuts
and Jobs Act and any other regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on
investment in our common stock.
The failure of a mezzanine loan to qualify as a real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to qualify as
a REIT.
We may acquire mezzanine loans. The IRS has provided a safe harbor, but not rules of substantive law, under
which a mezzanine loan that meets certain requirements will be treated by the IRS as a real estate asset for
purposes of the REIT asset tests, and interest derived from the mezzanine loan will be treated as qualifying
mortgage interest for purposes of the REIT 75% gross income test. We may acquire mezzanine loans that do not
meet all of the requirements of this safe harbor. In the event we own a mezzanine loan that does not meet the safe
harbor, the IRS could challenge such loan’s treatment as a real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset and
gross income tests and, if such a challenge were sustained, we could fail to qualify as a REIT.
If our Operating Partnership failed to qualify as a partnership or is not otherwise disregarded for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, we would cease to qualify as a REIT.
If the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of our Operating Partnership as a partnership or disregarded
entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it would be taxable as a corporation. In the event that this occurs, it
would reduce the amount of distributions that our Operating Partnership could make to us. This would also result
in our failing to qualify as a REIT and becoming subject to a corporate-level tax on our income, which would
substantially reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the yield on a stockholder’s investment.
Our taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to special rules that may result in increased taxes.
We may conduct certain activities or invest in assets through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. A taxable
REIT subsidiary is a corporation other than a REIT in which a REIT directly or indirectly holds stock and that
has made a joint election with such REIT to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary. Other than some activities
relating to hotel and health care properties, a taxable REIT subsidiary may generally engage in any business,
including the provision of customary or non-customary services to tenants of its parent REIT. A domestic taxable
REIT subsidiary is subject to U.S. federal income tax as a regular C corporation.
No more than 20% of the value of a REIT’s total assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more taxable
REIT subsidiaries. This requirement limits the extent to which we can conduct our activities through taxable
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REIT subsidiaries. The values of some of our assets, including assets that we hold through taxable REIT
subsidiaries, may not be subject to precise determination, and values are subject to change in the future. In
addition, as a REIT, we must pay a 100% penalty tax on certain payments that we receive if the economic
arrangements between us and any of our taxable REIT subsidiaries are not comparable to similar arrangements
between unrelated parties. We intend to structure transactions with any taxable REIT subsidiary on terms that we
believe are arm’s length to avoid incurring the 100% excise tax described above: however, the IRS may
successfully assert that the economic arrangements of any of our intercompany transactions are not comparable
to similar arrangements between unrelated parties.
Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax
liabilities.
The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations. Under these
provisions, any income that we generate from hedging transactions will be excluded from gross income for
purposes of the 75% and 95% REIT gross income tests if: (i) the instrument (A) hedges interest rate risk or
foreign currency exposure on liabilities used to carry or acquire real estate assets, (B) hedges risk of currency
fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95%
gross income tests or (C) hedges a position entered into pursuant to clause (A) or (B) after the extinguishment of
such liability or disposition of the asset producing such income; and (ii) such instrument is properly identified
under applicable Treasury Regulations. Income from hedging transactions that do not meet these requirements
will generally constitute non-qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests. As a
result of these rules, we may have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous or
implement those hedges through a taxable REIT subsidiary. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities
because our taxable REIT subsidiary would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated
with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in our taxable REIT
subsidiary will generally not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward against future taxable
income in the taxable REIT subsidiary.
The “taxable mortgage pool” rules may increase the taxes that we or our stockholders may incur, and may
limit the manner in which we effect future securitizations.
Securitizations could result in the creation of taxable mortgage pools for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a
REIT, so long as we own 100% of the equity interests in a taxable mortgage pool, we generally would not be
adversely affected by the characterization of the securitization as a taxable mortgage pool. Certain categories of
stockholders, however, such as foreign stockholders eligible for treaty or other benefits, stockholders with net
operating losses, and certain tax-exempt stockholders that are subject to unrelated business income tax, could be
subject to increased taxes on a portion of their dividend income from us that is attributable to the taxable
mortgage pool. In addition, to the extent that our stock is owned by tax-exempt “disqualified organizations,” such
as certain government-related entities and charitable remainder trusts that are not subject to tax on unrelated
business income, we may incur a corporate level tax on a portion of our income from the taxable mortgage pool.
In that case, we may reduce the amount of our distributions to any disqualified organization whose stock
ownership gave rise to the tax. Moreover, we would be precluded from selling equity interests in these
securitizations to outside investors, or selling any debt securities issued in connection with these securitizations
that might be considered to be equity interests for tax purposes. These limitations may prevent us from using
certain techniques to maximize our returns from securitization transactions.
Our investments in construction loans may require us to make estimates about the fair value of land
improvements that may be challenged by the IRS.
We may invest in construction loans, the interest from which will be qualifying income for purposes of the REIT
gross income tests, provided that the loan value of the real property securing the construction loan is equal to or
greater than the highest outstanding principal amount of the construction loan during any taxable year. For
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purposes of construction loans, the loan value of the real property is the fair value of the land plus the reasonably
estimated cost of the improvements or developments (other than personal property) that secure the loan and that
are to be constructed from the proceeds of the loan. There can be no assurance that the IRS would not challenge
our estimate of the loan value of the real property.
Retirement Plan Risks
If the fiduciary of an employee benefit plan subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
as amended (“ERISA”), fails to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA, the Code or common
law as a result of an investment in our stock, the fiduciary could be subject to civil penalties.
There are special considerations that apply to investing in our shares on behalf of a trust, pension, profit sharing
or 401(k) plans, health or welfare plans, trusts, individual retirement accounts (“IRAs”) or Keogh plans. Persons
who are investing the assets of any of the entities identified in the prior sentence in our common stock, should
satisfy themselves that:
•

the investment is consistent with such Person’s fiduciary obligations under applicable law, including
common law, ERISA and the Code;

•

the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the trust, plan or
IRA, including a plan’s investment policy;

•

the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and
404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code;

•

the investment will not impair the liquidity of the trust, plan or IRA;

•

the investment will not produce “unrelated business taxable income” for the plan or IRA;

•

our stockholders will be able to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA
requirements and applicable provisions of the plan or IRA; and

•

the investment will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under Title I of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code.

Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA, the Code, or
other applicable statutory or common law may result in the imposition of civil penalties, and can subject the
fiduciary to equitable remedies. In addition, if an investment in our shares constitutes a non-exempt prohibited
transaction under Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, the fiduciary that authorized or directed the
investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the amount invested.
If our assets at any time are deemed to constitute “plan assets” under ERISA, that may lead to the rescission
of certain transactions, tax or fiduciary liability and our being held in violation of certain ERISA and Code
requirements.
Stockholders subject to ERISA should consult their own advisors as to the effect of ERISA on an investment in
the shares. As discussed under “Certain ERISA Considerations,” if our assets are deemed to constitute “plan
assets” of stockholders that are ERISA Plans (as defined below) (i) certain transactions that we might enter into
in the ordinary course of our business might have to be rescinded and may give rise to certain excise taxes and
fiduciary liability under Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code; (ii) our management, as well as various
providers of fiduciary or other services to us (including the Advisor), and any other parties with authority or
control with respect to us or our assets, may be considered fiduciaries or otherwise parties in interest or
disqualified persons for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of Title I of
ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code; and (iii) the fiduciaries of stockholders that are ERISA Plans would not be
protected from “co-fiduciary liability” resulting from our decisions and could be in violation of certain ERISA
requirements.
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Accordingly, prospective investors that are (i) “employee benefit plans” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of
ERISA), which are subject to Title I of ERISA; (ii) “plans” defined in Section 4975 of the Code, which are
subject to Section 4975 of the Code (including “Keogh” plans and “individual retirement accounts”); or
(iii) entities whose underlying assets are deemed to include plan assets within the meaning of Section 3(42) of
ERISA and the regulations thereunder (e.g., an entity of which 25% or more of the total value of any class of
equity interests is held by “benefit plan investors”) (each such plan, account and entity described in clauses (i),
(ii) and (iii) we refer to as “Benefit Plan Investors”) should consult with their own legal, tax, financial and other
advisors prior to investing to review these implications in light of such investor’s particular circumstances. The
sale of our common stock to any Benefit Plan Investor is in no respect a representation by us or any other person
associated with the offering of our shares of common stock that such an investment meets all relevant legal
requirements with respect to investments by plans generally or any particular plan, or that such an investment is
appropriate for plans generally or any particular plan.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Investments in Real Property
As of December 31, 2017, and March 30, 2018, we did not own any real property.
Principal Executive Offices
Our principal executive and administrative offices are located at 1601 Washington Avenue, Suite 800, Miami
Beach, Florida 33139 and 591 West Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT 06830. We consider these facilities to be
suitable and adequate for the management and operations of our business.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. As of December 31, 2017, we were not involved in any material legal proceedings.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
There is no active public trading market for our shares and we have no intention of listing our shares on an
exchange in the future.
During the period from the commencement of the Offering through December 31, 2017, the offering price of
each class of our common stock was $20.00 per share, plus applicable selling commissions and dealer manager
fees.
As of each of December 31, 2017 and March 30, 2018, the only holder of record of our common stock was
Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Sponsor.
Distribution Policy
As of December 31, 2017, we had not declared any distributions. We intend to declare distributions monthly
based on record dates established by our board of directors and to pay such distributions on a monthly basis
commencing in the first month after the first full quarter after the escrow period for the Offering concludes. We
intend to distribute sufficient income so that we satisfy the requirements for qualification as a REIT. In order to
qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute 90% of our annual REIT taxable income, determined without
regard to the dividends-paid deduction and excluding net capital gains, to our stockholders. Generally, income
distributed to stockholders will not be taxable to us under the Code if we distribute at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and excluding net capital gains.
Distribution Reinvestment Plan
We have adopted a distribution reinvestment plan whereby stockholders (other than clients of participating
broker-dealers and residents of certain states that do not permit automatic enrollment in the distribution
reinvestment plan) will have their cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of common
stock unless they elect to receive their distributions in cash. Clients of certain participating broker-dealers that do
not permit automatic enrollment in our distribution reinvestment plan will automatically receive their
distributions in cash unless they elect to have their cash distributions reinvested in additional shares of our
common stock. The per share purchase price for shares purchased pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan
will be equal to the offering price before upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees (the “transaction
price”) at the time the distribution is payable. Stockholders will not pay upfront selling commissions when
purchasing shares pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan. The stockholder servicing fees with respect to
shares of our Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on our NAV for those shares
and may reduce the NAV or, alternatively, the distributions payable with respect to shares of each such class,
including shares issued in respect of distributions on such shares under the distribution reinvestment plan.
Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities
On July 13, 2017, we issued 10,000 shares of Class I common stock to Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings,
L.P. for an aggregate purchase price of $200,000 in connection with our formation. No sales commission or other
consideration was paid in connection with the sale. The sale was consummated without registration under the
Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption from registration set forth in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act
as transactions not involving any public offering.
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
On December 27, 2017, our Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-220997) covering the Offering
was declared effective under the Securities Act. As of December 31, 2017, we had not broken escrow and,
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therefore, we had not received any proceeds from the Offering or paid any selling commissions or dealer
manager fees. Following the date on which we break escrow, we intend to use the proceeds from the Offering
primarily to acquire stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate and debt secured by commercial real
estate. Our portfolio principally will be comprised of properties, and debt secured by properties, located in the
United States but may also be diversified on a global basis through investments in properties and debt secured by
properties, outside of the United States, with a focus on Europe. To a lesser extent, and subject to the investment
limitations described herein, we also may invest in real estate-related securities to provide a source of liquidity
for our share repurchase plan, cash management and other purposes. As of December 31, 2017, the Advisor and
its affiliates had incurred organization and offering expenses on the Company’s behalf of approximately
$3.0 million.
Share Repurchase Program
We have adopted a share repurchase plan, whereby on a monthly basis, stockholders may request that we
repurchase all or any portion of their shares. We may repurchase fewer shares than have been requested in any
particular month to be repurchased under our share repurchase plan, or none at all, in its discretion at any time. In
addition, the total amount of aggregate repurchases of Class T, Class S, Class D and Class I shares will be limited
to no more than 2% of our aggregate NAV per month and no more than 5% of our aggregate NAV per calendar
quarter. Repurchase requests received and processed by our transfer agent will be effected at a repurchase price
equal to the transaction price on the applicable repurchase date (which will generally be equal to our prior
month’s NAV per share), subject to any early repurchase deduction. Subject to limited exceptions, shares
repurchased within one year of the date of issuance will be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price. Further,
our board of directors may modify, suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan if it deems such action to be
in our best interest and the best interest of our stockholders.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, no shares were repurchased pursuant to the Company’s share
repurchase program.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected consolidated historical financial data should be read in conjunction with the information
set forth under Item 7 —“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto that appear on pages F-1 to
F-11 of this report.
As of December 31,
2017 and for the
period July 13, 2017
(date of initial
capitalization)
through
December 31, 2017

July 13, 2017
(date of initial
capitalization)

Operating Data:
Total revenues
Total expenses

$

—
(35,864)

$

—
—

Net loss

$

(35,864)

$

—

Per Share Data:
Net loss per share of Class I common stock – basic and diluted

$

(3.59)

$

—

Distributions declared per share of Class I common stock

$

—

$

—

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total equity

$ 200,000
$ 35,864
$ 164,136
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$
$
$

200,000
—
200,000

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical data, this discussion
contains forward-looking statements about our business, operations and financial performance based on current
expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from
those in this discussion as a result of various factors, including but not limited to those discussed in Part, I. Item
1A —“Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
We were formed on June 22, 2017 as a Maryland corporation to invest primarily in stabilized, income-oriented
commercial real estate and debt secured by commercial real estate. Our portfolio principally will be comprised of
properties, and debt secured by properties, located in the United States but may also be diversified on a global
basis through investments in properties and debt secured by properties, outside of the United States, with a focus
on Europe. We are an externally advised, perpetual-life REIT and intend to qualify as a REIT for federal income
tax purposes. We plan to own all or substantially all of our assets through the Operating Partnership, of which we
are the sole general partner. We and the Operating Partnership are externally managed by the Advisor.
Our board of directors will at all times have ultimate oversight and policy-making authority over us, including
responsibility for governance, financial controls, compliance and disclosure. Pursuant to the Advisory
Agreement, however, we have delegated to the Advisor the authority to source, evaluate and monitor our
investment opportunities and make decisions related to the acquisition, management, financing and disposition of
our assets, in accordance with our investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight
by our board of directors.
On July 13, 2017, we were capitalized with a $200,000 investment by Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings,
L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Sponsor. As of December 31, 2017, we had neither engaged in any
principal operations nor generated any revenues. Our entire activity since inception through December 31, 2017
was to prepare for our proposed fundraising through the Offering (defined below). We have registered with the
SEC an offering (the “Offering”) of up to $5.0 billion in shares of common stock (in any combination of
purchases of Class T, Class S, Class D and Class I shares of our common stock), consisting of up to $4.0 billion
in shares in our primary offering and up to $1.0 billion in shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan
pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-220997). All offering proceeds will be placed
in escrow until we receive purchase orders of $150 million (including purchase orders by Starwood Capital, its
affiliates and our directors and officers).
As of December 31, 2017, we had not entered into any arrangements to acquire any properties, debt or real
estate-related securities with the net proceeds from the Offering. The number and type of properties, debt or real
estate-related securities that we acquire will depend upon real estate market conditions, the amount of proceeds
we raise in the Offering and other circumstances existing at the time we are acquiring such assets. We are not
aware of any material trends or uncertainties, favorable or unfavorable, other than national economic conditions
affecting real estate generally, that may be reasonably anticipated to have a material impact on either capital
resources or the revenues or income to be derived from acquiring properties or real estate-related securities, other
than those referred to in Part I, Item 1A —“Risk Factors.”
Investment Objectives
Our investment objectives are to invest in assets that will enable us to:
•

provide current income in the form of regular, stable cash distributions to achieve an attractive
distribution yield;
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•

preserve and protect invested capital;

•

realize appreciation in net asset value (“NAV”) from proactive investment management and asset
management; and

•

provide an investment alternative for stockholders seeking to allocate a portion of their long-term
investment portfolios to commercial real estate with lower volatility than publicly traded real estate
companies.

Results of Operations
As of December 31, 2017, we were in our organizational period and had not commenced significant operations.
We are dependent upon the proceeds from the Offering in order to conduct our investment activities. We intend
to make investments with the capital received from the Offering and any indebtedness that we may incur in
connection with our investment activities.
From July 13, 2017 (date of our initial capitalization) through December 31, 2017, we had not commenced our
principal operations and were focused on our formation and the registration of the Offering. Our registration
statement was declared effective by the SEC on December 27, 2017. As of December 31, 2017, we had neither
purchased nor contracted to purchase any investments. As of December 31, 2017, the Advisor had not identified
any real estate, debt or real estate-related investments in which it is probable that we will invest.
We incurred general and administrative expenses of $35,864 during the period from July 13, 2017 (date of our
initial capitalization) through December 31, 2017. Such costs represent accounting and other corporate services.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary needs for liquidity and capital resources are to fund our investments, to make distributions to our
stockholders, to repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase plan, to pay our
offering and operating fees and expenses and to pay interest on any outstanding indebtedness we may incur. We
anticipate our offering and operating fees and expenses will include, among other things, the management fee we
will pay to the Advisor, the performance participation allocation that the Operating Partnership will pay to the
Special Limited Partner, stockholder servicing fees we will pay to the Dealer Manager, legal, audit and valuation
expenses, federal and state filing fees, printing expenses, administrative fees, transfer agent fees, marketing and
distribution expenses and fees related to acquiring, financing, appraising and managing our properties. We do not
have any office or personnel expenses as we do not have any employees.
We will reimburse the Advisor for certain out-of-pocket expenses in connection with our operations. The
Advisor has agreed to advance all of our organization and offering expenses on our behalf (other than upfront
selling commissions, dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees) through the first anniversary of the date
on which we break escrow in the Offering. We will reimburse the Advisor for such advanced expenses ratably
over the 60 months following the first anniversary of the conclusion of the escrow period. After the first
anniversary of the conclusion of the escrow period, we will reimburse the Advisor for any organization and
offering expenses that it incurs on our behalf as and when such expenses are incurred. As of December 31, 2017,
the Advisor had incurred approximately $3.0 million of organization and offering expenses on our behalf.
We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code, beginning with our taxable
year ending December 31 of the year in which the escrow period for the Offering concludes. In order to maintain
our qualification as a REIT, we are required to, among other things, distribute as dividends at least 90% of our
REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and excluding net capital gains,
to our stockholders and meet certain tests regarding the nature of our income and assets.
Our cash needs for acquisitions will be funded primarily from the sale of shares of our common stock and
through the assumption or incurrence of debt. Over time, we generally intend to fund our cash needs for items
other than asset acquisitions from operations.
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Although we have not received any commitments from lenders to fund a line of credit to date, we may decide to
obtain a line of credit to fund acquisitions, to repurchase shares pursuant to our share repurchase plan and for any
other corporate purpose. If we decide to obtain a line of credit, we would expect that it would afford us
borrowing availability to fund repurchases. As our assets increase, however, it may not be commercially feasible
or we may not be able to secure an adequate line of credit to fund share repurchases. Moreover, actual
availability may be reduced at any given time if we use borrowings under the line of credit to fund share
repurchases or for other corporate purposes.
Other potential future sources of capital include secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders and
proceeds from the sale of assets. If necessary, we may use financings or other sources of capital in the event of
unforeseen significant capital expenditures. We have not yet identified any sources for these types of financings.
Cash Flows
On July 13, 2017, the Company was capitalized with a $200,000 investment by Starwood Real Estate Income
Holdings, L.P., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Sponsor. There have been no other cash flows from the
Company’s inception through December 31, 2017.
Critical Accounting Policies
Below is a discussion of the accounting policies that management believes will be critical once we commence
operations. We consider these policies critical because they involve significant judgments and assumptions and
require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain and because they are important for understanding
and evaluating our reported financial results. Our accounting policies have been established to conform with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to use judgments in the application of such policies.
These judgments will affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities and our disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting periods. With different estimates or assumptions, materially different amounts could be reported in
our financial statements. Additionally, other companies may utilize different estimates that may impact the
comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.
Reimbursement of Organization and Offering Expenses
The Advisor has agreed to advance organization and offering expenses on our behalf (including legal,
accounting, and other expenses attributable to the organization, but excluding upfront selling commissions,
dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees) through the first anniversary of the date on which escrow is
released. The Company will reimburse the Advisor for all such advanced expenses ratably over a 60 month
period following the first anniversary of the date escrowed purchase orders with respect to the Offering are
released.
When recorded by us, organizational expenses will be expensed as incurred, and offering expenses will be
charged to stockholders’ equity. Any amount due to the Advisor but not paid will be recognized as a liability on
the consolidated balance sheets.
Principles of Consolidation and Variable Interest Entities
The Financial Accounting Standards Board has recently issued guidance that clarifies the methodology for
determining whether an entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and the methodology for assessing who is the
primary beneficiary of a VIE. VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. A VIE is required to be
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consolidated by its primary beneficiary, and only by its primary beneficiary, which is defined as the party with
both the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic
performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could
potentially be significant to the VIE.
There are judgments and estimates involved in determining if an entity in which we will make an investment will
be a VIE and if so, if we will be the primary beneficiary. The entity will be evaluated to determine if it is a VIE
by, among other things, calculating the percentage of equity being risked compared to the total equity of the
entity. The minimum equity at risk percentage can vary depending upon the industry or the type of operations of
the entity and it will be up to us to determine that minimum percentage as it relates to our business and the facts
surrounding each of our acquisitions. In addition, even if the entity’s equity at risk is a very low percentage, we
will be required to evaluate the equity at risk compared to the entity’s expected future losses to determine if there
could still in fact be sufficient equity at the entity. Determining expected future losses involves assumptions of
various possibilities of the results of future operations of the entity, assigning a probability to each possibility and
using a discount rate to determine the net present value of those future losses. A change in the judgments,
assumptions and estimates outlined above could result in consolidating an entity that had not been previously
consolidated or accounting for an investment on the equity method that had been previously consolidated, the
effects of which could be material to our results of operations and financial condition.
Real Estate Joint Ventures and Partnerships
To determine the method of accounting for partially owned real estate joint ventures and partnerships,
management evaluates the characteristics of associated entities and determines whether an entity is a VIE and, if
so, determines if we are the primary beneficiary by analyzing whether we have both the power to direct the
entity’s significant economic activities and the obligation to absorb potentially significant losses or receive
potentially significant benefits. Significant judgments and assumptions inherent in this analysis include the
design of the entity structure, the nature of the entity’s operations, future cash flow projections, the entity’s
financing and capital structure, and contractual relationships and terms. We consolidate a VIE when we have
determined that we are the primary beneficiary.
Primary risks associated with our potential VIEs may include the potential funding of the entities’ debt
obligations or making additional contributions to fund the entities’ operations.
Partially owned, non-variable interest real estate joint ventures and partnerships over which we have a controlling
financial interest are consolidated in our consolidated financial statements. In determining if we have a
controlling financial interest, we consider factors such as ownership interest, authority to make decisions,
kick-out rights and substantive participating rights. Partially owned real estate joint ventures and partnerships
where we do not have a controlling financial interest, but have the ability to exercise significant influence, are
accounted for using the equity method.
Management will analyze and assess reconsideration events, including changes in the factors mentioned above,
to determine if a consolidation treatment remains appropriate. Decisions regarding consolidation of partially
owned entities frequently require significant judgment by our management. Errors in the assessment of
consolidation could result in material changes to our consolidated financial statements.
Investment Property and Lease Intangibles
Acquisitions of properties will be accounted for utilizing the acquisition method and, accordingly, the results of
operations of acquired properties will be included in our results of operations from their respective dates of
acquisition. Estimates of future cash flows and other valuation techniques that we believe are similar to those
used by independent appraisers will be used to record the purchase of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed such as land, buildings and improvements, equipment and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities
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such as amounts related to in-place leases, acquired above- and below-market leases, tenant relationships, asset
retirement obligations and mortgage notes payable. Values of buildings and improvements will be determined on
an as-if-vacant basis. Initial valuations may be subject to change until such information is finalized, no later than
12 months from the acquisition date.
The estimated fair value of acquired in-place leases will be the costs we would have incurred to lease the
properties to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such estimates include the fair value
of leasing commissions, legal costs and other direct costs that would be incurred to lease the properties to such
occupancy levels. Additionally, we will evaluate the time period over which such occupancy levels would be
achieved. Such evaluation will include an estimate of the net market-based rental revenues and net operating
costs (primarily consisting of real estate taxes, insurance and utilities) that would be incurred during the lease-up
period. Acquired in-place leases as of the date of acquisition will be amortized over the remaining lease terms.
Acquired above- and below-market lease values will be recorded based on the present value (using an interest
rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of the difference between the contractual amounts to
be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and management’s estimate of fair market value lease rates for the
corresponding in-place leases. The capitalized above- and below-market lease values will be amortized as
adjustments to rental revenue over the remaining terms of the respective leases, which include periods covered
by bargain renewal options. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease
value will be charged to amortization expense and the unamortized portion of out-of-market lease value will be
charged to rental revenue.
Value of Real Estate Portfolio
We will review our future real estate portfolio to ascertain if there are any indicators of impairment in the value
of any of our real estate assets, including deferred costs and intangibles, in order to determine if there is any need
for an impairment charge. In reviewing the portfolio, we will examine the type of asset, the economic situation in
the area in which the asset is located, the economic situation in the industry in which the tenant is involved and
the timeliness of the payments made by the tenant under its lease, as well as any current correspondence that may
have been had with the tenant, including property inspection reports. For each real estate asset owned for which
indicators of impairment exist, if the undiscounted cash flow analysis yields an amount which is less than the
assets’ carrying amount, an impairment loss will be recorded to the extent that the estimated fair value is lower
than the asset’s carrying amount. The estimated fair value is determined using a discounted cash flow model of
the expected future cash flows through the useful life of the property. Real estate assets that are expected to be
disposed of are valued at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell on an individual asset basis.
Any impairment charge taken with respect to any part of our real estate portfolio will reduce our earnings and
assets to the extent of the amount of any impairment charge, but it will not affect our cash flow or our
distributions until such time as we dispose of the property.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenues, which we expect will be substantially derived from rental income and payments received in
connection with our real estate-related debt investments, will include rental income that our tenants pay in
accordance with the terms of their respective leases reported on a straight-line basis over the initial lease term of
each lease. Since we expect many of our leases will provide for rental increases at specified intervals, straight
line basis accounting requires us to record as an asset and include in revenues unbilled rent receivables, in
addition to rents that have been previously billed and not collected, which we will only receive if the tenant
makes all rent payments required through expiration of the initial term of the lease. Accordingly, management
must determine, in its judgment, that the billed and unbilled rents receivable applicable to each specific tenant are
collectible. We will review billed and unbilled rent receivables and take into consideration the tenant’s payment
history and the financial condition of the tenant. In the event that the collectability of a billed or unbilled rent
receivable is in doubt, we will be required to take a reserve against the receivable or a direct write-off of the
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receivable, which will have an adverse effect on earnings for the year in which the reserve or direct write-off is
taken.
Rental revenue will also include amortization of above- and below-market leases. Revenues relating to lease
termination fees will be recognized at the time that a tenant’s right to occupy the leased space is terminated.
Income Taxes
Provided that we make a timely election and qualify as a REIT, we will not be subject to federal income tax with
respect to the portion of our income that meets certain criteria and is distributed annually to stockholders. We
intend to operate in a manner that allows us to meet the requirements for taxation as a REIT. Many of these
requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. We will monitor the business and transactions that
may potentially impact our REIT status. If we were to fail to meet these requirements, we could be subject to
federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. We would not be able to deduct distributions
paid to stockholders in any year in which it fails to qualify as a REIT. We would also be disqualified for the four
taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost unless we were entitled to relief under
specific statutory provisions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 3 —“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion concerning recent accounting pronouncements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We currently have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a material current or
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
Contractual Obligations
We currently have no contractual obligations that are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect
on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity,
capital expenditures or capital resources.
Subsequent Events
On March 29, 2018, we filed Articles of Amendment and Restatement (the “Amended Articles”) with the State
Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland. The Amended Articles reflect minor clarifications and
revisions to our previous Articles of Amendment which were requested by certain blue sky regulators in
connection with the Offering.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We had no significant operations as of December 31, 2017. When we commence our principal operations, we
expect that our primary market risk exposure will be interest rate risk with respect to our indebtedness, and credit
risk with respect to our real estate investments, real estate debt-related investments and the use of derivative
financial instruments, and market risk with respect to the use of derivative financial instruments. As of
December 31, 2017, we had no indebtedness, real estate investments or real estate-related debt investments and
did not use any derivative instruments.
We may be exposed to interest rate changes primarily, as a result, of long-term debt used to maintain liquidity,
fund capital expenditures and expand our investment portfolio and operations. Market fluctuations in real estate
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financing may affect the availability and cost of funds needed to expand our investment portfolio. In addition,
restrictions upon the availability of real estate financing or high interest rates for real estate loans could adversely
affect our ability to dispose of real estate in the future. We will seek to limit the impact of interest rate changes
on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. We may use derivative financial
instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans secured by our assets.
Also, we will be exposed to both credit risk and market risk. We will be exposed to credit risk of the tenants that
occupy properties that we own. To mitigate such risk, we intend to undertake a rigorous credit evaluation of each
tenant prior to making an investment. This analysis includes an extensive due diligence investigation of a
potential tenant’s creditworthiness and business, as well as an assessment of the strategic importance of the
property to the tenant’s core business operations.
Additionally, we will be exposed to credit risk in the real estate-related debt investments that we intend to make
with respect to a borrower’s ability to make required interest and principal payments on scheduled due dates. We
will manage such risk by conducting a credit analysis prior to making an investment, actively monitoring our
portfolio and the underlying credit quality, including subordination and diversification of our real estate-related
debt portfolio.
Finally, we are subject to credit risk in the form of the failure of a counterparty to perform under the terms of a
derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty will owe us, which
creates credit risk for us. If the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, we will owe the counterparty and,
therefore, do not have credit risk. We will seek to minimize the credit risk in derivative instruments by entering
into transactions with high-quality counterparties.
Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of a financial instrument that results from a change in interest rates.
The market risk associated with interest-rate contracts is managed by establishing and monitoring parameters that
limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken. With regard to variable rate financing, we will
assess our interest rate cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest rate
exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. We
will maintain risk management control systems to monitor interest rate cash flow risk attributable to both our
outstanding and forecasted debt obligations as well as our potential offsetting hedge positions. While this
hedging strategy will be designed to minimize the impact on our net income and funds from operations from
changes in interest rates, the overall returns on our investments may be reduced. Our board of directors has not
yet established policies and procedures regarding our use of derivative financial instruments for hedging or other
purposes.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The financial statements and supplementary data filed as part of this report are set forth beginning on page F—1
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
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Company’s reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, and summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. An evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K was made under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon this evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
(a) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is timely recorded, processed, summarized and reported and (b) include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
This Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal controls over
financial reporting or an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition
period established by rules of the SEC for newly public companies.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our directors and executive officers are set forth below.
Name

Age

Barry S. Sternlicht
John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Christopher D. Graham
Chris Lowthert
Matthew S. Guttin
Robert Geimer
Sam Caven
Sean Harris
Mark Deason
Richard D. Bronson
David B. Henry
Robin Josephs
Dale Anne Reiss
James E. Walker

57
56
43
45
39
50
33
34
40
73
69
58
70
55

Position

Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Chief Investment Officer and Director
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Chief Compliance Officer and Secretary
Head of Asset Management & Operations
Vice President of Acquisitions
Manager of Acquisitions
Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

Barry S. Sternlicht has served as the Chairman of our board of directors since our formation in June 2017.
Mr. Sternlicht has also served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Starwood Capital since its
formation in 1991. He also serves as the Chairman of the board of directors and the Chief Executive Officer of
Starwood Property Trust, Inc. (NYSE: STWD) (“Starwood Property Trust”) and a member of the board of
directors of Invitation Homes Inc. (NYSE: INVH) (“Invitation Homes”). Over the past 26 years, Mr. Sternlicht
has structured investment transactions with an asset value of more than $92 billion. From January 2013 to March
2017, he served as a member of the board of directors of Tri Pointe Group, Inc. (NYSE: TPH) Through early
2005, he was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Starwood Hotels since he founded the company in
1995. Mr. Sternlicht is the Chairman of the board of directors of Baccarat, S.A. He also serves on the board of
directors of The Estée Lauder Companies, Inc. (NYSE: EL). From 2012 to 2014, Mr. Sternlicht served as a
director of Restoration Hardware Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: RH). Mr. Sternlicht is a Trustee Emeriti of Brown
University. He is also on the board of directors of The Robin Hood Foundation. Mr. Sternlicht received a B.A.,
magna cum laude, with honors from Brown University. He later received an M.B.A. with distinction from
Harvard Business School.
Mr. Sternlicht provides our board of directors with a wealth of investment management experience along with
extensive experience in real estate finance and development, and our board of directors believes Mr. Sternlicht
provides a valuable perspective as its Chairman.
John P. McCarthy, Jr. has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President since our formation in June 2017
and as a member of our board of directors and the Advisor’s Investment Committee since November 2017.
Mr. McCarthy has also served as Managing Director of Starwood Capital since July 2015, where he is
responsible for managing and expanding relationships with Starwood Capital’s investors around the world.
Mr. McCarthy previously served Global Head of Asset Management for Starwood Capital from March 2009 to
May 2012, during which time he also served as a member of Starwood Capital’s Investment Committee. Prior to
rejoining Starwood Capital, Mr. McCarthy served as Senior Portfolio Manager and Deputy Head of Europe for
the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority (“ADIA”) from June 2012 to May 2015. During this time, Mr. McCarthy
served on ADIA’s Executive and Global Strategy committees. Prior to this, Mr. McCarthy served Global
Co-Head of Asset Management for Lehman Brothers Real Estate Private Equity from June 2005 to February
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2009 and was a Partner at O’Connor Capital Partners (“O’Connor”), Co-Head of European Business and Head of
European Asset Management. Prior to joining O’Connor, Mr. McCarthy previously worked for 17 years at GE
Capital, where he held a variety of positions, including managing the firm’s real estate investing activities across
Central Europe and serving as Chief Investment Officer for the Midwest Region in the United States.
Mr. McCarthy received a B.S. degree in finance from the University of Connecticut, and an M.B.A. with a
concentration in accounting from Fordham University.
Mr. McCarthy provides our board of directors with extensive investment management experience, particularly in
connection with international markets.
Christopher D. Graham has served as our Chief Investment Officer since our formation in June 2017, as a
member of our board of directors since January 2018 and as and as a member of the Advisor’s Investment
Committee since November 2017. Mr. Graham has served as Senior Managing Director and Head of Real Estate
Acquisitions for the Americas at Starwood Capital since January 2013, supervising its investments in North,
South and Central America. Mr. Graham is responsible for originating, structuring, underwriting and closing
investments in all property types and is a member of the investment committee of Starwood Capital. At Starwood
Capital, he has managed Starwood Land Ventures and overseen Starwood Capital’s investments in
approximately 10,000 residential lots. In addition, he has overseen the acquisition of approximately $300 million
of non-performing, single-family residential loans. Prior to joining Starwood Capital in 2002, Mr. Graham served
as Director of the Financial Consulting Group for the Eastern Region of CB Richard Ellis (“CBRE”) in
Washington, D.C. from May 1999 to September 2000, as Associate Director, Eastern Region of Investment
Properties Group of CBRE from March 1998 to May 1999 and as an analyst and a consultant in the Financial
Consulting Group of CBRE from July 1996 to March 1998. Mr. Graham received a B.B.A. in finance from
James Madison University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
Chris Lowthert has served as our Chief Financial Officer since October 2017. Mr. Lowthert has also served as
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of Funds at Starwood Capital since January 2016. In this role, he is
responsible for all fund-level financial accounting and reporting. Prior to joining Starwood Capital in 2016,
Mr. Lowthert held various senior risk and financial roles with GE Capital Real Estate (“GE Capital”) including
Asset Quality & Portfolio Monitoring Leader from October 2014 to December 2015, Controller of North
America from August 2012 to October 2014, Chief Financial Officer of Global Investment Management from
October 2010 to August 2012 and Chief Financial Officer of U.S. Equity from April 2009 to September 2010.
Before joining GE Capital, Mr. Lowthert served as Director of Corporate Audit at MassMutual Financial Group.
Mr. Lowthert began his career at PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP where he was an audit manager in the firm’s
financial services group in its New York office, focusing on public and private real estate clients. Mr. Lowthert
received a B.S. degree in accounting from Saint Michael’s College. He is also a certified public accountant.
Matthew S. Guttin has served as our Secretary since October 2017 and as our Chief Compliance Officer since
our formation in June 2017. Mr. Guttin has also served as Chief Compliance Officer for Starwood Capital since
August 2010. As the Chief Compliance Officer, Mr. Guttin is responsible for overseeing the firm’s regulatory
and compliance program. Before joining Starwood Capital, Mr. Guttin practiced corporate finance and real estate
law at Cahill Gordon & Reindel, LLP, Fried, Frank, Harris Shriver & Jacobson, LLP and DiSanto LLP.
Mr. Guttin is an employee of Rinaldi, Finkelstein & Franklin, L.L.C., Starwood Capital’s lead outside counsel.
Mr. Guttin received a B.S. in Political Science from the University of Rochester and a J.D. from Georgetown
University Law Center. He is licensed to practice law in New York and Connecticut, and holds the Series 7 and
Series 24 licenses.
Robert Geimer has served as our Head of Asset Management & Operations since October 2017. Mr. Geimer has
served as Senior Vice President of Asset Management at Starwood Capital since January 2003. In this position,
Mr. Geimer’s principal responsibilities include playing a senior role on the asset management team for a diverse
portfolio of national and international real estate assets. He manages the development and execution of
investment and exit strategies, manages resources related to day-to-day decision-making, and plays an integral
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role in the review and approval of annual business plans with partners and third-party fee managers. Prior to his
nearly 20-year career with Starwood Capital, Mr. Geimer served as an Asset Manager and Portfolio Controller
with Greystone Realty, LLC, the real estate management group for New York Life Insurance Co. Before joining
Greystone Realty, LLC, Mr. Geimer was an employed by Compass Retail, Inc. a former division of Equitable
Real Estate Group, Inc. Mr. Geimer received a B.S. degree from the West Virginia University School of Business
and is a certified public accountant.
Sam Caven has served as our Vice President of Acquisitions since October 2017. Mr. Caven has served as Vice
President of Starwood Capital’s Acquisitions Group since January 2014. Mr. Caven is responsible for the
origination and execution of acquisition opportunities in both equity and debt across all property types
throughout the Western United States. He served an instrumental role in the formation and early growth of
Starwood Waypoint Homes (which merged with Invitation Homes, Inc. in November 2017). Prior to joining
Starwood Capital as an Associate in June 2011, Mr. Caven worked in the real estate investment banking
department of JMP Group LLC, where he focused on capital raising, as well as mergers and acquisitions advisory
for public and private real estate companies. Mr. Caven received a B.A. degree in economics from Tufts
University.
Sean Harris has served as our Manager of Acquisitions since October 2017. Mr. Harris has served as an
Acquisitions Associate and Assistant to Mr. Sternlicht, the Chairman and CEO of Starwood Capital, since
August 2016. Prior to joining Starwood Capital in 2016, Mr. Harris served as a Director of Acquisitions and
Investment Management at Monday Properties, LLC since December 2012, where he co-led acquisitions,
investment management, and capital markets. Before joining Monday Properties, LLC as an Associate in July
2010, Mr. Harris was employed by Ernst & Young LLC in the Transaction Real Estate group. Mr. Harris
received B.S. degrees in finance and accounting from East Carolina University and a MAcc from the Max M.
Fisher College of Business at The Ohio State University
Mark Deason has served as a member of our board of directors and the Advisor’s Investment Committee since
November 2017. Mr. Deason has served as Managing Director and Head of U.S. Asset Management at Starwood
Capital since September 2016. In this role, Mr. Deason is responsible for overseeing the asset management of all
non-hotel assets, as well as Starwood Capital’s development function in the United States. While at Starwood
Capital, Mr. Deason has participated in investments throughout the capital structure, including commercial,
hospitality and residential acquisitions and developments. Prior to becoming a Managing Director, Mr. Deason
served as a Senior Vice President at Starwood Capital since January 2011. Prior to joining Starwood Capital in
2003, Mr. Deason worked for Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. in the firm’s real estate investment banking group,
assisting west coast real estate, hospitality and gaming companies with a range of capital origination and mergers
and acquisitions activities. He is a policy board member at the Fisher Center for Real Estate and Urban
Economics and a member of the Milken Institute and the Urban Land Institute. Mr. Deason received a B.A.
degree in business economics with a minor in accounting from the University of California, Los Angeles.
Mr. Deason’s experience in asset management and acquisitions, particularly in the commercial sector, brings
significant value to our board of directors in evaluating our portfolio and investment strategy.
Richard D. Bronson has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2017. Since 2000,
Mr. Bronson has served as the Chief Executive Officer of The Bronson Companies, LLC, a real estate
development company based in Beverly Hills, California. Mr. Bronson has been involved in the development of
several shopping centers and office buildings throughout the United States. Mr. Bronson serves as the chairman
of U.S. Digital Gaming, an online gaming technology provider based in Beverly Hills, California, and as a
director of Starwood Property Trust and Invitation Homes. Mr. Bronson previously served as a director of
Mirage Resorts, Inc. and Tri Pointe Homes, Inc. (NYSE: TPH) and as President of New City Development, an
affiliate of Mirage Resorts, Inc., where he oversaw many of the company’s new business initiatives and activities
outside Nevada. Mr. Bronson is on the board of the Neurosurgery Division at UCLA Medical Center. He is a
member of the Western Real Estate Business Editorial Board. Mr. Bronson has also served as Vice President of
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the International Council of Shopping Centers, an association representing 50,000 industry professionals in more
than 80 countries. Mr. Bronson is the founder and president of Native American Empowerment, LLC, a private
company dedicated to monitoring, advocating and pursuing Native American gaming opportunities and tribal
economic advancement.
Mr. Bronson’s experience and knowledge in the real estate industry provides our board of directors with valuable
insight into potential investments and the current state of the real estate markets.
David B. Henry has served as a member of our board of directors since January 2018. Mr. Henry served as Chief
Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of Kimco Realty Corporation (NYSE: KIM) (“Kimco”), a publicly traded
REIT, from December 2009 to January 2016, and in other capacities at Kimco since April 2001. Before joining
Kimco in April 2001, Mr. Henry served in various capacities at GE Capital Real Estate (“GE Capital”) since
1978, including as GE Capital’s Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer from 1998 to 2001.
Mr. Henry also served as Chairman of GE Capital’s Investment Committee and as a member of its Credit
Committee. Before joining GE Capital, Mr. Henry served as Vice President for Republic Mortgage Investors
from 1973 to 1978. Mr. Henry serves on the Board of Directors of HCP, Inc. (NYSE: HCP), a publicly traded
healthcare REIT; VEREIT, Inc. (NYSE: VER), a publicly traded net lease REIT; Tanger Outlet Centers (NYSE:
SKT), a publicly traded shopping center REIT; Columbia Property Trust (NYSE: CXP), a publicly traded
Class-A office REIT; and Fairfield County Bank, a private Connecticut mutual savings bank. Mr. Henry is a past
trustee and served as 2011-2012 Chairman of the International Council of Shopping Centers, and was a former
Vice Chairman of the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts.
Mr. Henry also serves on the real estate advisory boards of New York University and Baruch College and is a
member of the Columbia University Real Estate Forum. Mr. Henry received a B.S. in Business Administration
from Bucknell University and an M.B.A. from the University of Miami in Miami, Florida.
Mr. Henry’s extensive involvement with REITs which target a broad spectrum of assets helps provide our board
of directors with an understanding of the market in which it competes for capital and investments
Robin Josephs has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2017. Ms. Josephs has served
on the board of directors of iStar Financial Inc. (NYSE: STAR) (“iStar”), a real estate investment and
development firm, since March 1998 and served as lead director since May 2007, with duties that include
presiding at all executive sessions of the independent directors and serving as principal liaison between the
chairman and the independent directors. Ms. Josephs is also chair of iStar’s nominating and corporate
governance committee and a member of iStar’s compensation committee. Ms. Josephs also serves on the board
of directors of Safety, Income and Growth (NYSE: SAFE) which had its IPO in June 2017 and invests in ground
leases. From 2005 to 2007, Ms. Josephs served a managing director of Starwood Capital. Previously,
Ms. Josephs was a senior executive with Goldman Sachs & Co. in various capacities. She currently serves as a
director, chair of the compensation committee and a member of the audit committee of MFA Financial, Inc.
(NYSE: MFA), which is primarily engaged in investing in residential mortgage-backed securities, and as a
director and member of the audit committee and compensation committee of QuinStreet, Inc. (NASDAQ:
QNST), a vertical marketing and online media company. Ms. Josephs previously served as a director and
member of the audit and compensation committees of Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc. (NYSE: PCL) from
2003 until its sale to Weyerhaeuser Company in 2016. Ms. Josephs is a trustee of the University of Chicago
Cancer Research Foundation. Ms. Josephs received a B.S. degree in economics from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania and an M.B.A. from Columbia University.
Ms. Josephs’ previous employment as an investment banking professional and her extensive experience as a
director of public companies brings valuable knowledge of finance, capital markets and corporate governance to
our board of directors.
Dale Anne Reiss has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2017. Ms. Reiss served as the
Global and the Americas Director of Real Estate Hospitality and Construction at Ernst & Young LLC from 1995
until her retirement in 2008. Following her retirement, Ms. Reiss continued to consult to the firm until 2011.
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Ms. Reiss has served as Managing Director of Artemis Advisors LLC, a real estate restructuring and consulting
firm, since June 2008. Ms. Reiss has also served as Senior Managing Director of Brock Capital Group LLC, a
boutique investment bank, since December 2009 and Chairman of its affiliate, Brock Real Estate LLC, which
specializes in raising capital and mezzanine financing. Ms. Reiss currently serves as director, chair of the audit
committee and member of the nominating/governance committee of iStar Financial Inc. (NYSE: STAR), as a
director of Tutor Perini Corporation (NYSE:TPC) where she is chair of the audit committee, and as a director of
CYS Investments, Inc. (NYSE:CYS) where she is a director and member of the compensation and nomination/
governance committees. She is governor of the Urban Land Institute Foundation where she is also as a past board
member. Ms. Reiss received a B.S. degree in economics and accounting from the Illinois Institute of Technology
and an M.B.A. in finance and statistics from the University of Chicago. Ms. Reiss is a certified public
accountant.
Ms. Reiss’s more than 40 years’ experience in advising public and private real estate and hospitality companies,
corporations and financial institutions in all aspects of development, investment and finance, provides our board
with valuable knowledge of historic and current opportunities in the real estate market. Ms. Reiss is a financial
expert.
James E. Walker has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2017. From April 2008 until
December 2016, Mr. Walker served as a Managing Partner of Fir Tree Partners (“Fir Tree”), a global alternative
investment firm with over $10 billion of assets. Mr. Walker co-founded Fir Tree’s real estate opportunity funds
and co-led the development of Fir Tree’s real estate effort. At Fir Tree, Mr. Walker was jointly responsible for
overall firm management, identified new areas of investment opportunity and led numerous activist
opportunities. He was also a member of the Fir Tree’s real estate investment committee and Chairman of its risk
committee. Prior to joining Fir Tree in 2008, Mr. Walker was a co-founder and Managing Partner of Black
Diamond Capital Management, LLC (“Black Diamond”), a privately held investment management firm
specializing in both performing and non-performing debt. Prior to joining Black Diamond, he was a senior
member of Kidder, Peabody & Co.’s structured finance group where he managed a proprietary investment
vehicle. Mr. Walker began his career in structured finance at Bear Stearns & Co. in the asset-backed securities
group. He holds a B.S. in economics from Boston College’s Carroll School of Management.
Mr. Walker’s extensive experience in real estate-related investing and the management of alternative investment
vehicles provides our board of directors with valuable insight into potential investments and capital markets
transactions.
Although most of the services provided to us by the individuals who are executive officers are in their respective
roles as executive officers of the Advisor, they have certain duties as executive officers of our company arising
from Maryland law, our charter and our bylaws. These duties include executing contracts and other instruments
in our name and on our behalf and such other duties as may be prescribed by our board of directors from time to
time.
Our executive officers will act as our agents, execute contracts and other instruments in our name and on our
behalf, and in general perform all duties incident to their offices and such other duties as may be prescribed by
our board of directors from time to time. Our officers will devote such portion of their time to our affairs as is
required for the performance of their duties, but they are not required to devote all of their time to us.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires executive officers and directors and persons who beneficially own
more than 10% of any class of a company’s common stock, to file reports of ownership and changes in
ownership with the SEC. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders are required by
regulation of the SEC to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. None of the foregoing persons
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were required to file Section 16(a) forms during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 because the Company
was not registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act.
Code of Ethics
We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees (if any), and to all
of the officers and employees of the Advisor, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. Our Code of Ethics, as it
relates to those also covered by Starwood Capital’s code of conduct, operates in conjunction with, and in addition
to, Starwood Capital’s code of conduct. Our Code of Ethics is designed to comply with SEC regulations relating
to codes of conduct and ethics. Our Code of Ethics is available on our website, www.starwoodnav.reit.
Audit Committee Financial Expert
The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Dale Anne Reiss, Robin Josephs and James E. Walker, with
Ms. Reiss serving as the committee’s chairperson. All Audit Committee members are “independent,” consistent
with the qualifications set forth in the listing standards of the NYSE, our Charter and Rule 10A-3 under the
Exchange Act, applicable to boards of directors in general and audit committees in particular. Ms. Reiss is
qualified as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K under
the Exchange Act.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Executive Officer Compensation
We are externally managed and currently have no employees. Our executive officers serve as officers of the
Advisor and are employees of the Advisor or one or more of its affiliates. The Advisory Agreement provides that
the Advisor is responsible for managing our investment activities, as such our executive officers do not receive
any cash compensation from us or any of our subsidiaries for serving as our executive officers but, instead,
receive compensation from the Advisor. In addition, we do not reimburse the Advisor for compensation it pays to
our executive officers. The Advisory Agreement does not require our executive officers to dedicate a specific
amount of time to fulfilling the Advisor’s obligations to us under the Advisory Agreement. Accordingly, the
Advisor has informed us that it cannot identify the portion of the compensation it awards to our executive
officers that relates solely to such executives’ services to us, as the Advisor does not compensate its employees
specifically for such services. Furthermore, we do not have employment agreements with our executive officers,
we do not provide pension or retirement benefits, perquisites or other personal benefits to our executive officers,
our executive officers have not received any nonqualified deferred compensation and we do not have
arrangements to make payments to our executive officers upon their termination or in the event of a change in
control of us.
Although we do not pay our executive officers any cash compensation, we pay the Advisor the fees described in
Part III, Item 13 “—The Advisory Agreement.”
Independent Director Compensation
Our independent directors receive an annual cash retainer of $65,000, plus an additional retainer of $10,000 to
the chairperson of our audit committee. We intend to pay in quarterly installments 75% of this compensation in
cash and the remaining 25% in an annual grant of Class I restricted stock based on the most recent prior month’s
NAV. The restricted stock granted shall vest and become non-forfeitable on the one-year anniversary of the grant
date, provided, in each case, that the independent director is providing services to us as a director on each such
vesting date. During 2017, the cash compensation of our independent directors was pro-rated and they did not
receive a grant of restricted stock.
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We do not intend to pay our directors additional fees for attending board meetings, but we intend to reimburse
each of our directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending board and committee meetings
(including, but not limited to, airfare, hotel and food). Our directors who are affiliated with Starwood Capital,
including the Advisor, will not receive additional compensation for serving on the board of directors or
committees thereof.
The following table sets forth the compensation to our directors for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017:
Name

Barry S. Sternlicht
John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Christopher D. Graham
Mark Deason
Richard D. Bronson
David B. Henry
Robin Josephs
Dale Anne Reiss
James E. Walker

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash (1)

Total

$ —
—
—
—
4,063
—
4,063
4,688
4,063

$ —
—
—
—
4,063
—
4,063
4,688
4,063

(1) Amounts reflect the pro-rated portion of their annual retainer for service on the board of directors earned in
fiscal year 2017.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table summarizes information, as of December 31, 2017, relating to our equity compensation plans
pursuant to which shares of our common stock or other equity securities may be granted from time to time:
(b)
(c)
WeightedNumber of securities
(a)
average exercise remaining available for
Number of securities
price of
future issuance
to be issued upon
outstanding
under equity
exercise of
options,
compensation plans
outstanding options,
warrants, and
(excluding securities
warranties, and rights
rights
reflected in column (a))

Plan category

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders

N/A

Total

—
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—

$

—
N/A

$

—

200,000
N/A
200,000

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
The following table sets forth, as of March 30, 2018, information regarding the number and percentage of shares
owned by each director, our chief executive officer, each executive officer, all directors and executive officers as
a group, and any person known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of outstanding shares of our
common stock. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes
securities that a person has the right to acquire within 60 days. The address for each of the persons named below
is in care of our principal executive offices at 1601 Washington Avenue, Suite 800, Miami Beach, Florida 33139.
Number of Shares
Beneficially
Owned(1)

Name of Beneficial Owner

Percent of All
Shares

Directors and Executive Officers
Barry S. Sternlicht (2)
John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Christopher D. Graham
Chris Lowthert
Matthew S. Guttin
Robert Geimer
Sam Caven
Sean Harris
Mark Deason
Richard D. Bronson
David B. Henry
Robin Josephs
Dale Anne Reiss
James E. Walker

10,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

100%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

All directors and executive officers as a group

10,000

100%

5% Stockholders
Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P.

10,000

100%

(1) All shares listed in the table above are Class I shares.
(2) As of March 30, 2018 Starwood Real Estate Income Holdings, L.P. owned 10,000 Class I shares, which are
deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Sternlicht.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
Director Independence
Our Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines require a majority of the members of our Board of Directors
to be “independent” directors in accordance with the criteria in our Charter. Our audit committee charter also
requires that all members of the audit committee be independent. Based upon its review, our board of directors
has affirmatively determined that each of Richard D. Bronson, David B. Henry, Robin Josephs, Dale Anne Reiss
and James E. Walker are “independent” members of our board of directors under all applicable standards for
independence, including with respect to committee service on our audit committee by Ms. Reiss, Ms. Josephs
and Mr. Walker.
Under our Charter, a majority of our directors must be independent directors, except for a period of up to 60 days
after the death, removal or resignation of an independent director pending the election of a successor independent
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director. Consistent with the NASAA REIT Guidelines, our Charter defines an independent director as a director
who is not and has not for the last two years been associated, directly or indirectly, with Starwood Capital. A
director is deemed to be associated with Starwood Capital if he or she owns any interest (other than an interest in
us or an immaterial interest in an affiliate of us) in, is employed by, is an officer or director of, or has any
material business or professional relationship with Starwood Capital, the Advisor or any of their affiliates,
performs services (other than as a director) for us, or serves as a director or trustee for more than three REITs
sponsored by Starwood Capital or advised by the Advisor. A business or professional relationship will be deemed
material per se if the gross revenue derived by the director from Starwood Capital exceeds 5% of (1) the
director’s annual gross revenue derived from all sources during either of the last two years or (2) the director’s
net worth on a fair market value basis. An indirect relationship is defined to include circumstances in which the
director’s spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers- or fathers-in-law, sons- or daughters-in-law or brothers- or
sisters-in-law is or has been associated with Starwood Capital. Our charter requires that a director have at least
three years of relevant experience and demonstrate the knowledge required to successfully acquire and manage
the type of assets that we intend to acquire to serve as a director. Our charter also requires that at all times at least
one of our independent directors must have at least three years of relevant real estate experience.
Certain Transactions with Related Persons
The following describes all transactions during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and currently proposed
transactions involving us, our directors, our Advisor, Starwood and any affiliate thereof.
Our Relationship with Our Advisor and Starwood
We are externally managed by our Advisor, Starwood REIT Advisors, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability
company, which is responsible for sourcing, evaluating and monitoring our investment opportunities and making
decisions related to the acquisition, management, financing and disposition of our assets, in accordance with our
investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight by our board of directors. The
Advisor is an affiliate of Starwood Capital. All of our officers and directors, other than the independent directors,
are employees of our Advisor. We have and will continue to have certain relationships with the Advisor and its
affiliates.
Advisory Agreement
Our board of directors has delegated to the Advisor the authority to source, evaluate and monitor our investment
opportunities and make decisions related to the acquisition, management, financing and disposition of our assets,
in accordance with our investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight by our
board of directors.
Pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor is responsible for, among other things:
•

serving as an advisor to us and the Operating Partnership with respect to the establishment and periodic
review of our investment guidelines and the Operating Partnership’s investments, financing activities
and operations;

•

sourcing, evaluating and monitoring our and the Operating Partnership’s investment opportunities and
executing the acquisition, management, financing and disposition of our and the Operating
Partnership’s assets, in accordance with our investment guidelines, policies and objectives and
limitations, subject to oversight by our board of directors;

•

with respect to prospective acquisitions, purchases, sales, exchanges or other dispositions of
investments, conducting negotiations on our and the Operating Partnership’s behalf with sellers,
purchasers, and other counterparties and, if applicable, their respective agents, advisors and
representatives, and determining the structure and terms of such transactions;
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•

providing us with portfolio management and other related services;

•

serving as our advisor with respect to decisions regarding any of our financings, hedging activities or
borrowings; and

•

engaging and supervising, on our and the Operating Partnership’s behalf and at our and the Operating
Partnership’s expense, various service providers.

The above summary is provided to illustrate the material functions which the Advisor will perform for us and it
is not intended to include all of the services which may be provided to us by the Advisor or third parties.
Management Fee
As compensation for its services provided pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, we pay the Advisor a
management fee of 1.25% of NAV per annum payable monthly. In calculating our management fee, we will use
our NAV before giving effect to accruals for the management fee, performance participation interest described
below, stockholder servicing fees or distributions payable on our shares. The management fee may be paid, at the
Advisor’s election, in cash, Class I shares or Class I units of our Operating Partnership.
Performance Participation Interest
So long as the Advisory Agreement has not been terminated (including by means of non-renewal), the Special
Limited Partner, a wholly owned subsidiary of Starwood Capital, will hold a performance participation interest in
the Operating Partnership that entitles it to receive cash distributions (or Operating Partnership units at its
election) from our Operating Partnership equal to 12.5% of the Total Return, subject to a 5% Hurdle Amount and
a High Water Mark, with a Catch-Up (each term as defined in the prospectus related to the Offering). Such
distribution will be paid annually and accrues monthly. The Special Limited Partner had not earned a
performance participation interest as of December 31, 2017.
Expense Reimbursements
Under the Advisory Agreement, and subject to the limitations described below under “—Reimbursement by the
Advisor,” the Advisor is entitled to reimbursement of all costs and expenses incurred by it or its affiliates on our
behalf, provided that the Advisor is responsible for the expenses related to any and all personnel of the Advisor
who provide investment advisory services to us pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (including, without
limitation, each of our executive officers and any directors who are also directors, officers or employees of the
Advisor or any of its affiliates), including, without limitation, salaries, bonus and other wages, payroll taxes and
the cost of employee benefit plans of such personnel, and costs of insurance with respect to such personnel.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, costs eligible for reimbursement include out-of-pocket costs and
expenses the Advisor incurs in connection with the services it provides to us (including personnel expenses other
than those of investment advisory personnel described above) related to (1) legal, accounting and printing fees
and other expenses attributable to our organization, preparation of the registration statement for the Offering,
registration and qualification of our common stock for sale with the SEC and in the various states and filing fees
incurred by the Advisor in connection with the Offering, (2) the actual cost of goods and services used by us and
obtained from third parties, including fees paid to administrators, consultants, attorneys, technology providers
and other service providers, and brokerage fees paid in connection with the purchase and sale of investments and
securities, (3) expenses of managing and operating our properties, whether payable to an affiliate or a
non-affiliated person, and (4) out-of pocket expenses in connection with the selection, evaluation, structuring,
acquisition, origination, financing and development of properties and real estate-related assets, whether or not
such investments are acquired. Such out-of pocket costs and expenses will include expenses relating to
compliance-related matters and regulatory filings relating to our activities.
The Advisor may retain, for and on our behalf, and at our sole cost and expense, such services as the Advisor
deems necessary or advisable in connection with our management and operations, which may include affiliates of
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the Advisor; provided, that any such services may only be provided by affiliates to the extent such services are
approved by a majority of the directors (including a majority of the independent directors) not otherwise
interested in such transactions as being fair and reasonable to us and on terms and conditions not less favorable to
us than those available from non-affiliated third parties.
Organization and Offering Costs
The Advisor has agreed to advance all of our organization and offering expenses on our behalf (including legal,
accounting, printing, mailing and filing fees and expenses, due diligence expenses of participating broker-dealers
supported by detailed and itemized invoices, costs in connection with preparing sales materials, design and
website expenses, fees and expenses of our escrow agent and transfer agent, fees to attend retail seminars
sponsored by participating broker-dealers and reimbursements for customary travel, lodging, and meals, but
excluding upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and the stockholder servicing fee) through the first
anniversary of the date on which we break escrow in the Offering. We will reimburse the Advisor for all such
advanced expenses ratably over the 60 months following the first anniversary of the date on which we break
escrow in the Offering. Through December 31, 2017, we did not reimburse the Advisor for any organization and
offering costs.
Term and Termination Rights under the Advisory Agreement
The term of the Advisory Agreement is for one year expiring on December 27, 2018, subject to renewals by our
board of directors for an unlimited number of successive one-year periods. Our independent directors will
evaluate the performance of the Advisor before renewing the Advisory Agreement. The Advisory Agreement
may be terminated:
•

immediately by us (1) for “cause,” (2) upon the bankruptcy of the Advisor or (3) upon a material
breach of the Advisory Agreement by the Advisor;

•

upon 60 days’ written notice by us without cause or penalty upon the vote of a majority of our
independent directors; or

•

upon 60 days’ written notice by the Advisor.

“Cause” is defined in the Advisory Agreement to mean fraud, criminal conduct, willful misconduct or willful or
negligent breach of fiduciary duty by the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement.
In the event the Advisory Agreement is terminated, the Advisor will be entitled to receive its prorated
management fee through the date of termination, and the Special Limited Partner will receive a distribution of
any accrued performance participation from the Operating Partnership as of the date of such termination. In
addition, upon the termination or expiration of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor will cooperate with us and
take all reasonable steps requested to assist our board of directors in making an orderly transition of the advisory
function.
Reimbursement by the Advisor
Commencing four fiscal quarters after we make our first investment, the Advisor will reimburse us for any
expenses that cause our Total Operating Expenses, including any distributions made to the Special Limited
Partner with respect to its performance participation interest in the Operating Partnership, in any four consecutive
fiscal quarters to exceed the greater of: (1) 2% of our Average Invested Assets and (2) 25% of our Net Income.
To the extent that our Total Operating Expenses exceed these limits and the independent directors determine that
the excess expenses were justified based on unusual and nonrecurring factors that they deem sufficient, the
Advisor would not be required to reimburse us. Within 60 days after the end of any fiscal quarter for which our
Total Operating Expenses for the four consecutive fiscal quarters then ended exceed these limits and our
independent directors approve such excess amount, we will send our stockholders a written disclosure of such
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fact, or will include such information in our next quarterly report on Form 10-Q or in a current report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC, together with an explanation of the factors our independent directors considered in
arriving at the conclusion that such excess expenses were justified. In addition, our independent directors will
review at least annually the total fees and expense reimbursements for operating expenses paid to the Advisor
and the Special Limited Partner to determine if they are reasonable in light of our performance, our net assets and
our net income and the fees and expenses of other comparable unaffiliated REITs.
For purposes of these limits:
•

“Total Operating Expenses” are all costs and expenses paid or incurred by us, as determined under
generally accepted accounting principles, including the management fee and the performance
participation, but excluding: (i) the expenses of raising capital such as organization and offering
expenses, legal, audit, accounting, underwriting, brokerage, listing, registration and other fees, printing
and other such expenses and taxes incurred in connection with the issuance, distribution, transfer,
registration and listing of our capital stock, (ii) property-level expenses incurred at each property,
(iii) interest payments, (iv) taxes, (v) non-cash expenditures such as depreciation, amortization and bad
debt reserves, (vi) incentive fees paid in compliance with our charter, (vii) acquisition fees and
acquisition expenses related to the selection and acquisition of assets, whether or not a property is
actually acquired, (viii) real estate commissions on the sale of property and (ix) other fees and expenses
connected with the acquisition, disposition, management and ownership of real estate interests,
mortgage loans or other property (including the costs of foreclosure, insurance premiums, legal
services, maintenance, repair and improvement of property).

•

“Average Invested Assets” means, for any period, the average of the aggregate book value of our
assets, invested, directly or indirectly, in equity interests in and loans secured by real estate, including
all properties, real estate-related debt and real estate-related securities and consolidated and
unconsolidated joint ventures or other partnerships, before deducting depreciation, amortization,
impairments, bad debt reserves or other non-cash reserves, computed by taking the average of such
values at the end of each month during such period.

•

“Net Income” means, for any period, total revenues applicable to such period, less the total expenses
applicable to such period other than additions to, or allowances for, non-cash charges such as
depreciation, amortization, impairments and reserves for bad debt or other similar non-cash reserves

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we did not manage any assets and, as a result, the above calculations
were not applicable to us during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Fees and Reimbursements Paid to our Advisor and Affiliates of the Advisor
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, there were no fees paid or expenses reimbursed to our Advisor
and affiliates of our Advisor.
Independent Directors’ Review of Compensation
Our independent directors will evaluate at least annually whether the compensation that we contract to pay to the
Advisor is reasonable in relation to the nature and quality of services performed and that such compensation is
within the limits prescribed by our Charter. Our independent directors will supervise the performance of the
Advisor and the compensation we pay to it to determine that the provisions of the Advisory Agreement are being
carried out. This evaluation will be based on the factors set forth below, as well as any other factors deemed
relevant by the independent directors:
•

the amount of fees paid to the Advisor in relation to the size, composition and performance of our
investments;

•

the success of the Advisor in generating investments that meet our investment objectives;
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•

rates charged to other externally advised REITs and other similar investment entities by advisors
performing similar services;

•

additional revenues realized by the Advisor and its affiliates through their advisory relationship with us
(including the performance participation paid to the Special Limited Partner);

•

the quality and extent of the services and advice furnished by the Advisor;

•

the performance of our assets, including income, conservation or appreciation of capital, frequency of
problem investments and competence in dealing with distress situations; and

•

the quality of our portfolio in relationship to the investments generated by the Advisor for its own
account.

Dealer Manager Agreement
We entered into a Dealer Manager Agreement with the Dealer Manager in connection with the Offering, pursuant
to which the Dealer Manager agreed to, among other things, manage our relationships with third-party brokerdealers engaged by the Dealer Manager to participate in the distribution of shares of our common stock, which
we refer to as “participating broker- dealers,” and financial advisors. The Dealer Manager also coordinates our
marketing and distribution efforts with participating broker-dealers and their registered representatives with
respect to communications related to the terms of the offering, our investment strategies, material aspects of our
operations and subscription procedures. The Dealer Manager is a registered broker-dealer affiliated with the
Advisor.
Upfront Selling Commissions and Dealer Manager Fees
The Dealer Manager is entitled to receive upfront selling commissions of up to 3.0%, and dealer manager fees of
0.5%, of the transaction price of each Class T share sold in our primary offering. The Dealer Manager is entitled
to receive upfront selling commissions of up to 3.5% of the transaction price of each Class S share sold in the
primary offering. No upfront selling commissions or dealer manager fees are paid with respect to purchases of
Class D shares, Class I shares or shares of any class sold pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. The
Dealer Manager anticipates that all or a portion of the upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees will
be retained by, or reallowed (paid) to, participating broker-dealers.
Stockholder Servicing Fees
Subject to FINRA limitations on underwriting compensation, we will pay the Dealer Manager selling
commissions over time as stockholder servicing fees for ongoing services rendered to stockholders by
participating broker-dealers or broker-dealers servicing investors’ accounts, referred to as servicing brokerdealers.
The stockholder servicing fees equal to 0.85%, 0.85% and 0.25% per annum of the aggregate NAV of our
outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D shares, respectively. The stockholder servicing fee for
Class T shares consists of an advisor stockholder servicing fee of 0.65% per annum, and a dealer stockholder
servicing fee of 0.20% per annum, of the aggregate NAV of our outstanding Class T shares. However, with
respect to Class T shares sold through certain participating broker-dealers, the advisor stockholder servicing fee
and the dealer stockholder servicing fee may be other amounts, provided that the sum of such fees will always
equal 0.85% per annum of the NAV of such shares. We do not pay a stockholder servicing fee with respect to our
outstanding Class I shares.
The stockholder servicing fees are paid monthly in arrears. The Dealer Manager reallows (pays) all or a portion
of the stockholder servicing fees to participating broker-dealers and servicing broker-dealers for ongoing
stockholder services performed by such broker-dealers, and will waive stockholder servicing fees to the extent a
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broker-dealer is not eligible to receive it for failure to provide such services. Because the stockholder servicing
fees are calculated based on our NAV for our Class T, Class S and Class D shares, they will reduce the NAV or,
alternatively, the distributions payable, with respect to the shares of each such class, including shares issued
under our distribution reinvestment plan.
We will cease paying the stockholder servicing fee with respect to any Class T shares, Class S shares or Class D
shares held in a stockholder’s account at the end of the month in which the Dealer Manager in conjunction with
the transfer agent determines that total upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and stockholder
servicing fees paid with respect to such shares would exceed 8.75% (or, in the case of Class T shares sold
through certain participating broker-dealers, a lower limit as set forth in any applicable agreement between the
Dealer Manager and a participating broker dealer at the time such Class T shares were issued) of the gross
proceeds from the sale of such shares (including the gross proceeds of any shares issued under our distribution
reinvestment plan with respect thereto). At the end of such month, such Class T shares, Class S shares or Class D
shares (and any shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan with respect thereto) will convert into a
number of Class I shares (including any fractional shares) with an equivalent aggregate NAV per such share. We
cannot predict the length of time over which the stockholder servicing fee will be paid due to potential changes in
the NAV of our shares.
In addition, we will cease paying the stockholder servicing fee on the Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D
shares on the earlier to occur of the following: (i) a listing of Class I shares, (ii) our merger or consolidation with
or into another entity or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our assets, in each case in a
transaction in which our stockholders receive cash or securities listed on a national securities exchange or (iii) the
date on which, in the aggregate, underwriting compensation from all sources in connection with the Offering,
including upfront selling commissions, the stockholder servicing fee and other underwriting compensation, is
equal to 10% of the gross proceeds from our primary offering.
Fees Paid to Our Dealer Manager
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, we did not pay the Dealer Manager for any upfront selling
commissions, dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees.
Affiliate Service Agreements
We retain certain of the Advisor’s affiliates, from time to time, for services relating to our investments or our
operations, which may include property management services, leasing services, corporate services, statutory
services, transaction support services (including but not limited to coordinating with brokers, lawyers,
accountants and other advisors, assembling relevant information, conducting financial and market analyses, and
coordinating closing procedures), construction and development management, and loan management and
servicing, and within one or more such categories, providing services in respect of asset or investment
administration, accounting, technology, tax preparation, finance (including but not limited to budget preparation
and preparation and maintenance of corporate models), treasury, operational coordination, risk management,
insurance placement, human resources, legal and compliance, valuation and reporting-related services, as well as
services related to mortgage servicing, group purchasing, healthcare, consulting/brokerage, capital markets/credit
origination, property, title or other types of insurance, management consulting and other similar operational
matters. Any fees paid to the Advisor’s affiliates for any such services will not reduce the management fee. Any
such arrangements will be at market rates.
Fees and Expenses for Other Services
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, there were no fees paid to affiliates of the Advisor for other
services.
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Indemnification Agreements with Directors and Officers
We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers. We refer to such
indemnification agreements as “Indemnification Agreements” and our directors and officers party thereto as
“Indemnitees.” The Indemnification Agreements provide that we will, subject to certain limitations and
exceptions, indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted under Maryland law, and advance expenses to, each
Indemnitee, in connection with (among other things) the Indemnitee’s capacity as a director, officer, employee or
agent of the Company. This obligation includes, subject to certain terms and conditions, indemnification for any
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, penalties and settlement amounts actually and
reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding. In
certain instances, we may be required to advance such expenses, in which case the Indemnitee will be obligated
to reimburse us for the amounts advanced if it is later determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to
indemnification for such expenses.
Related Party Transaction Policies
In order to reduce or eliminate certain potential conflicts of interest, our charter and the advisory agreement
contain restrictions and conflict resolution procedures relating to transactions we enter into with our Sponsor, the
Advisor, our directors or their respective affiliates. The types of transactions covered thereby include the
compensation paid to our Advisor, decisions to renew our advisory agreement, acquisitions or leases of assets,
mortgages and other types of loans and any other transaction in which our Sponsor, our Advisor or any of our
directors have an interest, reimbursement of operating expenses in excess of the 2%/25% Guidelines, issuances
of options and warrants and repurchases of shares. Under the restrictions, these transactions, if permitted, must be
approved by a majority of our directors, including a majority of our independent directors, not otherwise
interested in such transaction. In determining whether to approve or authorize a particular related party
transaction, these persons will consider whether the transaction between us and the related party is fair and
reasonable to us and has terms and conditions no less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third
parties.
We have also adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to each of our officers and directors, which we refer to as
“covered persons.” The Code of Ethics sets forth certain conflicts of interest policies that limit and govern certain
matters among us, the covered persons, our Sponsor, the Advisor and their respective affiliates.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Independent Auditors
During the period from July 13, 2017 (the date of our initial capitalization) to December 31, 2017, Deloitte &
Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) served as our independent auditor.
Audit and Non-Audit Fees
Aggregate fees that we were billed for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 by Deloitte, were as follows:
Fiscal Year
Ended
December 31,
2017

Audit fees (a)
Audit-related fees
Tax fees
All other fees

$

126,338
—
—
—

Total

$

126,338

(a) Audit fees include amounts billed to us related to annual financial statement audit work, seed balance sheet
audit work, quarterly financial statement reviews and review of SEC registration statements.
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The Audit Committee of our board of directors was advised that there were no services provided by Deloitte that
were unrelated to the audit of the annual fiscal year-end financial statements and the review of interim financial
statements that could impair Deloitte from maintaining its independence as our independent auditor and
concluded that it was independent.
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
In accordance with our Audit Committee pre-approval policy, all audit services performed for us by our
independent registered public accounting firm were pre-approved by the Audit Committee of our board of
directors.
The pre-approval policy provides for categorical pre-approval of specified audit and permissible non-audit
services. Services to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm that are not within the
category of pre-approved services must be approved by the Audit Committee prior to engagement, regardless of
the service being requested or the dollar amount involved.
Requests or applications for services that require specific separate approval by the Audit Committee are required
to be submitted to the Audit Committee, and must include a description of the services to be provided and a
statement by the independent registered public accounting firm and our principal accounting officer confirming
that the provision of the proposed services does not impair the independence of the independent registered public
accounting firm.
The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member or
members to whom such authority is delegated shall report any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at
its next scheduled meeting. The Audit Committee does not delegate to management its responsibilities to
pre-approve services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1)

Financial Statements
See the accompanying Index to Financial Statement Schedule on page F-1.

(a) (2)

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
None.

(a) (3)

Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1*

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”)

3.2

Amended & Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-220997) filed with the SEC on October 18, 2017 (the
“Registration Statement”)

4.1

Distribution Reinvestment Plan of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement filed with the SEC on December 20,
2017 (“Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1”)))

10.1

Dealer Manager Agreement, dated December 15, 2017, by and between Starwood Real Estate Income
Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) and Starwood Capital, L.L.C. (the “Dealer Manager”) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.2

Form of Selected Dealer Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 1)

10.3

Advisory Agreement, dated December 15, 2017, among the Company, Starwood REIT Operating
Partnership, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”) and Starwood REIT Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.4

Limited Partnership Agreement of the Operating Partnership, dated December 15, 2017, between the
Company and Starwood REIT Special Limited Partner L.L.C. (the “Special Limited Partner”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.5

Distribution Reinvestment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment
No. 1)

10.6

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 15, 2017, among the Company, the Special Limited
Partner and the Advisor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.7

Trademark License Agreement, dated December 15, 2017, the Company, the Operating Partnership, the
Advisor and Starwood Capital Group, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.8

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.9

Independent Director Restricted Share Plan of the Company, dated November 28, 2017 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.10

Form of Independent Directors Restricted Stock Award Certificate (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1)

10.11

Independent Directors Compensation Policy of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to Pre-Effective Amendment No.1)

10.12

Escrow Agreement, September 29, 2017, among the Dealer Manager, the Company and UMB Bank,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registration Statement)

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment
No. 1)

24.1

Power of Attorney (included on signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

31.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
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Exhibit
Number

Description

31.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Filed herewith.
The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual
information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents
themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties
made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant
agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any
other time.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
We have elected not to provide summary information.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
STARWOOD REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ John P. McCarthy, Jr.
John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each individual whose signature appears below hereby severally constitutes John P. McCarthy, Jr., Chris
Lowthert and Matthew S. Guttin, , and each of them singly, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent
with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorney-in-fact and agent, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or
she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent or his
substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ John P. McCarthy, Jr.
John P. McCarthy, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Chris Lowthert
Chris Lowthert
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Barry S. Sternlicht
Barry S. Sternlicht
Chairman of the Board

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Mark Deason
Mark Deason
Director

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Christopher D. Graham
Christopher D. Graham
Director
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March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Richard D. Bronson
Richard D. Bronson
Independent Director

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ David B. Henry
David B. Henry
Independent Director

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Robin Josephs
Robin Josephs
Independent Director

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ Dale Anne Reiss
Dale Anne Reiss
Independent Director

March 30, 2018
Date

/s/ James E. Walker
James E. Walker
Independent Director
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 15(d) OF THE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITIES
PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE ACT
No annual report or proxy materials have been sent to our stockholders for the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. If a proxy statement is delivered to more than ten of our stockholders with respect to an
annual or other meeting of stockholders, copies of such materials will be furnished to the SEC at that time. We
will deliver to our stockholders a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholder of
Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. and
subsidiary (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization), the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity, and cash flows, for the period from July 13,
2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization) to December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization),
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial
Capitalization) to December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
March 30, 2018
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
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Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 100,000,000 and 0 shares authorized
at December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017, respectively, and none issued and
outstanding
Common stock—Class T shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 and 0
shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017, respectively, and
none issued and outstanding
Common stock—Class S shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 and 0
shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017, respectively, and
none issued and outstanding
Common stock—Class D shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 and 0
shares authorized at December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017, respectively, and
none issued and outstanding
Common stock—Class I shares, $0.01 par value per share, 250,000,000 and
1,000,000 shares authorized, 10,000 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31,
2017

July 13, 2017
(date of initial
capitalization)

$ 200,000

$ 200,000

$ 200,000

$ 200,000

$

35,864

$

—

$

35,864

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

100
199,900
(35,864)

100
199,900
—

164,136

200,000

$ 200,000

$ 200,000

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the period July 13,
2017 (date of initial
capitalization) through
December 31, 2017

Revenues
Total revenues

$

Expenses
General and administrative expenses

—
35,864

Total expenses

35,864

Net loss

$

(35,864)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(3.59)

Weighted average shares outstanding of Class I common stock, basic and diluted
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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$

Balance at December 31, 2017

—

—
—
$

$
—

—
—
$

$
—

—
—

Par Value
Common
Stock
Class D

Common
Stock
Class S

$

$
100

100
—

Common
Stock
Class I

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

$

Balance at July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization)
Net loss

Common
Stock
Class T

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

$

$
199,900

199,900
—

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

$

(35,864) $

—
$
(35,864)

Accumulated
Deficit

164,136

200,000
(35,864)

Total
Equity

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the period July 13,
2017 (date of initial
capitalization) through
December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

(35,864)
35,864

$

—

Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities

$

—

Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$

—

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

$

200,000

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

$

200,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

Organization and Business Purpose

Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed on June 22, 2017 as a Maryland
corporation and intends to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
The Company is the sole general partner of Starwood REIT Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). Starwood REIT Special Limited Partner, L.L.C. (the “Special Limited
Partner”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Starwood Capital Group Holdings, L.P. (the “Sponsor”), owns a special
limited partner interest in the Operating Partnership. The Company was organized to invest primarily in
stabilized, income-oriented commercial real estate and debt secured by commercial real estate. The Company’s
portfolio principally will be comprised of properties, and debt secured by properties, located in the United States
but may also be diversified on a global basis through the acquisition of properties, and debt secured by
properties, outside of the United States, with a focus on Europe. To a lesser extent, the Company also may invest
in real estate-related securities. Substantially all of the Company’s business will be conducted through the
Operating Partnership. The Company and the Operating Partnership are externally managed by Starwood REIT
Advisors, L.L.C. (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of Starwood.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had neither purchased nor contracted to purchase any investments. The
Advisor has not identified any real estate, real estate-related debt or real estate-related securities in which it is
probable that the Company will invest.
2.

Capitalization

On July 13, 2017, the Company was capitalized with a $200,000 investment by Starwood Real Estate Income
Holdings, L.P., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Sponsor, in exchange for 10,000 shares of the Company’s
Class I shares.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had the authority to issue 1,100,000,000 shares of capital stock,
consisting of the following:
Classification

Number of Shares

Preferred Stock
Class T Shares
Class S Shares
Class D Shares
Class I Shares

100,000,000
250,000,000
250,000,000
250,000,000
250,000,000

Total

Par Value

$
$
$
$
$

0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01
0.01

1,100,000,000

The Company has registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission an offering of up to $5.0 billion in
shares of common stock, consisting of up to $4.0 billion in shares in its primary offering and up to $1.0 billion in
shares pursuant to its distribution reinvestment plan (the “Offering”). The Company intends to sell any
combination of the four classes of shares of its common stock, with a dollar value up to the maximum aggregate
offering amount. The share classes have different upfront selling commissions and ongoing stockholder servicing
fees. The terms of the Offering require the Company to deposit all subscription proceeds in an escrow with UMB
Bank, N.A., as escrow agent until the Company receives subscriptions aggregating at least $150 million in shares
of the Company’s common stock in any combination of share classes. Until the release of proceeds from escrow,
the per share purchase price for shares of the Company’s common stock in its primary offering will be $20.00 per
share plus applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager fees. Thereafter, the purchase price per
share for each class of common stock will vary and will generally equal the Company’s prior month’s net asset
value (“NAV”) per share, as calculated monthly, plus applicable upfront selling commissions and dealer manager
fees.
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Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the Operating
Partnership. All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the balance sheet. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in banks, cash on hand, and liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less. The Company may have bank balances in excess of federally insured amounts;
however, the Company deposits its cash and cash equivalents with high credit-quality institutions to minimize
credit risk exposure. The Company did not hold cash equivalents as of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017
(Date of Initial Capitalization).
Income Taxes
The Company intends to make an election to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal
Revenue Code commencing with its taxable year ending December 31 for the year in which the proceeds from
escrow are released. If the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject
to federal corporate income tax to the extent it distributes 90% of its taxable income to its stockholders. REITs
are subject to a number of other organizational and operational requirements. Even if the Company qualifies for
taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and property, and federal
income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.
Organization and Offering Expenses
The Advisor has agreed to advance organization and offering expenses on behalf of the Company (including
legal, accounting, and other expenses attributable to the organization, but excluding upfront selling commissions,
dealer manager fees and stockholder servicing fees) through the first anniversary of the date on which escrow is
released. The Company will reimburse the Advisor for all such advanced expenses ratably over a 60 month
period following the first anniversary of the date escrow is released.
As of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization), the Advisor and its affiliates have
incurred organization and offering expenses on the Company’s behalf of approximately $3.0 million and
$1.0 million, respectively. These organization and offering expenses are not recorded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets because such costs are not the Company’s liability until the date on which the escrow
is released. When recorded by the Company, organizational expenses will be expensed as incurred, and offering
expenses will be charged to stockholders’ equity. Any amount due to the Advisor but not paid will be recognized
as a liability on the balance sheet.
Distribution Reinvestment Plan
The Company has adopted a distribution reinvestment plan whereby stockholders (other than clients of
participating broker-dealers and residents of certain states that do not permit automatic enrollment in the
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Starwood Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
distribution reinvestment plan) will have their cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of
common stock unless they elect to receive their distributions in cash. Residents of Alabama, Arkansas, Idaho,
Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Nebraska, North Carolina, New Jersey, Ohio, Oregon and
Washington and clients of participating broker-dealers that do not permit automatic enrollment in the distribution
reinvestment plan will automatically receive their distributions in cash unless they elect to have their cash
distributions reinvested in additional shares of our common stock. The per share purchase price for shares
purchased pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan will be equal to the offering price before upfront selling
commissions and dealer manager fees (the “transaction price”) at the time the distribution is payable, which will
generally be equal to the Company’s prior month’s NAV per share for that share class. Stockholders will not pay
upfront selling commissions or dealer manager fees when purchasing shares pursuant to the distribution
reinvestment plan. The stockholder servicing fees with respect to shares of the Company’s Class T shares,
Class S shares and Class D shares are calculated based on the NAV for those shares and may reduce the NAV or,
alternatively, the distributions payable with respect to shares of each such class, including shares issued in
respect of distributions on such shares under the distribution reinvestment plan.
Share Repurchases
The Company has adopted a share repurchase plan, whereby on a monthly basis, stockholders may request that
the Company repurchase all or any portion of their shares. The Company may choose to repurchase all, some or
none of the shares that have been requested to be repurchased at the end of any particular month, in its discretion,
subject to any limitations in the share repurchase plan. The total amount of aggregate repurchases of Class T,
Class S, Class D, and Class I shares will be limited to 2% of the aggregate NAV per month and 5% of the
aggregate NAV per calendar quarter. Shares would be repurchased at a price equal to the transaction price on the
applicable repurchase date, subject to any early repurchase deduction. Shares that have not been outstanding for
at least one year would be repurchased at 95% of the transaction price. Due to the illiquid nature of investments
in real estate, the Company may not have sufficient liquid resources to fund repurchase requests and has
established limitations on the amount of funds the Company may use for repurchases during any calendar month
and quarter. Further, the Company may modify, suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” Beginning January 1, 2018,
companies will be required to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services and also includes additional disclosure requirements. The Company will apply this
pronouncement to its consolidated financial statements once significant operations commence.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” which will require organizations that lease assets to
recognize the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases on their balance sheet.
Additional disclosure regarding a company’s leasing activities will also be expanded under the new guidance.
For public entities, ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including
interim periods within those fiscal years and requires a modified retrospective transition. The Company will
assess the potential impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements from both a lessor and
lessee standpoint once significant operations commence.
4.

Related Party Transactions

During the period July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization) through December 31, 2017, the Advisor has not
advanced expenses on the Company’s behalf.
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Pursuant to the advisory agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the Advisor is responsible for
sourcing, evaluating and monitoring the Company’s investment opportunities and making decisions related to the
acquisition, management, financing and disposition of the Company’s assets, in accordance with the Company’s
investment objectives, guidelines, policies and limitations, subject to oversight by the Company’s board of
directors.
Certain affiliates of the Company, including the Advisor, will receive fees and compensation in connection with
the offering and ongoing management of the assets of the Company. The Advisor will be paid a management fee
equal to 1.25% of NAV per annum, payable monthly. The management fee will be paid, at the Advisor’s
election, in cash or Class I shares or Class I Starwood REIT OP units.
The Company may retain certain of the Advisor’s affiliates for necessary services relating to the Company’s
investments or its operations, including any administrative services, construction, special servicing, leasing,
development, property oversight and other property management services, as well as services related to mortgage
servicing, group purchasing, healthcare, consulting/brokerage, capital markets/credit origination, loan servicing,
property, title or other types of insurance, management consulting and other similar operational matters. Any
such arrangements will be at market terms and rates. As of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial
Capitalization), the Company has not retained an affiliate of the Advisor for any such services.
The Special Limited Partner will hold an interest in the Operating Partnership that entitles it to receive
performance participation distributions in the form of cash (or Operating Partnership interests at its election)
from the Operating Partnership equal to 12.5% of the annual Total Return, subject to a 5% annual Hurdle
Amount and a High Water Mark, with a Catch-Up (each term as defined in the Operating Partnership limited
partnership agreement). Such payment will be made annually. The Special Limited Partner had not earned a
performance participation interest as of December 31, 2017.
In addition, Starwood Capital, L.L.C. (the “Dealer Manager”) will serve as the dealer manager for the Offering
pursuant to an agreement (the “Dealer Manager Agreement”) with the Company in connection with the offering.
The Dealer Manager is a registered broker-dealer affiliated with the Advisor. The Company’s obligations, under
the Dealer Manager Agreement, to pay stockholder servicing fees with respect to the Class T, Class S and
Class D shares distributed in the Offering shall survive until such shares are no longer outstanding (including
because such shares converted into Class I shares).
The Dealer Manager will be entitled to receive selling commissions of up to 3.0%, and dealer manager fees of
0.5%, of the transaction price of each Class T share sold in the primary offering. The Dealer Manager will be
entitled to receive selling commissions of up to 3.5% of the transaction price of each Class S share sold in the
primary offering. The Dealer Manager will also receive a stockholder servicing fee of 0.85%, 0.85% and 0.25%
per annum of the aggregate NAV of the Company’s outstanding Class T shares, Class S shares and Class D
shares, respectively. The Dealer Manager anticipates that all or a portion of the upfront selling commissions and
all or a portion of the stockholder servicing fees will be retained by or paid to, participating broker dealers. The
Company will cease paying the stockholder servicing fee with respect to any Class T shares, Class S shares or
Class D shares held in a stockholder’s account at the end of the month in which the Dealer Manager in
conjunction with the transfer agent determines that total upfront selling commissions, dealer manager fees and
stockholder servicing fees paid with respect to such shares would exceed 8.75% (or, in the case of Class T shares
sold through certain participating broker-dealers, a lower limit as set forth in any applicable agreement between
the Dealer Manager and a participating broker-dealer at the time such Class T shares were issued) of the gross
proceeds from the sale of such shares (including the gross proceeds of any shares issued under the Company’s
distribution reinvestment plan with respect thereto). The Company will accrue the cost of the stockholder
servicing fee as an offering cost at the time each Class T, Class S and Class D share is sold during the primary
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offering. There will not be a stockholder servicing fee with respect to Class I shares. Subject to the terms of the
Dealer Manager Agreement, the Company’s obligations to pay stockholder servicing fees with respect to the
Class T, Class S and Class D shares distributed in the Offering shall survive until such shares are no longer
outstanding (including because such shares converted into Class I shares).
In addition, the Company will cease paying the stockholder servicing fee on the Class T shares, Class S shares
and Class D shares on the earlier to occur of the following: (i) a listing of Class I shares, (ii) our merger or
consolidation with or into another entity or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
Company’s assets, in each case in a transaction in which the Company’s stockholders receive cash or securities
listed on a national securities exchange or (iii) the date on which, in the aggregate, underwriting compensation
from all sources in connection with the Offering, including upfront selling commissions, the stockholder
servicing fee and other underwriting compensation, is equal to 10% of the gross proceeds from the Company’s
primary offering.
5.

Economic Dependency

The Company will be dependent on the Advisor and its affiliates for certain services that are essential to it,
including the sale of the Company’s shares of common stock, acquisition and disposition decisions, and certain
other responsibilities. In the event that the Advisor and its affiliates are unable to provide such services, the
Company would be required to find alternative service providers.
6.

Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2017 and July 13, 2017 (Date of Initial Capitalization), the Company is not subject to any
material litigation nor is the Company aware of any material litigation threatened against it.
7.

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table presents the Company’s quarterly results:
Quarter
Ended
December 31,
2017

8.

For the period July 13,
2017 (date of initial
capitalization)
through
September 30, 2017

Total revenues
General and administrative expenses

$

—
(35,864)

$

—
—

Net loss

$

(35,864)

$

—

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(3.59)

$

—

Subsequent Events

For the consolidated audited financial statements, the Company evaluated events subsequent to December 31,
2017 and there were no subsequent events identified that would require adjustments to or disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.
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